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Letter to the Minister About Northern Sydney 
Central Coast Health
The Charter
The Charter of Northern Sydney Central Coast Health (NSCCH) is  
to improve the health of the community by providing and facilitating 
efficient and responsive health services. These services focus on the 
needs and the desired health outcomes of the population while 
taking account of available resources. The needs of the population 
are best met through an appropriate balance between health 
promotion, public health, community health services, acute hospital 
services, long term care, research and education.

Overview
NSCCH funds, organises and delivers public health services from 
Sydney Harbour to the northern reaches of the Central Coast of  
New South Wales.

“Healthy People – Now and in the Future” is our vision. 

We work to improve the health and well-being of our patients and 
communities through health care partnerships, education and research.

The values that direct our work are:

•  Integrity •   Teamwork

•  Best practice •   Accountability

•  Social justice

Our region is an interesting mix of dense urban areas and regional, 
rural and semi-rural areas including the Central Coast and much of 
the Hawkesbury River; Sydney’s Northern Beaches, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai, 
Ryde and Sydney’s North Shore.

NSCCH provides health services north from Sydney Harbour across 
the Hawkesbury River to the southern shore of Lake Macquarie and 
west to Wiseman’s Ferry. NSCCH is defined geographically by 13 local 
government areas; Gosford, Hornsby, Hunters Hill, Ku-ring-gai,  
Lane Cove, Manly, Mosman, North Sydney, Pittwater, Ryde, 
Warringah, Willoughby and Wyong.

Health care to residents of these communities is provided by:

• Central Coast Health Service (CCH) including Gosford Hospital, 
Wyong Hospital, Woy Woy Hospital and Long Jetty Healthcare Facility

• Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Health Service (HKHS) including Hornsby  
Ku-ring-gai Hospital

• Northern Beaches Health Service (NBHS) including Manly Hospital 
and Mona Vale Hospital 

• North Shore and Ryde Health Service (NSRHS) including  
Royal North Shore Hospital and Ryde Hospital

• Macquarie Hospital

• Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service

• Northern Sydney Central Coast Mental Health Service 
(incorporating Macquarie Hospital)

• Northern Sydney Central Coast Dental Services.

Affiliated organisations are Royal Rehabilitation Centre, Sydney and 
Hope HealthCare North (Neringah and Greenwich Hospitals, 
Graythwaite Nursing Home and Tom O’Neill Day Centre).

introduction
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Chief Executive’s  
Year in Review
When Northern Sydney Health and Central Coast Health 
joined to create a new entity we hoped that such a fundamental 
restructure would bring positive changes to the way we care 
for our patients. 

I believe this has happened in 2006/07. We have asked the 
hard questions, considered difficult issues and made decisions. 
This year we have shaped a positive health future for well 
over one million people and 15,000 staff.

During the year the massive redevelopment of Royal North 
Shore Hospital was formally announced and we commenced 
construction on the first stage, the Research and Education 
Building. As we began the construction, it was particularly 
pleasing to involve our indigenous community in a traditional 
smoking ceremony which was a powerful symbol of healing 
and cleansing. It was also an important reminder to all people 
that this hospital has been a significant place of healing for 
over 120 years and will continue to be important for 
generations to come.

With the announcement of Frenchs Forest as the site for the 
new Northern Beaches Hospital, this year we made significant 
progress in the complex task of planning for health services 
on the Northern Beaches. Manly Intensive Care, Mona Vale 
Emergency and Ryde Emergency have all been extensively 
refurbished and reopened. And at Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, 
the new obstetrics, paediatrics and Emergency Department 
(including Psychiatric Emergency) building is now open.  
It provides well-planned, spacious treatment areas and patient 
accommodation. 

On the Central Coast the Gosford and Wyong ‘new-build’ is 
complete. During 2006/07, we completed the refurbishment 
of the Peri operative Unit and new Children’s Ward at Gosford, 
and were well underway with the major refurbishment of the 
Wyong Emergency Department.

A hard winter with unpredictable weather and severe flu 
strained Emergency Departments and hospitals across NSCCH 
however, as we have come to expect, staff members rose to 
the occasion and in the case of Central Coast staff, even came 
in to work when their own homes were under threat from 
flooding. Thank you to those who worked so well in the face 
of great demand and staff shortages due to illness.

Throughout 2006/07 we have worked to implement the new 
divisional leadership structure and to establish clinical networks. 
Staff still found time to devise and implement substantial 
quality improvement projects, a number of which were 
recognised by state and national awards. 

Ryde Hospital was chosen as a trial site for a ‘new kind of 
doctor in the house.’ A ‘hospitalist’ is a general medical 
practitioner within the NSW Health System who coordinates 
the clinical care of patients in a hospital or community setting 
to ensure the patient journey is smooth, effective and safe. 
‘Hospitalists’ are working throughout the hospital including ED, 
Intensive Care and in the general acute wards. 

The electronic medical record system (eMR link) will soon 
ensure accurate, easy and efficient record keeping throughout 
NSCCH. Clinical information will be available instantaneously 
without repetitive recording, errors in transfer or difficulties 
sharing information. This is one of those complex projects 
that is hard to see initially but which will make an enormous 
difference to everyone who cares for patients. 

There have been many other highlights during the year. I have 
enjoyed the fellowship, sound advice and goodwill of nurses, 
doctors, researchers, allied health staff, administrators, those 
who work in the many support services that keep our fine 
hospitals and community health facilities working and our 
volunteers. The sharing of initiatives and best practice across 
NSW Health has also been very rewarding to all involved and 
a benefit to our patients

This will be my final Annual report as I am moving on to new 
adventures. Thank you to all who have contributed to this 
and previous years and all the best for the future and to the 
incoming Chief Executive Matthew Daly

Dr Stephen Christley 
Chief Executive 
(1.1.2005 to 21.7.2007)
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Northern Sydney 
Central Coast Area 
Health Service Profile
Health services are provided through Central Coast, Hornsby 
Ku-ring-gai, Northern Beaches, Royal North Shore and Ryde 
Health Services; Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service; 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Mental Health Service 
(incorporating Macquarie Hospital) and Northern Sydney 
Central Coast Dental Services. 

Affiliated organisations are Royal Rehabilitation Centre, 
Sydney, and Hope HealthCare North (Neringah and 
Greenwich Hospitals, Graythwaite Nursing Home and Tom 
O’Neill Day Centre). 

Location
Northern Sydney Central Coast Health (NSCCH) provides 
health services in an area that extends north from Sydney 
Harbour across the Hawkesbury River to the southern shore 
of Lake Macquarie and west to Wiseman’s Ferry. NSCCH is 
defined geographically by the 13 local government areas of 
Gosford, Hornsby, Hunters Hill, Ku-ring-gai, Lane Cove, 
Manly, Mosman, North Sydney, Pittwater, Ryde, Warringah, 
Willoughby and Wyong. 

Population
It is estimated that 1,124,250 people lived in the health area 
in 2006. This represents 16.4% of the estimated population 
of NSW and 19.1% of the population aged 75 years or more. 
This age range is significant because older age groups need 
considerably more health care than the general population.

By the year 2011, it is estimated that the population will have 
grown to more than 1,162,210. The ‘85 years and over’ 
population in NSCCH will have grown to more than 20% of 
the NSW population in that age group. It is expected that there 
will be 28.8% more people in the ‘85 and over’ age group in 
2011 than there was in 2001. The other age group expected 
to grow the most over the period to 2011 is the ‘late working 
age-early retirement’ group aged between 60 and 69 years. 
It is expected that by 2011 there will be 15,700 more people 
age 60-64 years (25% increase) and 9,600 more people aged 
65-69 years (19.4% increase).

Multicultural Profile
The Central Coast Health Service (CCH) has a different 
multicultural profile from the remainder of NSCCH. CCH has 
only 4.5% of its population born in a non-English speaking 
country. In the remainder of NSCCH 18% of residents were 
born outside English speaking countries. The country of birth 
data are also reflected in the language preferences of residents. 
In the metropolitan health services 76% of the population 
speak only English. In CCH 92% of the population reported 
only speaking English at the 2001 Census.

Cantonese, Italian, Mandarin, Korean, Japanese, Arabic, 
Greek, German, Spanish, Tagalog and Persian are the most 
reported languages other than English spoken in NSCCH. 
Ryde and Willoughby were the local government areas with 
the highest proportion of residents who reported speaking a 
language other than English. 

Health Status of NSCCH residents
The mortality rate for NSCCH residents is significantly lower 
than for the whole of NSW, indicating a better health status. 
In 2003 there were 8,101 deaths among NSCCH residents.

Cardiovascular disease was the most common overall cause 
of death among NSCCH residents in 2003 accounting for 
40.2% of all deaths. This profile remains current.

Cancers were the second most common cause of death in 
2003, being attributed as the cause of death of 27.1% of deaths. 
For males the main sites were the lungs, prostate and colon. 
For females the main sites were breast, lungs and colon.  
This profile remains current.

Private Sector Services
There are 23 privately operated hospitals and 15 day procedure 
centres in the geographical area covered by NSCCH. This sector 
provides 50.9% of all discharges from hospital of NSCCH 
residents (2004-2005) with 1,837 inpatient beds. The private 
hospitals may be segmented into the following broad categories:

• Large private hospitals offering a range of specialities and 
sophisticated clinical support services. Facilities include the 
Sydney Adventist Private Hospital (342 beds), the Mater 
Misericordiae Private Hospital (197 beds) and North Shore 
Private Hospital (176 beds)

• Smaller private hospitals with 30-130 beds providing 
general medical and surgical services. Facilities include 
North Gosford Private Hospital (129 beds) and Brisbane 
Waters Private Hospital (94 beds)

• Day procedure centres

• Specialist facilities such as Mt Wilga (rehabilitation) and 
Northside Clinic (mental health)

There are some 200 organisations across NSCCH, both private 
and not-for-profit, that together provide 5,845 high-care places, 
4,413 low-care places and 1,670 community care places  
(at June 30 2004). 
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Organisational Chart
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Clinical Governance
Clinical Governance Directions 
Statement
The NSW Patient Safety and Clinical Quality Program was 
implemented in 2004 to improve clinical governance by providing 
staff with the support they need to deliver safer, better quality 
care. Under the Program, NSCCH has implemented clinical 
governance functions as listed below.

The Clinical Governance Unit is responsible for a number of 
programs, including the Patient Safety Program (led by Ms 
Christine Conn), the Patient Focus Program (led by Ms Barbara 
Dougan) and the Compliance and Evaluation Program (led by 
Ms Lorraine Dorrington). Major foci of activity in 2006/7 include 
open disclosure, pressure ulcer prevention, better nutrition for 
inpatients, falls prevention, wound care, infection control and 
prevention, medication safety, pathology specimen labelling 
blood safety, participation in the national Safer Systems Saving 
Lives program, implementation of the National Inpatient 
Medication Chart and development of an integrated risk 
management system. 

The Northern Centre for Healthcare Improvement, led by  
Dr Ross Wilson, is closely allied to the Clinical Governance 
Unit and has operated education, audit and research programs, 
as well as coordinating major externally funded international 
research projects. 

Corporate & Clinical 
Support
SUMMARY OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY

• Non-clinical support services of food, environmental, 
security, fleet, parking, patient transport, education 
facilities, procurement and warehousing, capital & asset 
services, childcare.

• Clinical support business units of Medical Imaging, 
Sterilising and Biomedical Engineering

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Continued certification of non-clinical services to  
ISO 9001:2000 and expansion to non certified units.

• Continued amalgamation of Northern Sydney Health and 
Central Coast Health Corporate & Clinical Support Units.

• Continued rationalisation of duplicated services.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS.

• Preparation and implementation of RIS/PACS system for 
Medical Imaging Business Unit.

• Transition of non-clinical support services to NSW Health 
Shared Corporate Services programme.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• Fully integrate former Northern Sydney and Central Coast 
Corporate & Clinical Support Services.

• Transition of non-clinical support services to NSW Health 
Shared Corporate Services programme and management 
of the interface between the two organisations.

• Expand ISO 9001:2000 as the Quality Business 
Management System for all NSCCAHS Corporate & 
Clinical Support Units. 
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Statement of Corporate Governance for Health Services 
2006-2007- Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health 
Service 

Chief Executive Governed Health Services 

Name of Health Service: Northern Sydney Central Coast Health 

STATEMENT 
This statement reflects the corporate governance arrangements in place within the 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service for the reporting period 1 July 2006 to 
30 June 2007. 

As Chief Executive I am responsible for the corporate governance controls of the 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service. This Statement sets out the main 
corporate governance practices in operation throughout the financial year, and the 
extent to which they have been met. 

To the best of my knowledge and belief the Health Service has complied with the 
principles and the framework within the Department of Health's Corporate Governance 
and Accountability Compendium [December 2005), except where there may be a 
qualification in t attachment to this Statement. 

Signature: 

Mr Matthew D -rr 

Chief Executive 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service 

This statement is a fair and true account of the corporate governance controls in place 
during the reporting period. 

Signature: 

M;L!~~··· ··· ··················· ······· ··················· 
Director of Internal Audit for the 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service 

I o /•1..lC'J'1 
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Program Reporting
NSCCH regularly reports on the Clinical Governance Program to the NSW Department of Health against the NSW Patient Safety  
& Clinical Quality Plan, as detailed below:

Performance 
measure

Description Achievement as of 
June 30, 2007

1.1 Organisational structure agreed and staff appointed Complete

1.2 The 2005/06 workplan is signed off by the Chief Executive Complete

2.1 For SAC 1 incidents, the RCA team has signed off the report within 55 days of the 
incident data (amended from “90% of RCAs on SAC 1 incidents undertaken in 
appropriate timeframe”) (1)

Achieved

2.2 80% of recommendations from RCAs implemented within stated timeframe (worded in 
Implementation Plan p.6 as proportion of RCA recommendations implemented within 
stated timeframe (2)

70%

2.3 Structure in place to enable analysis and action of incident management data of SAC 2, 
3 & 4 incidents

Points of accountability for actioning management findings from analysis of SAC 2, 3  
& 4 incidents have been identified

Achieved 

Achieved

4.1 Designated Senior Complaints Officer appointed Complete

4.2 System in place to enable reporting of complaints Complete

5.1 System in place to screen all deaths within 45 days of the event Complete

8.1 AHS have implemented policies to ensure patient safety including policies addressing;  
• management of incidents • complaints, complaints or concerns about a clinician  
•  introduction of new interventions • implementation of correct patient/procedure/site 

model policy

Complete

8.2 Systems are in place to prompt timely review of policies relating to patient safety and 
clinical practice

Complete

9.1 AHS has identified a methodology for clinician performance management In progress (through 
Directorate of 
workforce Development)

9.2 Senior clinicians are engaged in performance management In progress (through 
Directorate of 
workforce Development)

10.1 First annual report of the implementation of credentialing and clinician performance 
management

Complete (through 
Directorate of workforce 
Development)

10.2 Report to Chief Executive on the management of complaint or concern about a clinician Complete

10.3 Quarterly report of the implementation of recommendations arising from RCA and 
other investigations of serious incidents and complaints

Complete

10.4 Quarterly summary report of clinical incidents, quality indicators, recommendations on 
area wide actions to improve patient safety

Complete



Performance indicator:  
Chronic disease risk factors
DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduced prevalence of chronic diseases in adults.

OVERALL CONTExT

The NSW Health Survey includes a set of standardised 
questions to measure health behaviours.

ALCOHOL
Alcohol – risk drinking behaviour (%)

CONTExT

Alcohol has both acute (rapid and short but severe) and chronic 
(long lasting and recurrent) effects on health. Too much alcohol 
consumption is harmful, affecting the health and wellbeing of 
others through alcohol-related violence and road trauma, 
increased crime and social problems.

performance summary
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Strategic Direction 1 
Make prevention everybody’s business

SMOKING
Smoking – daily or occasionally (%)

CONTExT

Smoking is responsible for many diseases including cancers, 
respiratory and cardio-vascular diseases, making it the leading 
cause of death and illness in NSW. The burden of Illness 
resulting from smoking is greater for Aboriginal adults than 
the general population.

OVERwEIGHT AND OBESITY
Overweight or obese (%)

CONTExT

Being overweight or obese increases the risk of a wide range 
of health problems, including cardio-vascular disease, high 
blood pressure, type 2 diabetes, breast cancer, gallstones, 
degenerative joint disease, obstructive sleep apnoea and 
impaired psychosocial functioning.

Performance indicator:  
Potentially avoidable deaths

DESIRED OUTCOME

Increased life expectancy.

CONTExT

Potentially avoidable deaths are those attributed to conditions 
that are considered preventable through health promotion, 
health screening and early intervention, as well as medical 
treatment. Potentially avoidable deaths (before age 75 years) 
provides a measure that is more sensitive to the direct impacts 
of health system interventions than all premature deaths.

  



Performance indicator:  
Adult immunisation
People aged 65 years and over  
vaccinated against pneumococcal disease –  
in the last 5 years (%)

People aged 65 years and over vaccinated 
against influenza – in the last 12 months (%).

Performance indicator:  
Children fully immunised at one year

DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduced illness and death from vaccine preventable diseases 
in children.

CONTExT

Although there has been substantial progress in reducing the 
incidence of vaccine preventable disease in NSW, it is an ongoing 
challenge to ensure optimal coverage of childhood immunisation.
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DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduced injuries and hospitalisations from fall-related injury  
in people aged 65 years and over.

CONTExT

Falls are one of the most common causes of injury-related 
preventable hospitalisations for people aged 65 years and over 
in NSW and one of the most expensive. Older people are more 
susceptible to falls, for reasons including reduced strength and 
balance, chronic illness and medication use. Nearly one in three 
people aged 65 years and older living in the community reports 
falling at least once in a year. Effective strategies to prevent 
fall-related injuries include increased physical activity to improve 
strength and balance and providing comprehensive assessment 
and management of fall risk factors to people at high risk of falls.

Performance indicator:  
Fall injury hospitalisations – 
people aged 65 years and over

DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduced illness and death from vaccine-preventable diseases 
in adults.

CONTExT

Vaccination against influenza and pneumococcal disease is 
recommended by the National Health and Medical Research 
Council (NHMRC) and provided free for people aged 65 years 
and over, Aboriginal people aged 50 and over and those aged 
15–49 years with chronic ill health.



Performance indicator:  
Emergency Department Triage 
times – cases treated within 
benchmark time
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Strategic Direction 2:  
Create better experiences for people using  
health services

Triage 1 (within 2 minutes)

Triage 2 (within 10 minutes)

Note: Triage 3, 4 & 5 data unavailable

DESIRED OUTCOME 

Treatment of Emergency Department patients within 
timeframes appropriate to their clinical urgency, resulting in 
improved survival, quality of life and patient satisfaction.

CONTExT

Timely treatment is critical to emergency care. Triage aims to 
ensure that patients are treated in a timeframe appropriate  
to their clinical urgency, so that patients presenting to the 
Emergency Department are seen on the basis of their need 
for medical and nursing care and classified into one of  
five triage categories. Good management of Emergency 
Department resources and workloads, as well as utilisation 
review, delivers timely provision of emergency care.

Performance indicator:  
Emergency admission performance 
– patients transferred to an 
inpatient bed within 8 hours of 
commencement of treatment

DESIRED OUTCOME 

Timely admission from the Emergency Department for those 
patients who require inpatient treatment, resulting in improved 
patient satisfaction and better availability of services for  
other patients.

CONTExT

Patient satisfaction is improved with reduced waiting time for 
admission from the Emergency Department to a hospital ward, 
ICU bed or operating theatre and Emergency Department 
services are freed up for other patients.

Emergency Admission Performance –  
mental health patients admitted to an inpatient 
bed within 8 hours of commencement of  
active treatment
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Performance indicator:  
Booked surgical patients
Booked surgical patients waiting –  
Urgency category 1 > 30 days (Overdues)

Booked surgical patients waiting –  
Urgency category 1 > 12 months (Long waits)

DESIRED OUTCOME

Timely treatment of booked surgical patients, resulting in 
improved clinical outcomes, quality of life and convenience 
for patients.

CONTExT

Long wait and overdue patients are those who have not 
received timely care and whose waits may have adverse effects 
on the outcomes of their care. The numbers and proportions 
of long wait and overdue patients represent measures of 
hospital performance in the provision of elective care.  
Better management of hospital services helps patients avoid 
the experience of excessive waits for booked treatment. 
Improved quality of life may be achieved more quickly,  
as well as patient satisfaction and community confidence  
in the health system.

Performance indicator:  
Planned surgery – cancellations 
on the day of surgery

DESIRED OUTCOME

Minimised numbers of cancellations of patients from the 
surgical waiting list on the day of planned surgery, resulting in 
improved clinical outcomes, greater certainty of care and 
convenience for patients.

CONTExT

The effective management of elective surgical lists minimises 
cancellations on a day of surgery and ensures patient flow and 
predictable access. However, some cancellations are appropriate, 
being due to acute changes in a patient's medical condition.

Performance indicator:  
Off stretcher time <30 minutes

DESIRED OUTCOME 

Timely transfers of patients from ambulance to hospital 
emergency departments, resulting in improved survival, 
quality of life and patient satisfaction, as well as improved 
ambulance operational efficiency.

CONTExT

Timeliness of treatment is a critical dimension of emergency 
care. Better coordination between ambulance services and 
emergency departments allows patients to receive treatment 
more quickly. Delays in hospitals impact on ambulance 
operational efficiency.
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Performance indicator:  
Unplanned/unexpected 
readmissions within 28 days of 
separation – all admissions 

DESIRED OUTCOME

Minimal unplanned/unexpected readmissions, resulting in 
improved clinical outcomes, quality of life, convenience and 
patient satisfaction.

CONTExT

Unplanned and unexpected re-admissions to a hospital may 
reflect less than optimal patient management. Patients might 
be re-admitted unexpectedly if the initial care or treatment was 
ineffective or unsatisfactory, or if post-discharge planning was 
inadequate. However, other factors occurring after discharge may 
contribute to readmission, for example poor post-discharge care. 
Whilst improvements can be made to reduce readmission rates, 
unplanned readmissions cannot be fully eliminated. Improved 
quality and safety of treatment reduces unplanned events.

Performance indicator:  
Sentinel events
DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduction of sentinel events, resulting in improved clinical 
outcomes, quality of life and patient satisfaction.

CONTExT

Sentinel events are incidents agreed as key indicators of 
system problems by all States and Territories and defined by 
the Australian Council for Safety and Quality in Healthcare as 
‘events in which death or serious harm to a patient has 
occurred’ 1. 

1 Safety and Quality Council Sentinel Events Fact Sheet

Sentinel Event 2005-2006 2006-2007

Procedure involving the wrong 
patient or body part

4 7

Suicide of a patient in an 
inpatient unit

1 0

Retained instruments or other 
material after surgery requiring 
re-operation or further surgical 
procedure

0 0

Medication error resulting in 
death of a patient reasonably 
believed to be due to the incorrect 
administration of drugs

0 0

Intravascular gas embolism 
resulting in death or 
neurological damage

0 0

Haemolytic blood transfusion 
resulting in ABO incompatibility

0 0

Maternal death or serious 
morbidity associated with 
labour or delivery

0 0

Infant discharged to wrong 
family

0 0

Performance indicator:  
Deaths as a result of a fall in hospital

DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduce deaths as a direct result of fall in hospital, thereby 
maintaining quality of life and improving patient satisfaction.

CONTExT

Falls are a leading cause of injury in hospital.  
The implementation of the NSW Falls Prevention Program  
will improve the identification and management of risk 
factors for fall injury in hospital thereby reducing fall rates. 
Factors associated with the risk of a fall in the hospital  
setting may differ from those in the community.
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Performance indicator:  
incorrect Procedures
Operating theatre suite (number) 

Radiology, Radiation Oncology,  
Nuclear Medicine (number)

DESIRED OUTCOME

Elimination of incorrect procedures, resulting in improved 
clinical outcomes, quality of life and patient satisfaction.

CONTExT

Incorrect procedures, though low in frequency, provide insight 
into system failures that allow them to happen. Health studies 
have indicated that, with the implementation of correct 
patient/site/procedure policies, these incidents can be eliminated.

Performance indicator:  
Healthcare Associated 
Bloodstream infections
Rate of Intensive Care Unit Central line 
associated bloodstream infections per  
1000 line days

DESIRED OUTCOME

Sustained, continual reduction in the incidence of central line 
bloodstream infections resulting in increased patient safety 
and improved clinical outcomes in ICU patients. 

CONTExT

The implementation of the Clinical Excellence Commission Hand 
Hygiene Program “Clean Hands Save Lives”, the recommendations 
made by the NSW Multi Resistant Organism Expert Group 
and the use of a best practice clinical guideline for inserting 
central lines, have positioned the NSW Health System to reduce 
the number of health care associated infections in ICU patients. 
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Performance indicator:  
Avoidable hospital admissions 
(selected conditions)

DESIRED OUTCOME

Numbers of avoidable hospital admissions minimised, resulting 
in improved health, increased independence, convenience and 
patient satisfaction, and reduction of unnecessary demand on 
hospital services.

CONTExT

There are some conditions for which hospitalisation is avoidable 
through early or more appropriate forms of management, for 
example by general practitioners, in community health settings, 
at home or in outpatient clinics. The conditions of this type 
included in the indicator are: cellulitis; deep vein thrombosis; 
community-acquired pneumonia; Urinary tract infections; 
certain chronic respiratory disorders such as emphysema and 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disorder; bronchitis and asthma; 
certain blood disorders such as anaemia; and musculo-tendinous 
disorders such as acute back pain.

Performance indicator:  
Mental Health acute adult 
readmission 
Mental Health acute adult readmission –  
within 28 days to same mental health facility 

DESIRED OUTCOME

Rates of mental health readmission minimised, resulting in 
improved clinical outcomes, quality of life and patient 
satisfaction, as well as reduced unplanned demand on services.

CONTExT

Mental Health problems are increasing in complexity and  
co-morbidity with a growing level of acuity in child and 
adolescent presentations. Despite improvement in access to 
mental health services, demand continues to rise for a wide 
range of care and support services for people with mental 
illness. A readmission to acute mental health admitted care 
within a month of a previous admission may indicate a problem 
with patient management or care processes. Prior discharge 
may have been premature or services in the community may 
not have adequately supported continuity of care for the client.

Strategic Direction 3: 
Strengthen primary health and continuing care  
in the community
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Performance indicator:  
Suspected suicides of patients 
in hospital, on leave, or within 
7 days of contact with a mental 
health service

DESIRED OUTCOME

Minimal number of suicides of patients following contact 
with a mental health service.

CONTExT

Suicide is an infrequent and complex event, which is influenced 
by a wide variety of factors. The existence of a mental illness 
can increase the risk of such an event. A range of appropriate 
mental health services across the spectrum of treatment 
settings, as outlined in the Government’s commitment,  
NSW: A New Direction for Mental Health, are being 
implemented between now and 2011 to increase the level of 
support to clients, their families and carers, to help reduce the 
risk of suicide for people who have been in contact with 
mental health services.

Performance indicator:  
Mental Health:

A) Mental Health ambulatory contacts

B) Acute overnight inpatient separations

DESIRED OUTCOME 

Improved mental health and well-being. An increase in the 
number of new presentations to mental health services that is 
reflective of a greater proportion of the population in need of 
these services gaining access to them. 

CONTExT

Mental Health problems are increasing in complexity and  
co-morbidity with a growing level of acuity in child and 
adolescent presentations. Despite improvements in access to 
mental health services, demand continues to rise for a wide 
range of care and support services for people with mental 
illness. Under New Directions, a range of community based 
services are being implemented between now and 2011, they 
span the spectrum of care types from acute care to supported 
accommodation. There is an ongoing commitment to increase 
inpatient bed numbers. Numbers of ambulatory contacts, 
inpatient separations and numbers of individuals would be 
expected to rise.
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Performance indicator:  
Antenatal visits – confinements 
where first visit was before  
20 weeks gestation

DESIRED OUTCOME

Improved health of mothers and babies.

CONTExT

Antenatal visits are valuable in monitoring the health of mothers 
and babies throughout pregnancy. Early commencement of 
antenatal care allows problems to be better detected and 
managed, and engages mothers with health and related services.

Performance indicator:  
Low birth weight babies – 
weighing less than 2,500g

DESIRED OUTCOME

Reduced rates of low weight births and subsequent health 
problems.

CONTExT

Low birth weight is associated with a variety of subsequent 
health problems. A baby’s birth weight is also a measure of 
the health of the mother and the care that was received 
during pregnancy.

Performance indicator:  
Postnatal home visits – families 
receiving a Families NSW visit 
within 2 weeks of the birth 

DESIRED OUTCOME

To solve problems in raising children early, before they become 
entrenched, resulting in the best possible start in life.

CONTExT

The Families NSW program aims to give children the best 
possible start in life. The purpose is to enhance access to 
postnatal child and family services by providing all families with 
the opportunity to receive their first postnatal health service 
within their home environment, thus providing staff with the 
opportunity to engage more effectively with families who may 
not have otherwise accessed services. Families NSW provides 
an opportunity to identify needs with families in their own 
homes, and facilitate early access to local support services, 
including the broader range of child and family health services.
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Performance indicator:  
Otitis media screening – Aboriginal 
children (0-6 year) screened
DESIRED OUTCOME

Minimal rates of conductive hearing loss, and other educational 
and social consequence associated with otitis media, in young 
Aboriginal children.

CONTExT 

The incidence and consequence of otitis media and associated 
hearing loss in Aboriginal communities has been identified 
and recognised. The World Health Organisation has noted 
that prevalence of otitis media greater than four per cent in  
a population indicates a massive public health problem.  
Otitis Media affects up to ten times this proportion of  
children in many Indigenous communities in Australia.

Strategic Direction 4 
Build regional and other partnerships for health

Performance indicator:  
Net cost of service – General Fund 
(General) variance against budget
DESIRED OUTCOME

Optimal use of resources to deliver health care.

CONTExT

Net Cost of Services is the difference between total expenses 
and retained revenues and is a measure commonly used 
across government to denote financial performance.  
In NSW Health, the General Fund (General) measure is  
refined to exclude the: 

• effect of Special Purpose and Trust Fund monies which 
are variable in nature dependent on the level of 
community support.

• operating result of business units (eg linen and pathology 
services) which service a number of health services and 
which would otherwise distort the host health service’s 
financial performance.

• effect of Special Projects which are only available for the 
specific purpose (eg Oral Health, Drug & Alcohol).

Strategic Direction 5  
Make smart choices about the costs and benefits 
of health services
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Performance indicator:  
Creditors > Benchmark as at the 
end of the year
Creditors worksheet

Year Benchmark Amount over 
benchmark

2005/06 $ Over 45 Days $0

2006/07 $ Over 44 Days $0

Note: To achieve the benchmark the Area Health Service must 
not have creditors over the benchmark.

DESIRED OUTCOME

Payment of creditors within agreed terms.

CONTExT

Creditor management affects the standing of NSW Health in 
the general community, and is of continuing interest to 
central agencies. Creditor management is an indicator of a 
Health Service’s performance in managing its liquidity.

While health services are expected to pay creditors within 
terms, individual payment benchmarks have been established 
for each health service.

Performance indicator:  
Major and minor works – 
Variance against Budget Paper 4 
(BP4) total capital allocation

DESIRED OUTCOME

Optimal use of resources for asset management. The desired 
outcome is 0 per cent variance, that is, full expenditure of the 
NSW Health Capital Allocation for major and minor works.

CONTExT

Variance against total BP4 capital allocation and actual 
expenditure achieved in the financial year is used to measure 
performance in delivering capital assets.
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Performance indicator:  
Staff Turnover 
Staff Turnover –  
Non-casual staff separation rate %

DESIRED OUTCOME

Staff stability, with minimum unnecessary staff loss, through 
maintenance of turnover rates within acceptable limits 
(reducing where necessary).

CONTExT

Human resources represent the largest single cost component 
for NSW Health Services. High staff turnover rates are associated 
with increased costs in terms of advertising for and training new 
employees, lost productivity and potentially a decrease in  
the quality and safety of services and the level of services 
provided. Factors influencing turnover include: level of 
shortage, remuneration and recognition, employer/employee 
relations and practices, workplace culture and organisational 
restructure. Monitoring turnover rates over time will enable 
the identification of areas of concern and development of 
strategies to reduce turnover.

Note that a falsely inflated turnover rate can be recorded due 
to the specific requirements of certain services, such as tertiary 
training hospitals, where staff routinely undertake training for 
specified set periods before taking up or returning to appointments 
elsewhere. Also, certain geographic areas can attract overseas 
nurses who prefer to work only on short-term contracts.

Performance indicator:  
Workplace injuries
Incidence of workplace injuries expressed as a 
% of total workforce

CONTExT

The National Occupational Health & Safety Improvement 
Strategy and the NSW Government initiative Working Together: 
Public Sector OHS & Injury Management Strategy 2005-2008 
have set injury reduction targets. NSCCH is performing well 
against the injury prevention target with a reduction of 1.8% 
in the incidence rate during 2004/05 to 2006/07. It should be 
noted that this improvement comes on top of already significant 
decreases achieved during earlier improvement initiatives 
between June 1998 and December 2002. 

Injury prevention reductions have been achieved through a 
focus during 2006/07 on consolidating current OHS systems 
across the hospitals and services with a particular attention on 
occupational screening and vaccination and manual handling. 
Other major focuses include providing screening (for specified 
infectious diseases such as measles, whooping cough and 
hepatitis B) and offering vaccination to all employees to 
implement the NSW Health Policy Directive 2007_006.  
This screening program commenced in areas such as maternity, 
paediatrics and emergency departments and is expected to be 
completed in late 2008.

Strategic Direction 6  
Build a sustainable health workforce



performance summary continued

Northern Sydney Central Coast Health • 2006/2007 Annual Report 18

Performance indicator:  
Sick leave
Sick leave (non casual) average hours per FTE

DESIRED OUTCOME

Decrease in paid sick leave taken by staff.

CONTExT

Sick leave is regarded as a key measure of ‘people’ productivity 
and is often used as an indicator of organisational climate and 
morale. Whole of Government sick leave reduction targets set 
by the NSW Premier’s Department are monitored using 
baseline data for the 04/05 financial year. Monitoring regular 
reports against targets and adherence to the sick leave 
management policy assists in reducing the amount of sick 
leave taken by staff, additional costs of staff replacement  
and negative effects on service delivery and on other staff.

Performance indicator:  
Clinical staff 
Medical, nursing, allied health, other health 
professionals & oral health practitioners as a 
proportion of all staff

DESIRED OUTCOME

Optimal proportion of total salaried staff employed that 
provide direct services or support the provision of direct care.

CONTExT

The organisation and delivery of health care is complex and 
involves a wide range of health professionals, service providers 
and support staff. Clinical staff comprises medical, nursing, 
allied and oral health professionals, ambulance clinicians and 
other health professionals, such as counsellors and Aboriginal 
health workers. These groups are primarily the front line staff 
employed in the health system. In response to increasing 
demand for services, it is essential that the numbers of front 
line staff are maintained in line with that demand and that 
service providers continually examine how services are 
organised to direct more resources to frontline care. 

Note: ‘Clinical staff as a proportion of all staff’ does not 
currently include in the definition of ‘front line staff’, all those 
staff engaged in face to face care e.g. ward clerks, wardsmen, 
surgical dressers. It is expected that further refinement of 
employment data in future years will allow inclusion of these 
categories where relevant.
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Selected Data for the Year ended June 2007 Part 1

HOSPITAL/
FACILITY

SEPARATIONS 
YTD

PLANNED 
SEPARATIONS

PLANNED 
SEPARATIONS 

%

SAME DAY 
SEPARATIONS

SAME DAY 
SEPARATIONS 

%

DAILY 
AVERAGE

TOTAL  
BED  

DAYS 
(days 

episode)

Macquarie Hospital 320 4 1.25% 12 3.75% 183.7 67,052

Gosford Hospital 49,942 19,947 39.94% 21,777 43.60% 471.8 172,217

Woy Woy Hospital 789 788 99.87% 7 0.89% 45.7 16,664

Long Jetty  
Healthcare Centre

601 601 100.00% 13 2.33% 26.6 9,695

Wyong Hospital 25,695 10,562 41.11% 11,514 44.81% 267.9 97,792

Greenwich Home  
of Peace Hospital

855 854 99.88% 54 6.38% 60.3 22,020

Neringah Home  
of Peace Hospital

305 – – 13 4.26% 9.8 3,575

Hornsby and  
Ku-Ring-Gai 
Hospital

18,776 4,576 24.37% 6,384 34.00% 211.1 77,042

Manly Hospital 14,210 2,518 17.72% 5,095 35.86% 175.9 64,197

Mona Vale Hospital 14,793 3,073 20.77% 5,783 39.09% 141.1 51,493

Royal North Shore 
Hospital

47,540 20,980 44.13% 18,650 39.23% 553.0 201,853

RNS – Sydney 
Dialysis Centre

1,461 1,460 99.93% 1,455 99.59% 4.5 1,640

Royal Rehabilitation 
Hospital –  
Coorabel/ Moorong

543 543 100.00% 1 0.18% 55.2 20,156

Ryde Hospital 9,868 2,132 21.61% 3,524 35.71% 115.3 42,101

Coral Tree  
Family Centre

1,831 1,831 100.00% 1,441 78.70% 9.2 3,365

187,529 69,869 37.27% 75,723 40.39% 2331.1 850,862
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Selected Data for the Year ended June 2007 Part 2

HOSPITAL/FACILITY ACUTE 
SEPERATIONS 

YTD

ACUTE 
OVERNIGHT 
BED DAYS

ACUTE AVERAGE 
 LENGTH OF 

STAY

ACUTE TOTAL  
BED DAYS 

(DAYS EPISODE)

EMERGENCY 
DEPARTMENT 
ATTENDANCES

Macquarie Hospital 320 67,040 157.8 57,942 –

Gosford Hospital 49,859 149,788 3.4 171,557 48,581

Woy Woy Hospital 470 8,977 19.1 8,982 –

Long Jetty Healthcare Centre 474 8,436 17.8 8,448 –

Wyong Hospital 25,453 81,662 3.7 93,172 45,294

Hornsby and Ku-Ring-Gai 
Hospital

18,175 58,591 3.6 64,970 27,530

Manly Hospital 13,576 47,271 3.9 52,358 19,281

Mona Vale Hospital 14,119 36,302 3.0 42,070 24,620

Royal North Shore Hospital 47,218 180,376 4.2 199,022 49,900

RNS – Sydney Dialysis Centre 1,461 185 1.1 1,640 –

Ryde Hospital 9,560 34,606 4.0 38,130 21,368

Coral Tree Family Centre 1,831 1,645 1.8 3,086 –

182,516 675,158 4.1 750,766 236,574
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Beds and Bed Equivalents and Bed Occupancy,  
June 2007 (Beds in Emergency Departments, Delivery Suites, 
Operating Theatres and Recovery Rooms are excluded)  
Comparison of data

HOSPITAL/FACILITY

JUNE 07  
BED COUNTS –  

ALL BEDS INCLUDING 
BED EqUIVALENTS

GENERAL 
HOSPITAL  

UNITS

NURSING 
HOME 
UNITS

COMMUNITY 
RESIDENTIAL

OTHER 
UNITS

BED 
EqUIVALENTS

Macquarie Hospital 199 199

Gosford Hospital 528 518 10

Woy Woy Hospital 53 53

Long Jetty Healthcare Centre 47 31 16

Wyong Hospital 317 292 25

Greenwich Home of Peace 
Hospital

64 64

Neringah Home of Peace 
Hospital

19 19

Hornsby and Ku-Ring-Gai 
Hospital

276 269 7

Manly Hospital 192 192

Mona Vale Hospital 153 153

Royal North Shore Hospital 598 598

RNS – Sydney Dialysis Centre 6 6

Royal Rehabilitation Hospital – 
Coorabel/Moorong

65 65

Ryde Hospital 145 126 19

Northern Sydney &  
Central Coast APAC

115 115

Coral Tree Family Centre 11 11

Royal Rehabilitation –  
Weemala Nursing Home

45 45

Hospital In The Home 38 38

Compacks 26 26

Transitional Care Home Based 80 80



List of Facilities
Central Coast Health Service 
Gosford Hospital
PO Box 361 Gosford NSW 2250 
Tel: +61 2 4320 2111

Wyong Hospital
Pacific Highway Hamlyn Terrace 2259 
PO Box 4200 Lake Haven NSW 2263 
tel: +61 2 4394 8000

Woy Woy Hospital
Ocean Beach Road Woy Woy NSW 2256 
PO Box 183 Woy Woy NSW 2256 
Tel: +61 2 4344 8444

Long Jetty Healthcare Centre
Wyong Road Killarney Vale NSW 2261 
PO Box 88 Long Jetty NSW 2261 
Tel: +61 2 4336 7700

Kincumber Community Health Centre
Rear of Kincumber Shopping Village  
Kincumber NSW 2251 
Tel: +61 2 4369 2355

Lake Haven Community Health Centre
Stratford Avenue Lake Haven NSW 2263 
Tel: +61 2 4393 7777 

Long Jetty Community Health Centre
Wyong Road Killarney Vale NSW 2261 
(adjacent to Long Jetty Healthcare Centre) 
Tel: +61 2 4336 7800

Erina Community Health Centre
169 The Entrance Road Erina NSW 2250 
Tel: +61 2 4367 9600

Mangrove Mountain Community Health Centre
RMB 1640 Nurses Road Mangrove Mountain NSW 2250 
Tel: +61 2 4373 1249

Toukley Community Health Centre
Hargraves Street Toukley NSW 2263 
Tel: +61 2 4396 5111

Woy Woy Community Health Centre
Ocean Beach Road Woy Woy NSW 2256 
(adjacent to Woy Woy Hospital) 
Tel: +61 2 4344 8432

Wyong Community Health Centre
Pacific Highway Hamlyn Terrace NSW 2259 
(adjacent to Wyong Hospital) 
Tel: +61 2 4394 8229

Wyong Central Community Health Centre
38A Pacific Highway Wyong NSW 2259 
Tel: +61 2 4356 9300

Child & Family Health
Gateway Centre 237 Mann Street Gosford 2250 
Tel: +61 2 4328 7900

Hornsby Ku-ring-gai  
Health Service
Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital
Palmerston Road Hornsby NSW 2077 
Tel: +61 2 9477 9123

Berowra Community Health Centre
123 Berowra Waters Road Berowra Heights NSW 2082 
Tel: +61 2 9456 3344

Brooklyn Community Health Centre
Corner Brooklyn & Dangar Streets Brooklyn NSW 2083 
Tel: +61 2 9985 7717 

Drug & Alcohol Community Service – Hornsby 
Lowe Road, Gate 4 Entrance, Hornsby Hospital campus  
Hornsby NSW 2077 
Tel: +61 2 9477 9567

Galston Community Health Centre
17 Arcadia Road Galston NSW 2157 
Tel: +61 2 9653 2235

Hillview – Turramurra
1334 Pacific Highway Turramurra NSW 2074 
Tel: +61 2 9024 9000 

Hornsby Child & Family Health Centre
59 Florence St Hornsby NSW 2077 
Tel: +61 2 9476 4797, 9476 4787

Pennant Hills Community Health Centre
5 Fisher Avenue Pennant Hills NSW 2120 
Tel: +61 2 9481 0022

Richard Geeves Centre – Turramurra
10 Murrua Road North Turramurra NSW 2074 
Tel: +61 2 9488 8694

Wahroonga Rehabilitation Centre
Cnr Stuart and Illoura Streets, Wahroonga NSW 2076 
Tel: +61 2 9487 1699

Wiseman’s Ferry
Old Northern Road, Wiseman’s Ferry NSW 2775 
Tel: +61 2 4566 4423
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Northern Beaches Health Service
Manly Hospital
150 Darley Road Manly NSW 2095 
PO Box 465 Manly NSW 1655 
Tel: +61 2 9976 9611

Mona Vale Hospital
18 Coronation Street Mona Vale NSW 2103 
PO Box 81 Mona Vale NSW 1660 
Tel: +61 2 9998 0333

Brookvale Early intervention Centre
1 Brookvale Avenue Brookvale NSW 2100 
Tel: +61 2 9938 5350 

Dalwood Assessment Centre – Seaforth
Dalwood Avenue Seaforth NSW 2092 
Tel: +61 2 9951 0300 

Drug and Alcohol Service – Mona Vale
Building 3, Mona Vale Hospital Campus  
Coronation Street Mona Vale NSW 2103 
Tel: +61 2 9998 0360

Drug and Alcohol Service – Manly
14 Pittwater Road Manly NSW 2095 
Tel: +61 2 9977 2666 

Frenchs Forest Community Health Centre
Bantry Bay Road Frenchs Forest NSW 2086 
Tel: +61 2 9452 4244

Parkhill Cottage Day Centre
Off Collins Beach Road, Manly NSW 2095 
Tel: +61 2 9976 9559

Queenscliff Community Health Centre
Corner Lakeside Crescent and Palm Avenue  
Queenscliff NSW 2096 
Tel: +61 2 9466 2500 

Sexual Health Service – Manly
8-18 Whistler St Manly NSW 2095 
Tel: +61 2 9977 3288

North Shore and  
Ryde Health Service
Royal North Shore Hospital
Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9926 7111

Ryde Hospital
Deniston Road Eastwood NSW 2122 
Tel: +61 2 9874 0199

Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service (NSHNS)
Cameron Building Macquarie Hospital  
Wicks Road North Ryde NSW 2133 
Tel: +61 2 9887 5444

Adolescent Services – Ryde
51-53 Blaxland Road Ryde NSW 2112 
Tel: +61 2 9807 6677

Aged Care & Rehabilitation Royal North Shore Hospital 
Building 12 Royal North Shore Hospital Campus 
Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9926 8705

Assertive Recovery in the Community Team (ARC)
55 Hercules Street Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3270

Bilingual Services – Ryde
39-41 Fourth Avenue Eastwood NSW 2122 
(Ryde Hospital campus) 
Tel: +61 2 9858 7876

Chatswood Day Centre for Aged Care
36 Hercules Street Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9412 3694 

Child & Family Psychiatry
Level 2 Building 36, (Block 4) 
Royal North Shore Hospital Campus 
Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9926 8905

Chatswood Assessment Centre
46 Hercules Street Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3182

North Shore/Ryde Child & Family Health
44 Hercules Street Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3155

Community Mental Health
Block 3 Royal North Shore Hospital Campus 
Pacific Highway, St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3250

Drug & Alcohol Community Service –  
Herbert Street Clinic
Building 8 Royal North Shore Hospital Campus 
Herbert Street St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9926 7765 
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Drug & Alcohol Community Service – Chatswood
13 Albert Ave Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3284

Drug & Alcohol Community Service – Ryde 
37 Fourth Avenue Eastwood NSW 2122 
Tel: +61 2 9858 0776

Early Childhood Health Centre
42 Hercules Street Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3290

FPA Health (Family Planning) – Chatswood 
47 Hercules St Chatswood NSW 2067 
Tel: +61 2 9415 2700

Health Promotion & Education
Level 3 Block 4 Royal North Shore Hospital Campus  
Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9926 7354

interpreter Service – Royal North Shore Hospital
Vindin House, Royal North Shore Hospital Campus 
Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9926 7560

Mobile Community Mental Health Team
Block 3, Building 10, Royal North Shore Hospital Campus 
Pacific Highway St Leonards NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9448 3250

Mosman Day Centre for Aged Care
7 Ellamatta Ave Mosman NSW 2088 
Tel: +61 2 9968 1409

Ryde Community Health Service – Ryde Hospital
39-41 Fourth Avenue Eastwood NSW 2122 
(In the grounds of Ryde Hospital) 
Tel: +61 2 9874 0199

Social Work Department – Ryde
Denistone Rd Eastwood NSW 2122 
(Ryde Hospital campus) 
Tel: +61 2 9858 7680

Macquarie Hospital
Wicks Road,  
North Ryde NSW 2103 
Tel: +61 2 9888 1222

Affiliated health organisations
Hope Healthcare Limited
Pallister House 97-115 River Road Greenwich NSW 2065 
PO Box 5084 Greenwich NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9903 8201

Greenwich Hospital – Hope Healthcare Limited
97-115 River Road, Greenwich NSW 2065 
PO Box 5084 Greenwich NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9903 8333

Neringah Hospital – Hope Healthcare Limited
4-12 Neringah Avenue South, Wahroonga NSW 2076 
PO Box 42 Wahroonga NSW 
Tel: +61 2 9488 2200

Graythwaite Nursing Home – Hope Healthcare Limited
10 Edward Street North Sydney 2060 
PO Box 5084 Greenwich NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9955 1115

Tom O’Neill Centre – Hope Healthcare Limited
10 Edward Street North Sydney 2060 
PO Box 5084 Greenwich NSW 2065 
Tel: +61 2 9957 3224

Northern Beaches Palliative Care Service –  
Hope Healthcare Limited 
Coronation Street Mona Vale NSW 2103 
PO Box 81 Mona Vale NSW 2103 
Tel: 9998 0222

Royal Rehabilitation Centre Sydney
59 Charles Street Ryde NSW 2112 
PO Box 6 Ryde NSW 1680 
Tel: +61 2 9807 1144
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Area Health Care 
Services Planning
The Area Health Care Services Plan provides the strategic 
direction for clinical services in the Area for the next three to 
five years. In August 2006 a draft plan was submitted to NSW 
Department of Health after consultation with over 500 clinicians 
and community members and endorsement by the Area Health 
Advisory Council and Area Clinical Council.

The plan notes anticipated population growth (particularly on 
the Central Coast), changes in population structure with a 
rapidly growing elderly population and large differences in 
health status and access to health services between different 
regions within the area and for particular sub-groups. 

Key strategic directions identified with the plan include:

• Development of services within the Central Coast to 
improve residents’ access.

• Consolidation of services to support sustainability and 
new service models.

• Definition of roles for acute services likely to result in a 
change to the mix of services within facilities.

• Replacement and renewal of physical infrastructure in 
Health Services where required.

• Strategies for workforce designed to attract and retain 
current workforce, align workforce and service development 
more closely and support new models of care. 

• Investment and redesign of ambulatory and community 
based care.

Since the development of the Area Health Care Services Plan 
a number of things have occurred that necessitate its review. 
The updated Area Health Care Services Plan will align more 
directly with statewide strategic directions outlined in recently 
released planning documents, reflect demographic changes 
since 2001, and encapsulate the detailed Clinical Services Plans 
currently in development.

It is envisaged that the review of the Area Health Care 
Services Plan will occur over the first quarter of 2008 and, in 
consultation with community and clinicians, will receive final 
endorsement and public release prior to the middle of 2008.

Clinical Services Plans
A number of Clinical Services Plans have been in development 
over the past year and many are nearing completion. These plans 
have been developed with Clinical Networks where they exist 
and in consultation with community advisory groups and key 
stakeholders where appropriate. The list of plans that will be 
complete over the next financial year include:

• Cancer Services

• Critical Care Services

• Palliative Care

• Surgical Services

• Aged Care & Rehabilitation

• Child, Youth & Family Health

• Maternity Services

• Cardiovascular Health (including Renal Services)

It is envisaged that as these plans are endorsed they will 
inform the review of the Area Health Care Services Plan.

In addition to Area level Clinical Services Plans a comprehensive 
Health Services Plan was also developed outlining the health 
service needs for Northern Beaches residents over the next 
ten years. This plan was developed in consultation with 
community and clinicians to support a major capital 
redevelopment project which includes a new hospital to  
be located at Frenchs Forest.
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Central Coast Health 
Service
Gosford Hospital
Gosford Hospital provides inpatient services including coronary 
and intensive care, general medical, neurology, renal, geriatrics, 
general surgical, obstetrics, mental health, paediatric and 
emergency services. Outpatient and community services include 
allied health, dental, podiatry, nursing, child, adolescent and 
family health, cardiac rehabilitation, drug and alcohol.

GOSFORD HOSPiTAL 06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  528.0 480.3 490.6 479.4 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 89.3% 97.5% 92.0% 97.4%

Non-inpatient  175,746 170,296 162,269 171,719 
occasions of service

Births 2,551 2,469 2,297 2,159

ED attendances 48,581 46,375 44,387 45,385

Admissions/separations 49,942 54,246 48,522 47,545

Average length of stay 3.4 3.1 3.4 3.6 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOME

• Improved Numerical Profile rating of 78%.

• Central Coast Health Service (CCH) was successfully 
awarded 4 years accreditation.

• Establishment of divisional clinical governance structures. 

• Development of CCH Community Participation 
Committee Workplan. 

• Renal services opened a Satellite Renal Unit in July 2006. 

• Enhanced ENT services with the recruitment of an 
additional Visiting Medical Officer (VMO) to meet long 
term waiting list targets.

• Programmed Elective Surgery Targets achieved with elective 
waiting times reduced to 12 months or less across all 
surgical specialties.

• Introduction of a 23 hour surgical unit within the Surgical 
Admission Centre

• New Children’s Ward at Gosford Hospital opened its doors 
in November 2006 including an adolescent lounge and 
more facilities for parents to support their child in hospital.

• Nutrition Services and Diabetes Educators have implemented 
a newly designed Diabetes management program which 
applies the principles of readiness to change, client centred 
goal setting, and self management of their condition. 

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• Staff participated in supporting victims both during the 
June 2007 flood disaster and in the Disaster Recovery 
Centre.

• The Diagnostic Cardiology Department has assumed 
responsibility for pacemaker and defibrillator clinics, with 
the benefit of being supported by the closer involvement 
of cardiologists in the care of the clients. 

• The Service’s asthma educators have been working to 
support and train primary care health professionals to 
improve care of asthma sufferers and reduce the need for 
patients to seek emergency treatment.

• Commissioned new peri operative unit incorporating 
operating theatres, endoscopy, integrated booking unit 
and surgical admission centre.

• Gosford Hospital Intensive Care Unit Community Open 
Day held in March 2007. 

• Achieved three years Accreditation for both Gosford 
Anaesthetic and Urology Departments.

• Completion of Safer Systems Saving Lives (SSSL) Project 
within Intensive Care focusing on key care areas – 
preventing ventilator associated pneumonia and reducing 
central line related bacteraemia.

• The birth rate continues to grow with a 5.5% increase in 
births this year across Central Coast public hospitals.

• NSCCH inaugural international Paediatric conference. 
“Tiny Voices in a big World” convened in February 2007 
hosted by Central Coast Paediatric team. 

FUTURE DIRECTION

• Development of Business Plans for the Divisions and its 
services that are congruent with the CCHS and Area 
Health Service Operational Plans

• Implementation of regional critical care retrieval service 
for the Central Coast

• Continue to maintain Central Coast Health’s ‘long wait’ 
surgical electives under 12 months.

• Completion of the updated Disaster Management Plan.
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Wyong Hospital
Wyong Hospital is an acute major metropolitan hospital 
providing a range of medical and surgical services, rehabilitation 
and specialty services including drug and alcohol, renal, 
coronary care, stroke, mental health and cancer services.

WYONG HOSPiTAL 06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  317.0 277.6 244.4 186.2 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 87.0% 95.7% 96.5% 102.8%

Non-inpatient  130,648 116,123 101,033 97,000 
occasions of service

Births 259 195 270 355

ED attendances 45,294 42,644 41,092 39,213

Admissions/separations 25,695 27,261 24,514 22,855

Average length of stay 3.7 3.6 3.5 3.1
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOME

• Improved Numerical Profile rating of 81%.

• CCH was successfully awarded 4 years accreditation.

• Establishment of divisional clinical governance structures.

• Paediatric Ambulatory Care Unit Wyong commenced 
providing services to children from early August 2006.

• Compliance with NSW Health Surgical Targets.

• Transitional Care Unit established – 20 bed inpatient 
service operating in temporary facility at Wyong Hospital 
– with plans to move to new purpose-built facility at  
Woy Woy in 2008. Funding obtained to increase the number 
of community packages associated with this program.

• Patients screened as at risk of under nutrition now  
receive nutrition care intervention earlier within the first 
24-36 hours of admission. 

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• Staff participated in supporting victims both during the 
June 2007 flood disaster and in the Disaster Recovery Centre.

• Planning for the establishment of a Wyong High 
Dependency Unit.

• Enhance Central Coast General Surgical Roster and 
services at Wyong Hospital.

• Achieved ongoing accreditation for the Orthopaedic 
Department at Wyong Hospital

FUTURE DIRECTION

• Commissioning of an eight bed High Dependency unit for 
Wyong Hospital.

• Continue to maintain CCH’s ‘long wait’ surgical electives 
under 12 months.

• Enhance Central Coast Orthopaedic services with a  
VMO appointment to commence in October 2007 at 
Wyong Hospital.

• Completion and opening of Rehabilitation exercise 
courtyard fundraising project. 

Long Jetty Healthcare Centre
Long Jetty Healthcare Centre is a sub-acute facility comprising 
of the 30 bed Continuing Care Unit which specialises in  
Aged Care & Palliative Care Services and Terilbah, a 16 bed unit 
which provides care for patients with dementing illness and 
associated behavioural problems.

LONG JETTY HEALTH 06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04 
CARE CENTRE

Beds including  47.0 46.0 46.0 45.9 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 85.0% 87.8% 89.6% 95.6%

Non-inpatient  64 294 137 89 
occasions of service

Admissions/separations* 601 583 481 428

Average length of stay 17.8 25.3 31.3 37.5 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• CCH was successfully awarded 4 years accreditation.

• Long Jetty Healthcare Centre Ladies Auxiliary continued to 
demonstrate excellent fund raising skills and have given a 
commitment of $20,000.00 for the financial year 2007/2008.

• Long Jetty Healthcare Centre achieved a score of 82.2% 
in the Numerical Profile. 

FUTURE DIRECTION

• The CADE unit is currently undergoing a review of its  
role and function. 
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Woy Woy Hospital
Woy Woy Hospital provides non-acute and outpatient services 
to residents of the peninsula and southern areas of the 
Central Coast. The hospital comprises general medical beds 
for sub-acute, dementia care and palliative care patients 
awaiting residential placement. In addition, the Rehabilitation 
ward provides inpatient rehabilitation services to patients with 
neurological and other general medical conditions. Services 
provided at Woy Woy Hospital include pharmacy, pathology, 
allied health, hydrotherapy and dementia day care.

WOY WOY HOSPiTAL 06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  53.0 57.0 61.2 61.0 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 86.1% 83.6% 87.8% 93.9%

Non-inpatient 6,469 6,824 10,128 17,867 
occasions of service

Admissions/separations 789 750 802 798

Average length of stay  19.1 23.2 24.4 26.3 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• CCH was successfully awarded 4 years accreditation.

• Establishment of divisional clinical governance structures. 

• Development of CCH Community Participation 
Committee Workplan.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• Completion of Transitional Care building. 

Central Coast Primary & 
Community Care 
Central Coast Primary & Community Care Services include 
Child & Family Health, Community Nursing, Community Outreach 
Therapy Services, GP Collaboration Unit, Palliative Care Service 
and Podiatry. Services are provided across ten Community 
health facilities, hospital outpatient facilities and in the home.

 06/07 05/06

Community Nursing Occasions of Service 
– Generalists 116,910 123,779
– Specialists 10,469  8,422

Child & Family Health Home Visiting
– Visits offered 3,770  3,673
– Visits completed 3,675  3,507

Youth Health Occasions of Service
– Individual  7,162  5,489
– Group numbers  5,817  1,222
– Group sessions  98  78
– Casual contacts  979  857
– Immunisation  179  32
– Eating Disorders  670  653

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Community Nursing EPAC services extended across the 
coast to seven days per week 11am-7.30pm enabling safe 
discharge of vulnerable clients from hospital to home.

• Nurse Practitioner positions established in Wound 
Management, Youth Health and Palliative Care.

• Child & Family Health nurses have implemented the 
Universal Home Visiting program for all families with a new 
baby across the Central Coast Area as per the Families NSW 
initiative and the NSW Health home visiting guidelines.

• ICIS Data Base system expanded to Child & Family Health. 

• Development of CCH Community Participation 
Committee Workplan.

• Community Outreach Therapy Service presented service 
model to MND conference (2006) in Melbourne and Rural 
& Allied Health Conference (2005) in Sydney.

• Youth Health received the NSW Association for Adolescent 
Health (NAAH) and NRMA Illuminate Award for Excellence 
in Youth Health.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

• Establishment of the new Chronic Care Service.

• Develop a primary health care service for Central Coast 
children in out of home care under the guardianship of 
the Department of Community Services.

• Redesign the Central Coast community nursing service in 
collaboration with Area community nursing management 
to improve governance and increase service delivery.

• Expansion of the Eating Disorders Early Intervention Outpatient 
Service in collaboration with Mental Health Services.

• Complete review of perinatal services with the aim of 
forming a Perinatal Secondary Team in collaboration with 
maternity services and mental health.

• Expand the podiatry student training program with the 
aim of improving future recruitment.
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Fundraising 
The Central Coast community continued to show it cared 
with individuals, businesses and community groups supporting 
a number of fundraising events throughout the year.

One of the best known is Radio 2GO’s ‘Give Me Five for Kids’ 
appeal which raised $100,000 for CCH’s Children’s Fund.  
The Children’s Fund helps to enhance medical and therapeutic 
equipment across the broad range of inpatient and outpatient 
paediatric services provided by CCH. 

Woolworths annual 'Fresh Future Appeal' generated a $35,000 
donation for the Children’s Fund thanks to the enthusiasm of 
local staff and customers. Businesses on the Woy Woy Peninsula 
helped to make Central Coast Taxis golf day a success raising 
$11,000 for the Children’s Fund.

Premature babies at Gosford Hospital will benefit from new 
technology used to screen for retinal disease following a 
charity dinner held by Platinum Dental Care which raised half 
of the $120,000 required to purchase the RetCam. Additional 
support from NSW Police (Gordy Wilson memorial fund).  
The Entrance Hotel Fishing Club, Gosford Rotary and several 
individual donors helped to raise the remaining funds.

Lions Clubs in Wyong Shire joined forces to raise $100,000 
towards a new Exercise Courtyard for Wyong Hospital’s 
Rehabilitation Unit. Construction is underway. 

Ongoing support from local branches of NSW Fire Brigades 
($17,000) helped to fund a range of equipment used for the 
treatment of burns and trauma patients at both Gosford and 
Wyong Hospital’s Emergency Departments through the 
Central Coast Burns Equipment Fund.

Cancer Services continue to receive community support with 
many community groups organising fundraisers such as the 
Central Coast Malibu Boardriders Magoo Charity Classic 
($13,700) and the Doll, Bear, Craft & Quilt Expo ($8,000).

Local vascular research was supported by the fundraising 
activities of the CHARM (Central Coast Health & Research 
Management) committee. 

Several benefactors chose to leave a lasting legacy beyond 
their lifetime to services provided by CCH. 

Our Volunteers
Every year volunteers contribute thousands of hours and 
thousands of dollars to make a difference to our patients, 
their families and staff. Approximately 750 volunteers give 
their time, skills and passion to provide a broad range of 
highly valued services.

Thank you.

Hospital Auxiliaries
United Hospital Auxiliaries have been working hard for over 
60 years on the Central Coast, even before the first public 
hospital opened in Gosford in 1945. 

There are five hospital auxiliaries on the Central Coast whose 
commitment year after year has helped to purchase medical 
and therapeutic equipment for our hospitals. 

2006/07 ExECUTIVES OF THE FIVE UNITED HOSPITAL 
AUxILIARIES

 PRESiDENT SECRETARY TREASURER

Gosford Mrs Maureen Hurt Ms Jenny Sims Mrs Kerry Babinski

Long Jetty Mrs Thelma Peck Mrs Doreen Ryder Mrs Betty Smith

Ourimbah Mrs Toni Brewster Mrs Unice Frazer Miss Narelle Rodgers

Woy Woy Mrs Marie Jackman Mrs Oliveen Barron Mrs Judith Schmitzer

Wyong Mrs Eileen Gardiner Mrs Robyn Wilson Mrs Teresa Oswald

NB: In addition to her role as President of the Long Jetty 
Auxiliary, Mrs Thelma Peck is the Regional Representative  
to the NSW United Hospital Auxiliary.
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Hornsby Ku-ring-gai 
Health Service
Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Health Service (HKHS), incorporating 
Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, six community health centres 
and ten early childhood health centres, provides public 
healthcare to a community stretching from the Hawkesbury 
River to Roseville, east to St Ives and west to Pennant Hills, 
Cherrybrook and Epping.

Hornsby Kur-ring-gai Hospital is a teaching hospital and provides 
inpatient services including intensive care, high dependency, 
cardiac, stroke, orthopaedic, general medical, surgical, obstetric, 
mental health, paediatric and emergency services. 

Outpatient services include allied health such as physiotherapy, 
occupational therapy, speech pathology and social work,  
as well as community health, dental clinics, podiatry clinics, 
child, adolescent and family health, drug and alcohol, health 
promotion, rehabilitation and aged care.

HORNSBY  06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04 
KU-RiNG-GAi HOSPiTAL

Beds including  276.0 282.8 263.3 255.7 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 73.1% 72.6% 80.5% 88.4%

Non-inpatient  267,775 239,577 253,943 260,872 
occasions of service

Births 1,115 1,012 884 917

ED attendances 27,530 24,582 22,754 22,143

Admissions/separations 18,776 17,509 16,638 17,441

Average length of stay  3.6 4.3 4.7 4.7 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• A new Emergency, Maternity, Paediatrics and Psychiatric 
Emergency Care Centre was officially opened by the 
Minister for Health in February 2007. 

• Construction of the new 12-bed Mental Health Intensive 
Care Unit (MHICU) and Drug and Alcohol (DAGS) Unit was 
completed with the service due to start in October 2007.

• The $1 million Pathways Home Project has seen the 
refurbishment of the Leighton Lodge building to 
consolidate and co-locate our Aged Care services.

• The hospital continues to perform well in acute care 
indicators such as better than target performance for access 
block, long-wait surgical list reduced to zero, improvements 
in off-stretcher times and reduced length of stay. 

• The introduction of clinical divisional structures to increase 
the involvement of clinicians in the leadership and 
management of the organisation and ensure effective 
reporting structures and governance. 

• Establishment of the HKHS Consumer and Community 
Participation Committee to provide advice to HKHS on 

the community’s health service needs, population health 
issues, service planning and community consultation. 

• HKHS was one of four pilot sites in NSW for the Sub-Acute 
Fast Track Elderly Care (SAFTE) project last year which 
identified and supported older people living in the community 
at risk of health deterioration. The success of the project 
has resulted in funding for the new Healthy at Home 
initiative which promotes early intervention in the care  
of frail elderly people. 

• HKHS welcomed the new ‘hospitalist’ role to the service to 
co-ordinate the care of acute and chronically ill patients, 
many of whom are elderly or have complex needs. 

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• The Geriatric Rapid Acute Care Evaluation (GRACE) 
project was awarded first place in the Baxter 2006 NSW 
Health Awards for best innovation to improve patient care 
and patient journeys, receiving a special commendation 
from the Minister for Health. The GRACE program develops 
care plans for older people by liaising directly with their 
GP’s, nursing home or facility staff and family members 
and has resulted in less hospital admissions and patients 
spending significantly less time in hospital.

• Associate Professor Sue Kurrle, Clinical Director of HKHS 
Rehabilitation and Aged Care Service (RACS) was appointed 
to the Curran Chair in Health Care of Older People.  
The professorial appointment, which is within the  
Faculty of Medicine at the University of Sydney, is based 
at Hornsby and has a strong focus on research into 
staying fit and healthy into older age.

• An innovative and interactive orientation program was 
developed for new doctors as an introduction to the hospital.

• As part of our ongoing commitment to a safe environment 
for staff, patients and visitors, HKHS achieved an improved 
numerical profile score of 73%. 

• The Hornsby Cooling Kit, developed by HKHS Intensive 
Care Nurse Specialist Sue Elder as an improved way to 
cool patients after cardiac arrest, is receiving international 
success including approval for sale and agents appointed 
within Australia, Europe, UK and USA. The Cooling Kit is 
destined to continue its success with studies on cooling 
post-ischaemic stroke and neuro-trauma now being released 
with positive results. Once approved, cooling post-stroke 
looks to become much bigger than for cardiac arrest.  
A new neonatal kit is also being trialled.

• The Safer Systems Saving Lives (SSSL) Project resulted in 
the implementation of four initiatives including reduction in 
surgical site and central line infections, ventilator associated 
complications and reviewing adverse stroke events. 
Processes were reviewed and best practice was established 
resulting in increased compliance and a significant reduction 
in infection rates.
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FUTURE DIRECTION 

• $1.5 million funding received for the planning of a new 
Adolescent Mental Health Unit and a new Acute Mental 
Health Unit. 

• Manage ongoing capital works programs and develop 
capital plan for further development and refurbishment of 
Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital.

• Develop links with GPs and other health providers with the 
aim of improving the health of the community, identifying 
and supporting older people living in the community and 
reducing hospital admissions.

• Implementation of the new Electronic Medical Record 
System (eMR). 

• Revise paediatric models of care to manage increased 
activity through the introduction of ambulatory care.

• Implementation of the Emergency Department Paediatric 
Obesity project to improve prevention and management 
of paediatric obesity in acute care and refer to 
appropriate services.

• Review community health models of care with particular 
regard to mental health services and unmet community 
health needs.

• Maintain effective Consumer and Community Participation 
Committee and extend levels of consumer involvement in 
key committees.

• Review and extension of the services provided by our 
Bone and Balance Clinic (previously Falls Prevention Clinic) 
which aims to reduce the risk of falls by improving clients 
strength balance and mobility to improve their independence.

• Review the functioning of the Emergency Medical Unit (EMU) 
and consider variations such as the ‘Third Door Concept’ 
which will allow patients to by-pass the Emergency 
Department and be admitted straight to their area of need. 

Fundraising
Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Health Service enjoys the support of a 
vibrant and loyal community who continue to partner us in 
many fundraising projects.

Fundraising totaled $670,669 for the financial year, which 
went directly towards patient care and enabled us to purchase 
many pieces of the latest medical equipment. 

We would like to acknowledge the hard work and support of 
our staff, volunteers and the many individuals, community 
groups, organisations and companies whose loyalty and 
generosity assisted us in providing the very best health care 
for our community.

Volunteers
HKHS has over 780 volunteers who provide a large support 
network of services including the hospital’s Florist & Gift 
Shop, Pink Ladies and Gentlemen, Meals on Wheels, Patient 
Companions, Children’s Ward Play Leaders, Internal Mail 
Courier Service, support for Mental Health and Rehabilitation 
and Aged Care groups, Craft Ladies and office support for 
various departments throughout the health service. 

Our volunteers are an important part of our team and the 
care we offer. We are very lucky to have such devoted helpers 
– their loyalty and dedication is inspiring. Many of our volunteers 
have over 20 years of service and several over 40 years of 
service. Their contributions make an enormous difference for 
staff and their care and friendliness makes the hospital journey 
for our patients and their family members more comfortable. 

2007 – 2009 Volunteer Committees

PINK LADIES COMMITTEE

President Margaret Guy

Vice President Gail Hugman

Secretary Helen Henderson

Treasurer Margaret Parfett

Committee Members Joan Hunt 
 Maureen Verzeletti

FLORIST SHOP SUB-COMMITTEE

Chair Margaret Guy

Merchandise Joan Hunt

Committee Members Avril Brown 
 Joy Turner 
 Lorraine Kenchington 
 Carmel Gossip 
 Linda Humphries

PLAYLEADERS

President Joyce Riley

Vice President Marie Anstee

Treasurer Lesley Whittington

Secretary Betty Twose

in Charge of Craft Marion Ashworth
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Northern Beaches 
Health Service
Manly Hospital
Manly Hospital is a major metropolitan hospital providing 
critical care, emergency medicine, obstetric, medical, psychiatric, 
surgical and orthopaedic services. Non-acute services include 
oncology, aged care rehabilitation, drug and alcohol services, 
stroke management, cardiac rehabilitation and podiatry. 
Community health includes child, adolescent and family services, 
drug and alcohol, sexual health, HIV prevention, mental health, 
dental health and health promotion.

MANLY HOSPiTAL  06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  192.0 193.8 199.2 184.3 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 89.5% 88.7% 86.4% 88.3%

Non-inpatient  205,710 302,438 281,630 276,681 
occasions of service

Births 899 699 676 742

ED attendances 19,281 18,162 17,366 16,530

Admissions/separations 14,210 13,453 13,014 12,445

Average length of stay  3.9 4.7 4.8 4.8 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Establishment of Aggression Response Team to effectively 
manage patients exhibiting threatening, abusive or violent 
behaviour to themselves or others.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• $1.9m Intensive Care Unit redevelopment completed.

• Appointment of the first Emergency Accredited Registered 
Nurse (EARN) for the NBHS. EARNs are accredited to initiate 
analgesia before patients are seen by a doctor to increase 
the comfort of patients in pain. 

FUTURE DIRECTION wITHIN THE AREA NETwORK

• Planning continues for the enhancement of health services 
on the northern beaches. Approximately 50 planning 
meetings were held by the Northern Beaches Redevelopment 
Team with key stakeholders. Completion of the Health 
Service Plan for submission to NSW Health for approval.

MANLY HOSPITAL AUxILIARY

President  Beth Maxwell

Secretary  Marjorie James

Treasurer  Shirley Horner

DALWOOD AUxILIARY

President  Toni Lynch

Secretary  Terri Maddock

Treasurer  Joan Copp

Fundraising
Manly Hospital is grateful for the ongoing support of the local 
community which helps to purchase both medical equipment 
and items that enhance patient comfort.

Donations from hospital appeals and funds raised through 
hosting visiting tour groups totalled $63,000.

Manly Hospital received $740,000 to purchase medical 
equipment in the first distribution from the Estate of the late 
Bernice Hurford. 
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Mona Vale Hospital 
Mona Vale Hospital is a metropolitan district hospital, providing 
services to the Northern Beaches community. The hospital 
provides emergency, intensive care, theatres, paediatric, surgical, 
orthopaedic, day surgery, obstetrics, medical, aged care and 
rehabilitation inpatient services. Community services include 
the Aged Care Assessment Team, occupational therapy, 
mental health, speech pathology, physiotherapy, dental and 
drug and alcohol services.

MONA VALE HOSPiTAL  06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  153.0 159.8 170.7 163.7 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 88.0% 85.2% 79.4% 83.6%

Non-inpatient  67,577 86,361 82,061 79,804 
occasions of service

Births 731 709 565 628

ED attendances 24,620 23,441 22,007 22,241

Admissions/separations 14,793 12,952 12,451 12,245

Average length of stay  3.0 3.8 4.0 4.1  
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR OUTCOMES AND ACHIEVEMENTS

• Almost $8 million dollars in Capital works projects were 
undertaken at Mona Vale hospital during 2006/2007, 
including a major refurbishment of the Emergency 
Department, requiring the temporary relocation of the 
Department for over nine months.

• The $3.8 million refurbished Emergency Department was 
commissioned on July 31, 2007. The refurbished department 
is double its original size, has a dedicated four-bed paediatric 
facility and treatment room, enhanced capacity for acute 
assessment adult beds, a purpose-built secure unit and 
infection control isolation facilities. 

• Northern Beaches Health Service residents now have a 
single point of access to the Aged Care Assessment Team 
with the completion of the Pathways Home project in 
February 2007. At a cost of $1.9 million, the Pathways 
Home project, which is co-located within the Assessment 
and Rehabilitation Unit, has enhanced and consolidated 
community based service delivery to Northern Beaches 
residents.

• Mona Vale Hospital’s three main lifts are being replaced  
at a cost of $1.5 million. The project, which began in 
October 2006, will be completed by October 2007. 

• Mona Vale Hospital will have a satellite renal service 
commencing in early 2008. The new six-chair satellite 
service will operate in partnership with the Royal North 
Shore Hospital renal service and will provide the first ever 
local dialysis service for NBHS residents. 

 

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• In May 2007, the Aged Care Shared Care Program was 
launched to improve links between GPs, community services, 
acute post acute care services (APAC) and Mona Vale 
Hospital staff enabling Northern Beaches GPs to have 
direct access to the APAC service and the ability to initiate 
care for patients who require short term clinical management.

 This program means that patients will receive the 
appropriate treatment at the appropriate place, avoiding 
unnecessary hospital admissions and improving health 
outcomes. Within two months of the launch over fifty GPs 
on the Northern Beaches joined the Shared Care Program. 

Major donors and fundraising
Mona Vale Hospital received $274,000 in donations from  
the local community and the Humpty Dumpty Foundation.  
The hospital Kiosk and Auxiliaries donated over $40,000 to 
purchase clinical equipment for the hospital including electric 
beds for the medical ward. The Paediatric ward was once 
again well supported by the community with donations 
including toys and games, during the annual radio Christmas 
Toy Appeal.
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North Shore and Ryde 
Health Service 
Royal North Shore Hospital
Royal North Shore Hospital (RNSH) is the major tertiary referral, 
research and teaching hospital in NSCCH. RNSH, one of Sydney’s 
largest public hospitals, serves 12% of the NSW population.

RNSH is also a community hospital. More than one third of  
all patients come from the four local government areas of 
Lane Cove, North Sydney, Willoughby and Mosman.

Clinical services include aged care and rehabilitation, surgical 
services, immunology, dermatology, microbiology, palliative 
care, cardiology, cardiothoracic surgery, critical care, drug and 
alcohol, emergency medicine, allergy, endocrine medicine and 
surgery, haematology, head and neck, ear, nose and throat, 
gastrointestinal, medical imaging, mental health, neurology, 
obstetrics and gynaecology, oncology, ophthalmology, 
orthopaedics, paediatrics, pathology, podiatry, respiratory, 
renal, urology, vascular and trauma medicine. 

Community health services include child, adolescent and family 
services, drug and alcohol, child protection, sexual health, 
carer support, BreastScreen, mental health, dental health and 
health promotion. 

Statewide service responsibilities include neonatal intensive care, 
severe burn injury and reconstructive surgery, pain management 
and research, spinal cord injury, interventional neuro-radiology, 
cerebrovascular embolisation and Sydney Simulation Centre. 

RNS HOSPiTAL  06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  598.0 576.6 554.5 531.5 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 94.7% 94.2% 93.9% 92.9%

Non-inpatient  865,143 901,397 877,912 835,188 
occasions of service

Births 2,283 2,362 2,489 1,964

ED attendances 49,900 46,696 42,313 42,329

Admissions/separations 47,540 46,643 45,754 42,989

Average length of stay  4.2 4.3 4.2 4.2 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES 

• Major improvements in surgical and patient flow as part 
of the Clinical Services Redesign Projects, leading to a 
reduction in theatre start delays and better flow of 
patients through the theatre complex.

• Successful periodic accreditation through the Australian 
Council on Healthcare Standards. 

• Successful accreditation of the Psycho-Geriatric model of care

• Completion of refurbishment work to Day Surgery 
Centre, Ophthalmology Clinic. 

• Establishment of a new High Dependency Unit within the 
Intensive Care Unit.

• Improved Key Performance Indicators (KPI) over previous years. 
In particular, a significant improvement in Emergency 
Access Performance and a significant reduction in the 
number of surgical patients waiting in excess of 12 months 
for their procedures.

• Establishment of an Integrated Patient Flow Unit, with Patient 
Flow management support during evenings and weekends.

• Success of Interventional Cardiology lead to improved 
patient outcomes and management, in particular the 
SALAMI protocol (stenting strategy as an alternative to 
lytic/medical therapy in acute myocardial infarction).

• Introduction of web-based casual allocation system to 
improve access and reduce use of agency nurses.

RNSH REDEVELOPMENT

After a detailed planning process, the second stage of the 
$702 million RNSH redevelopment is underway. Concept drawings 
give some idea of the size of this joint public/private partnership.

Building a new hospital on a ‘green field’ site (an empty site) 
is easier than building ‘on top’ of an existing hospital but 
because RNSH sits in the heart of the North Shore, with good 
access for both staff and patients, it was decided to rebuild 
on this campus. All service provision will continue throughout 
the rebuilding and expansion phase. The RNSH redevelopment 
is expected to be complete in 2012.

Plans involve a new emergency department, day stay and ward 
areas and on-site accommodation for staff, students and 
families of patients from country areas.

In particular the redevelopment includes:

• 30 chemotherapy beds

• 63 renal dialysis chairs

• 19 operating/procedure/day surgery rooms

• 40 mental health beds

• 4 cardiac catheter laboratories

• 3 angiography rooms

• 1 burns operating room

• 1 obstetric operating room

• on-site community health precinct

Construction of the $61.4 million Research and Education 
Building has started and is expected to be completed in 2008. 
Researchers, the University of Sydney’s Northern Clinical School, 
the Sydney Simulation Centre and other related research and 
education groups will be co-located, encouraging communication 
and professional development.

The move into this new building in 2008 will ‘unlock’ the heart 
of the RNSH campus, allowing demolition of a collection of 
old and unsuitable buildings and the building of the new 
main clinical block. 

The successful tender for the Public Private Partnership for the 
redevelopment will be awarded in early 2008. Three consortia 
are shortlisted.
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KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS 

• Winter and its associated increase in illness hit the 
community hard. This led to a significant increase in demand 
for hospital services. There was a significant increase in 
the number of emergency and ambulance presentations. 
In particular ED presentations were up by 23% over the 
previous year.

• Staffing shortages and sick leave placed pressure on the 
health service. However, dedication and commitment of all 
staff went some way towards managing these challenges.

FUTURE DIRECTION 

RNSH will seek to consolidate services and continue to improve 
the health of residents within its local area, in NSW and beyond. 
Plans include:

• Maintenance of and access to services throughout the 
construction of the new hospital.

• Good communication to staff, patients and visitors about 
building works, changes to traffic flow, parking and any 
other key issues during this time.

• Provision of adequate campus security during construction.

• The development and implementation of clinical service 
plans and enabling plans consistent with the NSCCH 
Operational Plan and the NSRHS Operational Plan. 

• The continuing improvement in patient care through 
Clinical Redesign projects focusing on continuing Care. 
This involves nurse support and development, appropriate 
and accurate documentation and improved outcomes  
for patients.

• Improved outcomes for elderly patients through clinical 
redesign projects in the area of aged care.

• Complete implementation of NSW Health SMOKE FREE 
policy throughout RNSH by November 30, 2007.

• Improving staff health by ensuring appropriate and safe 
work conditions by better training and identification of risks.

• Encourage a culture of risk management throughout RNSH.

• Go live with the new Electronic Medical Records (eMR link) 
on December 1, 2007.

Ryde Hospital 
Ryde is a metropolitan teaching hospital with acute care services 
including critical care, emergency medicine, maternity, medical, 
surgical, ear, nose and throat, gynaecology, plastics, urology 
and orthopaedic services. Non-acute services include aged care 
rehabilitation, diabetes management, cardiac rehabilitation 
and podiatry. Community health services includes drug and 
alcohol services, mental health, dental health and early 
childhood services and health promotion services.

SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY

RYDE HOSPiTAL  06/07 05/06 04/05 03/04

Beds including  145.0 167.2 172.5 173.9 
bed equivalents

Occupancy rate 72.2% 82.2% 81.6% 84.1%

Non-inpatient  169,282 130,519 150,594 142,802 
occasions of service

Births 81 135 161 372

ED attendances 21,368 19,922 19,999 20,895

Admissions/separations 9,860 10,264 10,803 10,610

Average length of stay  4.0 4.9 4.8 5.0 
(incl Day Only Patients)

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Refurbishment of Emergency Department.

• Refurbishment of Perioperative Unit.

• Ryde Hospital welcomed ‘hospitalists’ to its wards and 
departments. These experienced general practitioners will 
oversee the patient journey and ensure a seamless hospital 
experience for patients particularly those with a number 
of health issues.

Volunteers
Volunteers are an important part of the care we offer our 
patients. In addition to the long established committees 
including the Pink Ladies and the Floral and Voluntary Services 
group there are ‘Meet and Greet’ volunteers, Emergency 
Department volunteers, drivers, companion observers, ward 
grannies and meal assistants. Our volunteers are committed 
and generous men and women who take pride in community 
service. They are the human face of what we do. 

ROYAL NORTH SHORE HOSPITAL LADIES COMMITTEE  
(PINK LADIES)

President  Jeanette Dowda

Hon Secretary  Hope Wheatley

Asst Hon Secretary  June Clark

Hon Treasurer  Margaret Rogers

Asst Hon Treasurer Rosemary Morris
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ROYAL NORTH SHORE HOSPITAL FLORAL AND SERVICES 
VOLUNTARY COMMITTEE 

President  Iris Burgess

Vice President Anne Green

Secretary  Val Burgess

Treasurer  Mr Merv Mills

Asst Treasurer  Anne Green

Raffles  Anne Green

Publicity Convenor Graeme Chambers

RYDE HOSPITAL PINK LADIES

President  Beth Stewart

Vice Presidents  May Peters, Margaret Chapman

Secretary Nancy Woolman

Treasurer Gwen Bonnefin

Fundraising Officer  Joyce Villiers

Fundraising 
Located in the heritage building at the entrance to the campus, 
the Fundraising Department delivers a range of development 
initiatives including gala events, giving programs and auxiliary 
support. This year community and corporate support to the 
hospital totalled $5.7 million. 

The health service received eleven bequests totalling just over 
$2 million. Significant legacies were received from the estate of 
Harold Court (Women and Children’s Health), Mary Debattista 
(Endocrine Research), Katherine Favaloro (Diabetes and 
Leukemia Research) and the estates of Ethel Jean Harris, 
Ronald William Marshall and Meh Tiap Rintoul (Cancer Research).

This year over $330,000 was solicited through direct mail 
enabling the hospital to purchase new medical equipment 
such as an ultrasound machine, monitoring equipment and 
pressure relieving mattresses.

In addition, many chose to donate in lieu of flowers in memory 
of a loved one. This year the hospital received $134,500 in 
memorial gifts.

During the year the following development events were held:

• Donor Lunch at Parliament House hosted by the Shadow 
Minister for Health and local MP the Hon Jillian Skinner

• Parade of wheelchairs provided by local schools and 
community groups through the campus

• Nancy Bird-Walton OBE author and aviatrix, spoke at a 
morning tea in a Greenwich home

• Kolling institute of Medical Research celebrated its  
75th Birthday at Parliament House

• Research Awards Ceremony celebrating the recipients 
of research grants and their generous sponsors

• Andrew Olle Media Lecture hosted and televised by 
ABCTV with the Hon Senator Helen Coonan 

• Christmas Cake and Carols for hospital supporters and 
volunteers

In addition the following gala events raised $200,000 for 
hospital departments:

• Birth of PRaMM in the Heritage Ballroom of the Westin 
Hotel for Perinatal Research and Maternal Medicine (PRaMM)

• Mothers Day Lunch at The Tea Room in the Queen 
Victoria Building with special guests Tracey Spicer and 
Melinda Gainsford-Taylor

• Motor Neurone Disease cocktail party on MND Global 
Day at Royal Sydney Yacht Squadron 

• Black Friday Ball at St Patrick’s Seminary Manly in aid of 
the state-wide Trauma Service

RNSH received ongoing support from three auxiliaries which 
fundraise on behalf of the hospital to help purchase medical 
equipment. The Ladies Committee raised $165,580, the Floral 
and Voluntary Services Committee raised $150,850 and the 
Graduate Nurses’ Association raised $5,500.

RNSH is grateful to a number of foundations that fundraise  
to support specific areas. These include the Anaesthesia and 
Pain Management Research Centre, Andrew Olle Memorial 
Foundation, Bowel Cancer and Digestive Research Institute 
Australia, CanSur, Humpty Dumpty Foundation, Lincoln 
Centre, NorthCare, Northern Medical Research Foundation, 
North Shore Heart Research Foundation and the Sydney 
Neuro-Oncology Group. The support received from these 
foundations has enabled the hospital to keep at the forefront 
of medical research and patient care.
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Other Health Services
PaLMS
Pacific Laboratory Medicine Services (PaLMS) is the pathology 
and laboratory medicine service of Northern Sydney Central 
Coast Health. Its mission, to provide a single, fully integrated 
quality pathology service linking all clinical facilities, remains 
at the forefront of its strategic planning. 

The amalgamation of the two formerly separate pathology 
services (PaLMS and Central Coast Area Pathology Services 
[CCAPS]) into a single entity has largely been completed, with 
the newly integrated service choosing to retain the name and 
branding of “PaLMS”. 

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES:

• The success of the amalgamation of CCAPS and PaLMS has 
been a model for other Area Health Services. During the 
last year, the North Coast Area Health Services requested 
that PaLMS assume management of their Northern Rivers 
Pathology Service (NRPS). NRPS is based at Lismore, and 
has laboratories at Tweed and Grafton Hospitals. These 
are now in the process of being integrated as a Regional 
Service within the overall PaLMS organisation.

• The newest PaLMS community pathology collection centre 
at Katherine St Chatswood is now fully operational, and 
complements the collection centres at Dee Why, Neutral 
Bay and Willoughby. This is in addition to existing collection 
facilities at Gosford Hospital, Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Hospital, 
Manly Hospital, Mona Vale Hospital, Royal North Shore 
and North Shore Private Hospitals (St Leonards),  
Ryde Hospital and Wyong Hospital.

• Patient safety initiatives of the NSCCH Clinical Governance 
Unit are being supported. PaLMS key performance indicators 
were used to identify areas for improvement and monitor 
the effectiveness of the interventions. PaLMS is currently 
the Australian pilot site for a Positive Patient Identification 
trial, involving the use of bar-coding to improve the safety 
of patient and pathology specimen identification. 

• Continuing contribution to the improvement of national 
practice of pathology, with a number of PaLMS staff being 
invited to serve on key national policy committees of the 
Royal College of Pathologists of Australasia, the National 
Pathology Accreditation Advisory Council, and various 
specialist professional societies and associations in pathology.

• PaLMS has successfully undergone auditing by NATA to 
upgrade the existing accreditation to the new international 
standard of ISO15189 (AS 4633) for all laboratories on all 
campuses throughout the Northern Sydney Central Coast Area, 
and more recently, for its Northern Rivers Pathology Service 
laboratories. The PaLMS Toxicology Service, a state and 
national reference centre, has also recently been accredited 
and renewed to the Australian Standard of AS4308.

KEY ISSUES

NSW Health has recently announced the further amalgamation 
of pathology services within the state. PaLMS will become 
part of the “Northern Pathology Cluster”, stretching from 
NSCCH to NRPS and the Queensland border.

FUTURE DIRECTION

By working with patients, doctors and the community PaLMS 
continues to pursue its mission of delivering a well regarded 
pathology service throughout Northern Sydney Central Coast 
Health based on its values of quality, professionalism, integrity, 
commitment, service and excellence. 

Public Health Unit
The Northern Sydney Central Coast Public Health Unit (PHU) 
protects and promotes the health of the people living in the 
Area Health Service (AHS), by providing:

• Infectious disease surveillance and control in the 
community setting

• Immunisation services

• Environmental health services

• The public health service component of emergency 
management response 

• The promotion of a population health approach to  
service delivery.

This work is carried out in partnership with other services of 
the AHS such as Health Promotion, Child Health, Infection 
Control, and with external groups such as Divisions of 
General Practice, Local Government, schools, pre-schools  
and aged care facilities. 

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

INFECTIOUS DISEASE NOTIFICATIONS 2006-2007

 HK NB NSR CC AHS

Vector-borne

Barmah Forest virus 0 5 2 22 29

Ross River virus 4 9 3 34 50

Respiratory and other

Legionnaires disease 2 2 4 2 10

Meningococcal infection 2 5 1 7 15

Tuberculosis 17 10 25 10 62

Vaccine-preventable

Pertussis 121 134 109 128 492

Enteric  

Giardiasis 75 142 115 66 398

Blood-borne and sexually transmitted

Chlamydia 200 378 488 568 1634

Hepatitis B 94 52 163 36 345

Hepatitis C 51 74 91 201 417

Syphilis 7 4 8 24 43
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• The PHU received 15 notifications of invasive 
meningococcal disease among residents of the NSCCH. 
Clearance antibiotics were provided to household contacts 
routinely, and in some cases further contact management 
occurred in the community eg child care centres. 
Meningococcal infections are becoming less common  
(18 cases in 2005/06) because of the Meningococcal C 
vaccine uptake in the community.

• Over the year, there were 10 notifications of Legionnaires’ 
disease, 63 tuberculosis, 17 hepatitis A, 532 hepatitis C 
and 1686 notifications of Chlamydia infection. There was 
a salmonella outbreak with 44 notified cases. The PHU 
worked closely with the NSW Food Authority on this 
investigation to identify and close the food retail outlet.

• Among the vaccine preventable diseases, there were 67 cases 
of invasive pneumococcal disease and 472 cases of pertussis 
(883 in 2005/06). There were no notifications of polio, 
tetanus, diphtheria and haemophilus influenzae type B. 
There were two cases of measles – one person developed 
measles after attending an international event in Australia.  
The other person contracted measles while overseas, 
becoming unwell on their return to Sydney. In this case, 
the PHU followed up 268 contacts across nine settings to 
identify susceptible individuals to be offered vaccine or 
immunoglobulin. Nearly all measles cases in NSW arise 
from overseas contact.

• The Cardiovascular Disease (CVD) Risk Factor Survey 
included a phone survey of 2,500 residents in May 2006, 
and clinics in July 2006 for a sample of respondents.  
The first technical report in April 2007 highlighted within 
Area differences in smoking, physical activity and obesity 
rates, often correlating with differences in self report of 
respiratory disease, diabetes and high blood pressure.

• PHU staff contributed to a statewide tobacco blitz in 
September 2006, and over the fiscal year, undertook 
inspections of 1097 retail outlets regarding tobacco 
advertising and 337 premises in relation to compliance 
with the smoke free environments. Visits to 79 retail 
outlets to assess compliance with Sales to Minors 
regulations were carried out with Health Promotion staff. 

• Following Legionnaires’ disease outbreaks in 2006, 
environmental health officers have been working closely 
with local government. Nine of our 13 councils have 
taken part in the joint cooling tower inspection program. 
Three councils have well developed in-house programs, 
and one council has no cooling towers.

• First phase of Lane Cove Tunnel Health Study completed 
prior to its opening in March. This major epidemiological 
study is being collaboratively conducted through the 
Cooperative Research Centre for Asthma and Airways  
and is of international significance. 

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• Immunisation services continue to expand. The Human 
Papilloma Virus (HPV) vaccine was introduced to the school 
vaccination program in April 2007 for female students in 
years 10 to 12 (years 7 to 10 in 2008). The school 
vaccination program also provides hepatitis B and varicella 
vaccines to yr 7. Rotavirus vaccine was announced to 
commence in the childhood schedule from July 2007 
(through GPs). PHU staff collaborate with our AHS local 
councils to provide immunisation clinics that are well 
supported by the community.

• In November 2006, Gosford City Council embarked on 
the process to fluoridate its drinking water supply – works 
were to be completed by spring 2007. Local data show 
Gosford primary schoolchildren have a 30% higher rate of 
tooth decay than Wyong children (Wyong’s water supply 
is fluoridated). There is increasing community support for 
fluoridation – over 80% of randomly surveyed Central 
Coast and NSW residents support the addition of fluoride 
to water supplies.

• The PHU has written components of the AHS Pandemic 
Plan and taken part in Pandemic Influenza emergency 
management exercises – Exercises Cumpston and Paton 
(2006). PHU staff were involved in the June 2007 floods at 
Wyong Emergency Operations Centre, and subsequently 
at the Premiers Flood Recovery Centre at Wyong Council.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• Trial of heatwave project on the Central Coast, as part of 
a broader program addressing how AHS may adapt to 
climate change.

• Following the anticipated NSW Health Immunisation 
Strategy, develop our AHS Immunisation Strategy.  
Include quality improvement project in relation to 
immunisation record management.

• Baseline survey of children’s oral health on the Central Coast 
to assess current tooth decay and dental fluorosis levels.

• Ongoing work in relation to urban development and 
health – how the suburbs and environments we create 
influence people’s choices to be physically active.

• Improving aged care facilities' response to disease 
outbreaks among residents and staff.

• Participate in NSW Health Tobacco Blitz, addressing 
compliance with Smoke Free Environment legislation, 
requiring all public enclosed spaces to be smoke free.

• Collaborate with Local Government and the Department 
of Water and Energy on implementing water saving 
initiatives that are safe from a health perspective.

• Consolidate the epidemiology capacity of the PHU. 
Develop an epidemiological profile of the NSCCH.
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Health Promotion
Health Promotion engages the community in changing 
personal, organisational and social behaviour to prevent ill 
health before it occurs. 

The work of Health Promotion is usually proactive (rather 
than reactive) and is focused on populations, not individuals. 

Investments in projects made by health promotion are 
multiplied by engaging and working closely with key 
organisations to address health issues.

Current projects address tobacco control, falls prevention and 
obesity as well as other chronic disease, injury prevention, 
and emotional and social health issues. 

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

REDUCE OVERWEIGHT AND OBESITY

After three years on the Central Coast, the Q4: Live Outside 
the Box project was implemented with 35% of Northern 
Beaches primary schools. More than 5,000 students were 
challenged to reduce “extra foods” and screen time, and 
increase physical activity. 

INCREASE PHYSICAL ACTIVITY LEVELS

The Target 10,000 project has seen 431 staff from six hospitals 
walk almost 44,000 kilometres (54,842,717 steps) to get 
more physically active.

REDUCE SMOKING LEVELS

Work on preventing teen uptake of smoking by preventing 
retail supplies to minors continues (in conjunction with Public 
Health). NSCCH was the first place in Australia to report teen 
smoking rates of less than 10%. Some locations within our 
Area continue to show relatively high rates of retail sales to 
juveniles and these will be the subject of focused activity.

REDUCE THE MORBIDITY AND MORTALITY ASSOCIATED 
WITH FALLS AMONG OLDER PEOPLE

Healthy Lifestyle and Active Over 50 programs across the Area 
attracted almost 150,000 attendances. Active Over 50 shows 
that older adults will attend physical activity programs at 
fitness centres as well as those based at community venues.

Stay On Your Feet, a falls injury prevention project in Gosford, 
Ryde and Hunter’s Hill, has been funded by NSW Health for  
three years. Initial physical activity initiatives have resulted in  
19 new Tai Chi classes, and 130 people attending a Staying 
Active Expo.

REDUCE HARM ASSOCIATED WITH ALCOHOL 

A new approach to reducing harm associated with alcohol 
has begun. The MISS Manly project (Making It Safe Strategy) 
is a partnership project that will ask women to give licensed 
premises a ‘stilleto’ safety rating.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

TOBACCO CONTROL

Further research related to Smokescreen, examining the 
effects of pre-movie advertising to immunise teenagers 
against smoking portrayal in movies, was published in an 
international journal and attracted world wide publicity in the 
debates about actions to take on this issue.

The Chinese Australian Tobacco and Health Network, of which 
Health Promotion is an active member, won a NSW Health 
Multicultural Communication Award for the Quitting is Hard, 
but… You Can do It resource.

OBESITY

Q4: Live Outside the Box was adopted by NSW Health and 
gained funding in the NSW State Budget for rollout across NSW. 

INJURY PREVENTION

Health Promotion’s and Youthsafe’s SafeClub program, to 
help community sports clubs prevent injuries, has won gold in 
the Training and Education category at the 2006 Australian 
Risk Management Awards.

ALCOHOL AND INJURY

Successful effort by Health Promotion has led to the NSW 
Government, through NSW Health and NSW Police, rolling-
out our Supply Means Supply initiative, which is designed to 
reduce the secondary supply of alcohol to minors.

FUTURE DIRECTION

Health Promotion will focus on obesity, falls prevention and 
tobacco control, as well as alcohol and injury.

In particular,

• Q4: Live Outside the Box will move to other parts of 
Northern Sydney Central Coast.

• Q4: the Coast in Motion, with a focus on physical activity 
in the community, will start on the Central Coast, 
supported by a range of State Government agencies.

• The Quit4Baby project will recruit local pharmacies to help 
reduce smoking rates among pregnant women.

• Northern Sydney Central Coast will move to Phase 4 of a 
totally smoke free health service by the end of 2007.

• Supply Means Supply will be expanded to various 
locations within the Area and across NSW. 

• FunMoves, a fundamental movement skills program,  
will be piloted in Northern Beaches’ long day care centres. 
This will be ahead of NSWHealth’s rollout of the North 
Coast Area Health Service program.
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Mental Health
Northern Sydney Central Coast 
Mental Health (NSCCMH)
NSCCMH is a directorate within the Clinical Operations 
function of Northern Sydney Central Coast Health (NSCCH). 
NSCCMH provides a range of community and inpatient 
mental health services through the age spectrum to the 
communities of NSCCH. NSCCMH employs approximately 
1400 people.

SUMMARY OF MAJOR BUSINESS ACTIVITY

NSCCMH provided services to 18,000 people who reside 
within NSCCH or sought care within NSCCH in the 2006/2007 
financial year. These services were offered through the  
four Comprehensive Mental Health Services (Community and 
Inpatient) at North Shore Ryde, Northern Beaches, Hornsby 
Ku-ring-gai, and Central Coast, and through the Area’s Child 
and Adolescent Mental Health Services, and Macquarie 
Hospital, a specialist psychiatric hospital at North Ryde.

Macquarie Hospital is a mental health facility offering five 
main clinical programs: acute admission (7%), dual diagnosis 
(mental/drug health) (19%), short-term recovery (10%),  
long-term recovery (64%), and day programs (available to  
all patients).

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Successful ACHS accreditation review of all Area Mental 
Health Services 

• Completion of Service Redesign Project on aligning and 
standardising community mental health services to best 
available evidence. Action plan completed and in progress.

• Recruitment to the Professor of Psychiatry, University of 
Sydney, based at RNSH.

• Establishment of the specialist CADE Clinic for Clinical 
Assessment and Diagnostic Evaluation of mood and 
anxiety disorders at RNSH. This is a specialised clinic that 
affords the opportunity for sophisticated electrophysiological 
and neuroimaging research in relation to mood disorders. 
A number of key research findings have been featured 
recently in TIME magazine.

• The University of Sydney and NSCCMH are now the 
‘editorial home’ to the International Journal Acta 
Neuropsychiatrica and Australasian Psychiatry. 

• Provision of services during Central Coast disaster in  
June 2007.

• Participation in the Clinical Excellence Commission's 
Clinical Leadership Program with 20 staff entering the 
Program to further develop their leadership skills.

• Macquarie Hospital Occupational Health and Safety 
Numerical Profile of 91.1%, third highest score in NSW.

NEW SERVICES

• Wyong Psychiatric Emergency Care Unit planned to open 
in late 2007. 

• Mental Health Intensive Care Unit planned to open in  
late 2007. 

• Hornsby Hospital Psychiatric Care Unit opened in 
November 2006.

• Planning underway for a new mental health unit on the 
Gosford Hospital site.

• HASI (Housing and Accommodation Support Initiative):  
14 packages to Macquarie Hospital patients allowing 
those people to live in the general community.

ENHANCEMENTS OF CLINICAL SERVICES

• The capacity of adult mental health services to provide 
support for parents and children has been enhanced with 
COPMI (Children of Parents with Mental Illness) workers 
being appointed in Child and Adolescent Mental Health 
Services at Hornsby and Lower Northern Sydney. This extends 
the successful use of COPMI staff on the Central Coast.

• Community Mental Health Aged Care Team – enhanced 
funding of 2.5 staff.

• Emergency Department Mental Health Services in all 
sector services.

• Improved after hours medical coverage.

• Appointment of Aboriginal Mental Health worker in 2006.

• Appointment of Aboriginal mental health trainee in  
2007 as part of the Aboriginal Mental Health Workforce 
Development Program to increase education, recruitment 
and retention of aboriginal people in mental health.

• Introduction of Vocational, Education, Training and 
Employment services across NSCCMH.

• Housing Accommodation Support Initiative (HASI)  
110 community HASI packages implemented successfully 
across the Area.

SERVICE PARTNERSHIPS

• North Shore Ryde Mental Health Services has established 
an active partnership with five local Rotary Clubs; Lindfield, 
Chatswood, Sunrise, Northbridge and Chatswood.  
This partnership has sponsored three Community Public 
Forums on Mental Health. Over 300 again attended the 
forum in February 2007 on Bipolar Disorders. Professor 
Gin Malhi of The Department of Psychological Medicine, 
Northern Clinical School was the key note speaker.  
A carer and consumer also spoke of their individual 
journeys around this illness and a panel of experts was on 
hand to answer questions. Evaluation reflected 97% 
found the forum excellent and would attend another.

• Improved partnerships with Police, Ambulance, 
Emergency Departments, GPs, Multicultural agencies.
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• The North Shore Ryde Mental Health Service partnership 
with NGO New Horizons in the implementation of the 
“Personal Helper and Mentor Program”.

• 2006/7 completion of the “Duellers Program”, a group 
based treatment program for consumers with co-morbid 
mental health and substance use disorders. 

• The Macquarie Hospital weight management project of 
2005 extended into the Mind Body Life Project in 2006/2007, 
which resulted in a further 16.6% increase in the number 
of patients within the normal weight band to 2005: 
12.1% decrease in obesity and 4.5% decrease in 
underweight patients.

• 97% of carers satisfied with the way their relative is 
treated at Macquarie Hospital (survey 2007).

• FUDGES Project: Follow-up Discharge General Enquiry 
Support, a project by the Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Mental 
Health Consumers, nominated for NSW Health Awards.

NSCCMH IS A NSW HEALTH PILOT SITE FOR THE FOLLOWING 
PROJECTS:

• Northern Beaches and Central Coast pilot project with 
Justice Health re: Community Forensic MHS for Forensic 
and High Risk civilian clients commenced and will operate 
until June 2008.

• My Health Record (patient held record) has been piloted 
by Ryde Mental Health Team.

• MH-Copes (consumer and carer service evaluation tools).

• Central Coast Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
received $1.4 million to expand its clinical services as part 
of the NSW Youth Mental Health Services Model.  
An integrated Youth Mental Health ‘One Stop Shop” for 
young people 12-24 years is being established in Gosford 
with an outreach model including on line ‘e’-health initiatives. 

CLINICAL PRACTICE IMPROVEMENT (CPI) PROJECTS

• NSCCMH has now completed more than 30 CPI projects. 
These CPI projects have led to a wide range of improvements 
on consumer physical health, patient safety, clinical 
supervision, access to care, the management of medication 
side effects and consumer rights and responsibilities.

COMMUNITY INITIATIVES

• Mental Health – Art Works! Exhibition 2006 on the 
Central Coast with 84 artists exhibiting and 1300 people 
visiting the exhibition during the nine days it was open. 
The exhibition won two awards: Mental Health Matters 
Awards - Mental Health Association; and the Partnership 
in Wellbeing Award – Eli Lily. 

• Mental Health Expo on June 27, 2007 undertaken  
in partnership with Rotary and Probus with 120 people  
in attendance. 

• A major community development campaign with multiple 
stakeholders was conducted on the Central Coast in June 
2007 with the aim of increasing mental health literacy 
and reducing stigma. 

• “Breakaway 4 a Fun Day” – Fun family activities and  
multi talented performers invaded Camp Breakaway to 
change the way we look at mental health and stigma. 
This event was a major success, with approximately  
2500 people attending.

• Lifestyle and relaxation groups offered in community 
centres. 

• Northern Beaches Mental Health Service has an active 
Consumer Participation program. This includes weekly 
outings, advocacy on East Wing mental health inpatient 
(Manly Hospital) and focus groups held with consumers, 
carers, staff and stakeholders regarding the needs of  
the local community.

• In partnership with Speranza: The Manly Mental Health Day.
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Nursing and Midwifery 
Services
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY

NSCCH Nursing and Midwifery is responsible for providing 
professional leadership, clinical governance and educational 
opportunities to support the development and capabilities of 
4,500 nurses and midwives.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Development of the NSCCH Nursing and Midwifery 
Strategic Plan 2006-2008.

• Design and introduction of a contemporary generic 
Nursing Unit Manager position description.

• Development of the Nursing and Midwifery Research and 
Development Strategy.

• Achievement of an additional four Nurse Practitioner positions.

• Revised governance structure for Area wide infection control.

• Development of the Emergency Patient Access strategy 
across the Area Health Service.

• Reviewed Trainee Enrolled Nurse course clinical assessments 
in preparation for the new course requirements leading 
from the Health Training package.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• Professional development program including a short 
course planned and implemented for all Nursing Unit 
Managers across the AHS.

• Professional development program introduced for 
Directors of Nursing including master classes.

• Continued participation in the International Research 
Collaborative – REACH.

• Area-wide event held for International Nurses Day with the 
highlight being the acknowledgment of nurse achievements 
with the inaugural NSCCH Annual Nursing Awards. 

• Redesign of the recruitment process for new graduate 
Registered Nurses in preparation for recruitment for 2008 
positions, following the cessation of the NSW New 
Graduate Nurses Consortium.

• Workshops held to develop the Performance Improvement 
Plan for emergency patient access.

FUTURE DIRECTION

Nursing and Midwifery services will continue to provide 
professional leadership, clinical governance and educational 
opportunities as the Area service continues to evolve.

Further explore retention and recruitment strategies through 
maximising flexibility with rostering, orientation, skill development 
and educational opportunities. Introduction of international 
study tour and conference scholarships along with pursuing 
development of rotational programs with international health 
care providers.

Undertake a review on the provision of Nurse Education within 
NSCCH to ensure skill development meets patient and service needs.

Complete the implementation of the Area wide infection 
prevention and control strategy. 

Aboriginal Health
SUMMARY OF ACTIVITY

NSCCH Aboriginal Health Unit key responsibility is to liaise and 
provide advice on matters relating to improving the health 
and well being of the Aboriginal community. This includes 
representing NSCCH on statewide committees, providing 
leadership and guidance within the organisation, advocating 
for Aboriginal health improvement and the implementation of 
Aboriginal health policies.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Establishment of the Aboriginal Health Advisory Committee.

• Establishment of the Area Aboriginal Mental Health & 
Drug and Alcohol Steering Committee.

• Ongoing provision of chronic care programs to assist 
Aboriginal people to achieve favourable health outcomes 
including NRT cessation especially among expectant mothers.

• Establishment of the Otitis Media (Glue Ear) program and 
exceeding statewide screening targets.

• Commencement of the implementation of the Aboriginal 
Impact Statement. 

KEY ISSUES & EVENTS

• The Aboriginal NAIDOC Week celebrations for July 2006 
held at Gosford Showgrounds included a Health Expo and 
was attended by over 3,000 Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander and other community members.

• Flag raising ceremony at Gosford Hospital.

• Implementation of ‘communication strategy’ to increase 
the awareness of the role, responsibilities and services 
provided by the Aboriginal Health Unit.

• Successfully organised a number of Aboriginal health 
check days which were well attended across Northern 
Sydney and Central Coast areas.

FUTURE DIRECTION

• Development and distribution of Nutrition recipe book to 
encourage Aboriginal people to eat in a healthy manner.

• Evidence-based targeted health promotion awareness 
programs to Aboriginal people with or at risk of 
preventable diseases.

• Fostering and/or establishing key relationships with 
Aboriginal community and organisations through local 
partnership agreements.
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Primary and 
Community Care
Primary and Community Care in NSCCH provides early 
intervention, assessment, acute and post acute care, ongoing 
treatment, monitoring and palliative care services in the 
community.

Services in the division include:

• Acute Post Acute Care

• Aged Care and Rehabilitation Advisory Services

• BreastScreen

• Carer Support

• Child and Family Health Advisory Services

• Child Protection

• Drug and Alcohol

• Families NSW

• HIV and Related Programs

• Multicultural Health

• Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service

• Oral Health

• Violence, Abuse and Neglect Services

• Women’s Health

BUSINESS ACTIVITY

• The Primary and Community Care Area-based services 
provide 723,610 occasions of service.

• Acute Post Acute Care services have grown by 26%.

• BreastScreen completed over 42,000 mammography screens.

• Over 33,000 occasions of interpreter services were 
provided in Northern Sydney.

• Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service provided 284,545 
occasions of service, which was a 1.9% increase.  
The service saw over 7,100 new clients with over 50% 
being over 80 years of age and 908 patients admitted 
over the weekend.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Launch of APAC GP Shared Care program has seen a 
reduction of admissions and presentations to Emergency 
Departments for Central Coast and Northern Beaches.

• A partnership between Westmead Centre for Oral Health, 
Hornsby Hospital and NSCC Oral Health Services has 
established a paediatric dental surgery session at Hornsby 
Hospital which has reduced the waiting time for children 
needing surgery to three weeks and has seen 200 children 
since February 2007.

• Oral Health has extended clinic hours to Saturdays and 
Thursday evenings to provide services for special target groups.

• Pilot program between Horizons Coast Family Services and 
the Department of Community Services and Central Coast 
PANOC services focusing on applying permanency planning 
to support coordination of care for high risk families.

• Health screening coordinated for over 100 newly arrived 
humanitarian entrants, living in Northern Sydney.

• The NSCCH respiratory program in Northern Sydney 
Home Nursing Service enrolled over 389 patients and 
saved approximately 1048 bed days.

• Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service started a clinic at 
Manly targeting the homeless and had 219 presentations.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

• NSCC Oral Health planned and hosted the inaugural NSW 
Public Oral Health Conference in March 2007. The conference 
was such an outstanding success they were asked to host 
the next conference in March 2008.

• Women’s Health Forum on International Women’s Day 2007 
attracted 20 services and more than 150 women on the 
Central Coast.

• Development of a NSCCH Palliative Care Plan.

• Development of a Chronic Care model of care, incorporating 
patient and carer views on the services needed.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS

• NSCCH BreastScreen will be extending the service into the 
Wyong Shire from July 2007.

• Women’s Health Services participating in research 
conducted by School of Public Health and Community 
Medicine of the UNSW and NSW Health evaluating the 
impact on domestic violence screening of women.

• Development of a single point of access for aged care, 
chronic care and Community Health services.

• Improved access to rehabilitation services for patients with 
cardiac and respiratory diseases.

• Improved coordination of care for people with chronic 
illness.
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Affiliated Health Care 
Organisations
Royal Rehabilitation Centre Sydney
227-259 Morrison Rd, Ryde, NSW 2112 
PO Box 6, Ryde NSW 1680 
Telephone: 02 9807 1144  Facsimile: 02 9809 6071 
www.royalrehab.com.au 
Chief Executive Officer: Mr Peter Williamson 
Chairman of the Board: Mr Clive Austin

The Royal Rehabilitation Centre Sydney (ROYAL REHAB) is a 
not for profit, charitable organisation, with an independent 
board of directors.

Royal Rehab offers state-wide specialist inpatient and 
outpatient rehabilitation programs for adults with disabilities 
arising from spinal cord injury, occupational injury, orthopaedic 
injury and illness, traumatic brain injury and neurological loss, 
age related illness and disease, burns and multi-trauma. 

Specialty programs are also offered through community-based 
outreach programs run by the Spinal Outreach Service and the 
Brain Injury Community Rehabilitation Teams. The Home-Based 
Rehabilitation Service and Pulmonary Rehabilitation Service 
provide services to clients in their own homes.

The Centre provides extensive community and residential services 
for people with disabilities through the Extended Care Service 
and the Community Integration Program. 

The Centre is a registered training authority and provides 
accredited courses in allied health and disability and a range 
of professional development activities across Australia.  
The Centre has strong academic and research affiliations  
with the University of Sydney and is a highly regarded 
research and teaching hospital in this regard. 

SUMMARY OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY

Royal Rehab has experienced a decrease in its total bed days, 
but a significant increase in its non in-patient community-based 
services. This change reflects the growing expectation of clients 
for rehabilitation services to be delivered closer to or in their homes 
and Royal Rehab’s increasing ability to meet that expectation. 

Separations YTD  543

Total Bed Days (days episode)  20,156

Acute Average Length of Stay  37

Available Beds  112

NAPOOS  26,789

Same Day Separations  1

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES
Royal Rehab has worked steadily over the course of the year to 
redevelop its services as well as its current site. Due to the age 
and condition of the Centre’s buildings, the Board of Royal Rehab 
took the decision to sell all or part of its current site to enable 
funds to be released to rebuild a new world-class state-of-the-
art Centre on site.

Royal Rehab received concept plan approval in March 2006 
under the new State Significant Planning Policy and is now well 
advanced in its planning processes. A subdivision application 

is being prepared which is expected to be lodged with the 
NSW Department of Planning in October 2007. Work is well 
advanced with architectural designers to develop a concept 
design for the new facility. 

Royal Rehab has worked closely in collaboration with the 
State Government and the Ryde City Council in addressing 
local planning concerns raised through public consultation 
and review processes. There have been significant agreements 
reached including the dedication of a substantial portion of 
area of land that Royal Rehab will dedicate to the community 
for its use as part of its redevelopment.

Royal Rehab has also recently completed the implementation 
of a new directorate structure, with the creation of four 
directorates that allow for a greater focus on client centred care:
• Rehabilitation Directorate
• Disability Directorate
• Business Directorate
• Marketing and Business Development Directorate. 

The new service model will enable the Centre to be more 
flexible and responsive to changes in the operating environment, 
the needs of clients and stakeholders, and provide for the 
future viability of the Centre. 

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS
Royal Rehab has had a significant engagement with the local 
community over concerns held by some residents in regard to 
the redevelopment. The Centre is also working closely with 
residents, family members and advocates of the Weemala 
Extended Care Service regarding the need to close the Weemala 
building and provide alternative accommodation for the residents 
both on-site and within the broader community. Royal Rehab 
remains committed to providing ongoing services to the 
residents of Weemala and expanding services to new clients 
in need of slow to recover and extended care programs.

Recently, Northern Sydney Central Coast Health (NSCCH) 
transferred the Aged Care Outpatient Service from Royal Rehab 
to Ryde Hospital in Eastwood. The Dixson Aged Care Inpatient 
Unit currently remains at Royal Rehab.

Royal Rehab achieved Registered Training Authority accreditation 
that enables the Centre to run Certificate III courses in aged care, 
disability and for allied health assistants. It is working on the 
development of a Certificate IV Allied Health Assistant course. 

FUTURE DIRECTION
Royal Rehab expects to commence building the new 
rehabilitation facility in the early months of 2008 with minimal 
disruption to clients and no reduction in the services provided. 
The new development will be part of the overall transformation 
of the Centre as it works towards greater team based approaches 
to the provision of rehabilitation, decentralising its activities 
and increasing its community based services and programs in 
communities of need, research and training services. 

There are five key priority areas that Royal Rehab will focus 
on in the next financial year to assist in achieving these goals:
• maintaining our current level of service
• developing new services, particularly in regional and rural areas
• improving our organisational structure and infrastructure 
• understanding and responding to the needs of our clients 

and stakeholders
• research and education. 
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Hope Healthcare
Pallister House 
97-115 River Road, Greenwich 2065 
(PO Box 5084) 
Greenwich NSW 2065 
Telephone 9903 8201  Facsimile 9437 4829 
www.hopehealthcare.com.au 
Chief Executive Officer: Mark Newton

Hope Healthcare is an Affiliated Health Organisation.  
Our main facilities are Recognised Health Establishments, 
listed in Schedule 3 of the Health Services Act 1997 and 
operate as part of the public health care system.

Our four core service specialities are Palliative Care,  
Aged Care and Rehabilitation, Aged Care Psychiatry, and 
Community and Aged Services 

The health and community services provided by Hope 
Healthcare to the community covered by Northern Sydney 
Central Coast Health include those operating from:

• Greenwich Hospital

• Neringah Hospital

• Graythwaite Nursing Home

• Northern Beaches Palliative Care Service

• Community and Aged Services, based at Greenwich

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

Refocus the Palliative Care service offered from Greenwich, 
Neringah and Northern Beaches, towards a more relevant, 
modern, multidisciplinary, holistic, high quality specialist 
approach with the general practitioner as a fulcrum of care.

This has been achieved thus far with initiatives including; a 
planning day, planning with NSCCH, development of  
in-reach nursing pilot services at Manly, Mona Vale, Ryde and 
Hornsby Hospitals, improved links with local communities, 
benchmarking of consumer satisfaction surveys, development 
of specialist library resources and fostering of research.

In aged rehabilitation services offered from Greenwich, 
improved the patient care environment with building work in 
the inpatient and day hospital areas. Developed a comprehensive 
outpatient service incorporating a day hospital and home 
base rehabilitation service.

In the Riverglen unit at Greenwich, enhanced a safer 
environment with modifications to bathrooms, installed new 
electric operated beds and implemented a falls prevention 
program. New furniture for the patient living and dining area 
improved the aesthetic appearance and lightweight design 
reduced injury risk to patients.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

The Woonona Cottage carer respite service at Wahroonga 
was opened November 9, 2005, providing a safe secure 
home-like environment for up to two nights for people with 
dementia and for frail aged people.

Opening on May 3, 2006 of a medical clinic at the Northern 
Beaches Palliative Care Service Cottage providing an 
alternative to home visits, and the Cottage garden retreat.

Retirement of Visiting Medical Officer Dr Anthony Collins 
after 39 years of dedicated service including a key role in 
establishing geriatric rehabilitation at Greenwich.

FUTURE DIRECTION

Formalise in-reach palliative care nursing services at Manly, 
Mona Vale, Ryde and Hornsby hospitals.

Open Palliative Care day hospitals at the Northern Beaches, 
Greenwich and Neringah. Open single bedded palliative care 
wards at Greenwich Hospital.

Opening of the rehabilitation day hospital program at 
Greenwich Hospital.

Greenwich Hospital
97-115 River Road, Greenwich NSW 2065 
(PO Box 5084) 
Telephone 9903 8333  Facsimile 9437 4829

Greenwich Hospital provides a range of palliative care 
services, rehabilitation services, respite care and aged care 
mental health services to residents of Northern Sydney.

Palliative care services are provided on an in/outpatient basis 
to residents of Mosman, Willoughby, North Sydney, Lane Cove, 
Ryde and Hunters Hill. Inpatient services are also provided to 
Manly residents.

The community palliative care service provides continuity of 
care and works with hospitals to provide consultations and 
liaison with specialists and the Sydney Home Nursing Service.

Rehabilitation services operate in close association with the 
Aged Care and Rehabilitation Services of Royal North Shore 
Hospital (RNSH) and Community Health Services.  
Multi-disciplinary care is provided on an in/outpatient basis.

Local medical officers, Greenwich Hospital, RNSH Department 
of Aged Care and Rehabilitation, Home Based Rehabilitation 
and other hospitals, refer patients to the day therapy. 

The Home Based Rehabilitation unit’s referral base includes 
Sydney, Ryde, St Vincent’s, Manly and Mona Vale hospitals  
as well as Greenwich and RNSH.

Mental health care for older people is provided at the 
Riverglen Unit to communities within the Area. Riverglen is an 
acute psychogeriatric assessment facility, with a number of 
gazetted beds.

Separations YTD  855

Total Bed Days (days episode)  22,020

Acute Average Length of Stay  26

Available Beds  67

NAPOOS  26,267

Same Day Separations  54
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Neringah Hospital
4-12 Neringah Avenue South, Wahroonga 2076 
(PO Box 42, Wahroonga NSW 2076) 
Telephone 9488 2200 
Facsimile 9488 2247

Neringah Hospital provides in/outpatient palliative care services 
to the community of Northern Sydney, particularly those residing 
within the Hornsby and Ku-ring-gai local government areas. 
Inpatient palliative care services are also provided to residents 
of Manly, Pittwater and Warringah. Referrals are accepted for 
clients from other geographical areas who are receiving 
radiotherapy treatment within Northern Sydney, and for clients 
from other areas where suitable services are not available.

Neringah Hospital provides specialist services by supporting 
the local General Practitioners who are the main link in the 
chain of community care.

Patients are managed at home and are supported by a multi-
disciplinary team including occupational and physiotherapists, 
chaplains, volunteers and social workers. If more acute 
symptom management or support is required, admission to 
the inpatient unit is available.

Separations YTD  305

Total Bed Days (days episode)  3,575

Acute Average Length of Stay  12

Available Beds  19

NAPOOS  4,184

Same Day Separations  13

Graythwaite Nursing Home
10 Edward Street North Sydney 2060 
(Mail to PO Box 5084, Greenwich NSW 2065) 
Telephone 9955 1115 
Facsimile 9922 7362

Graythwaite is a 28 bed Adjusted Fee Residential Aged Care 
Facility, owned by NSW Health and managed by Hope 
Healthcare. 

Graythwaite provides residential care and limited respite care. 
It works in conjunction with the RNSH Aged Care & 
Rehabilitation Medicine Department and receives referrals 
from the NHIRS section of that department for placement of 
residents from the local government areas of North Sydney, 
Mosman, Willoughby and Lane Cove.

Northern Beaches Palliative Care 
Service
The Cottage 
Coronation Street, Mona Vale 2103 
(Mail to PO Box 81, Mona Vale NSW 2103) 
Telephone 9998 0222 
Facsimile 9979 7221

Northern Beaches Palliative Care Service (NBPSC) has an  
inter-disciplinary team working in consultation with general 
practitioners and Northern Sydney Home Nursing Service 
(NSHNS) and cares for those who live in Manly, Warringah, 
and Pittwater.

Refurbishment of the Cottage and provision of new garden 
areas has improved the amenity for patients and their families 
when they meet with our palliative care team or participate in 
support group activities.

 2006/07 2005/06 2004/05 2003/04

Non-inpatient  6,564 9,121 6,496 5,715 
occasions of service
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Community and  
Aged Services
Community and Aged Services provide a range of services 
delivered in the home or in day centres. This means continuity 
of care in the form of assistance and flexible support for the 
frail aged, younger people with disabilities and their carers.

The range of community programs includes:

COMPACK Program
Case management is provided to support clients with complex 
needs discharged from hospital to home, designed to reduce 
the length of stay in acute care. In 2005-06 we exceeded 
targets for Compack service provision and delivered this 
outcome within budget.

Dementia Respite programs
Flexible Carers Respite Solutions and In Home Respite Support 
is available for carers of people with dementia who reside in 
the lower North Shore area. The programs provide respite, 
education and music therapy to assist the caregiver burden.

Greenwich Day Centre
Based on the Greenwich Hospital campus, Greenwich Day 
Centre provides a social setting for frail aged people who have 
difficulty becoming involved in other community activities.

Lower North Shore Community 
Options
Through this program, individual case management is 
provided to support and coordinate services for people with 
complex health needs who reside in the local government 
areas of North Sydney, Mosman, Lane Cove and Willoughby.

Tom O’Neill Centre 
10 Edward Street, North Sydney 2060 
(Mail to PO Box 5084, Greenwich NSW 2065) 
Telephone 9957 3224   
Facsimile 9954 4621

This is a dementia specific day centre service to support both 
people with dementia and their carers. The program operates 
Monday to Saturday and provides a social model of care.

Transpac
This program is offered in partnership with NSCCH and is 
available for residents of the Hunters Hill, Lane Cove, 
Mosman, North Sydney, Ryde and Willoughby areas. It gives 
older patients discharged from hospital time-limited 
community service and rehabilitation support.

Woonona Cottage
3 Woonona Avenue, Wahroonga NSW 2076 
Telephone 9488 2288

Funded under the Department of Health and Ageing for the 
National Respite for Carers Program, Woonona Cottage 
provides accommodation for one to two nights for people with 
dementia and for frail aged people, and thereby an important 
respite break for their carers. The Cottage, a six-bedroom home, 
provides respite for carers from across Northern Sydney.

health services continued
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Financial Services
Financial Services Division provides financial management 
information and accounting services for the Area Health Service.  
The service includes accounts payable, treasury and investment, 
taxation, salary packaging and general ledger functions.  Analysis 
and reporting of performance is represented through the work of 
the budgeting and reporting functions.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

During 2006/07 Finance was able to meet the requirements of the 
Department of Health in providing timely and accurate financial 
forecasts and reports.  Following the implementation of the single 
Oracle financial system and new chart of accounts in May 2006, 
standardisation of procedures across the area was further 
developed in 2006/07.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

The Health Information Exchange (HIE) was expanded following 
the Oracle implementation and now provides a common platform 
to deliver financial information and reports to cost centre 
managers.

FUTURE DIRECTION

The introduction of shared services for Finance is now planned to 
start 1 October 2008. It had previously been planned to 
commence 1 July 2008.  This will involve Purchasing, Accounts 
Payable and some Financial Accounting functions.

Information 
Management and 
Technology
The 2006/2007 financial year has seen Information Management 
and Technology (IM&T) continue to provide solutions to improve 
patient outcomes at the point of care.

IM&T is undergoing a restructure to position itself to meet the 
changing and challenging needs of the frontline staff we serve. 
Libraries and Health Information Services (HIS) across NSCCH 
moved to IM&T. Libraries have joined the Knowledge 
Management portfolio, enabling IM&T to leverage technology 
to provide evidence-based practice information resources at 
the point of care.

HIS will undergo significant work practice change with the 
implementation of the eMR. By moving to IM&T, HIS is well 
placed to meet the challenges and opportunities that the 
electronic medical record will bring.

The priority project and initiative of IM&T during 2006/2007 
was the eMR Link project which is a statewide program to 
implement a state-based built electronic medical record.  
With a planned go live in September 2007, the Area looks 
forward to bedding down a new Patient Administration system. 
This system is one of the building blocks for the next phases 
of the eMR. 

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Ensure the efficient and effective delivery of all information 
management and technology (IM&T) services across NSCCH.

• Implementation of key clinical and corporate systems that 
enhance the delivery of quality and safe patient care.

• Development of appropriate information management 
and technology policies for NSCCH.

• Development of an IM&T organisational structure that 
assists in the delivery of clinical services across NSCCH with 
transition of all facility based Medical Records Departments, 
Clinical Information Services and Libraries into an Area 
based service managed within Information Management 
and Technology

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

The eMR Link project and the synergies with HealthTechnology 
has created the need for a new environment in which all 
AHS’s would be compatible. This has spurned the Microsoft 
Active Directory (MS AD) and requirement for the large scale 
introduction of Citrix thin client architecture. This has been 
achieved at Central Coast Health in line with the eMR Link 
project timelines and will be used as the model for a similar 
rollout across the Northern Sydney sector over the coming 
months for further implementation of the project.

IM&T has also completed work to improve the NSCCH 
intranet and internet and continues to provide web services 
to business units throughout the organisation.

The Health Information Exchange has been merged and 
significant upgrades have occurred to provide more accurate 
information and reporting services to support decision-making 
across NSCCH.

IM&T commenced producing a monthly electronic newsletter in 
January called “IT MATTERS”. The newsletter is complemented 
by monthly Clinical Informatics seminars.

FUTURE  DIRECTION

2007/2008 will see the launch of some exciting new technologies 
which will be adapted to meet our business needs, for example, 
Sharepoint, Remote Access for Clinicians and iPhones. 

IM&T will continue to work hard to support NSCCH staff on 
the frontline through the provision of information systems 
and technology that assists them to provide quality and safe 
patient care.

health support services
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Corporate 
Communications
The Corporate Communications unit is responsible for Ministerial 
liaison, media and issues management, public relations, 
communications, fundraising and donations, design and print 
management, and supporting community groups such as 
volunteers and auxiliaries.

The Unit provides advice and support to departments and 
executive staff in areas such as communication, media, 
marketing and promotion, functions and events.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Continued amalgamation of corporate communication 
services across NSCCH.

• Refined and improved Area-wide and Health Service 
based newsletters and staff forums.

• Focused communication on key activities supporting the 
Area strategic direction.

• Developed strong working relationships within the team 
and with external stakeholders.

• Continued implementation of new design and print 
guidelines targeted at reducing associated costs.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

Communication support was provided for a range of projects 
associated with service redesign and amalgamation, including 
the Area Maternity Services Review and recognition of staff 
length of service.

Key events and functions during the year included the official 
opening of the new Operating Theatres, Paediatrics and 
Emergency building at Hornsby Hospital, welcoming the new 
“hospitalists” to Ryde Hospital, the official opening of new 
Surgical Admission Centres and new Paediatric facilities on 
the Central Coast, the announcement of additional renal 
dialysis chairs for the Northern Beaches, and progress with 
the major redevelopment at Royal North Shore Hospital.

FUTURE DIRECTION

Corporate Communication is looking towards completing a 
restructure which will see it consolidate its operations into an 
Area-wide service.

Internal Audit
The role of the Internal Audit Unit is to provide assurance to 
the Chief Executive, Audit Committee and the managers of 
NSCCH on the effectiveness of the control environment in 
managing the risks associated with service provision.  

The scope of the unit covers financial, operational and clinical 
systems as well as providing feedback on the robustness of 
the governance systems in place across the Health Service.  
In addition to performing planned internal audit assignments 
the unit also undertakes special projects. The unit was involved 
in performing 21 special projects over the last year.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

• Recruitment of two Senior Auditors to the unit

• Expansion of working relationships across the Area.

• The amalgamation of work practices across the unit.   

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

Internal Audit underwent a Quality Assurance review by the 
Department of Health. The review assessed the unit’s conformity 
with the Institute of Internal Auditors Standards for the 
Professional Practice of Internal Auditing and also evaluated 
the effectiveness of the Unit in carrying out its mission as set 
down in its Charter.  

The Unit scored in excess of 90% conformity and the survey 
of stakeholders indicated that Internal Audit has a good 
reputation and is rated highly by Health Service management.  

Representatives of Internal Audit attended and presented at 
NSW Health Audit Conferences and Working Parties.

FUTURE DIRECTION

Internal Audit remains focused on improving the control 
environment across the Health Service; raising awareness of 
Internal Audit’s role across the Area in implementing 
corruption prevention programs and strategies. Within the 
unit itself we will continue to focus on recruitment to ensure 
full staffing and continued progress with standardising 
methodologies
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workforce Development 
Directorate
The Workforce Development Directorate has strategic 
responsibility for NSCCH workforce preparedness and planning; 
human resource services, programs and policies; employee 
relations; workplace health and safety management; workers 
compensation, organisational learning and development. 
Workforce recruitment, appointments and retention strategies 
for all staff and medical and dental contractors are the 
responsibility of the directorate. 

workforce Development 
and Redesign 
Workforce Development and Redesign provides a strategic 
role through the analysis and evaluation of workforce 
information and the development and implementation of 
workforce related projects.

During 2006/07, Workforce Development and Redesign led or 
participated in over six major projects covering a wide range 
of workforce planning strategies or issues and provided the 
executive with strategic advice, direction and analysis of the 
issues related to the NSCCH Workforce.  

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

A major workforce project resulted in the mapping of all 
NSCCH paid employees using the Premier's workforce profile 
methodology. This has enabled NSCCH to understand the role 
and function of employees and in doing so delineate frontline 
staff from the support workforce.

The NSW Health Code of Conduct was implemented across 
NSCCH this year and continues to be monitored for compliance.

A major review of the Area Senior Medical Staffing Unit 
(ASMSU) was undertaken. This has led to improvements in 
the management of TESL, medical appointments and human 
resource processes for senior medical staff.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

As part of the implementation of the new allied health structure 
within the Area Health Service the Director of Allied Health 
and two Senior Allied Health Advisor positions were appointed. 

In January 2007 the Clinical Excellence Commission (CEC) 
leadership statewide program commenced. This eleven month 
program focuses on building capacity in our clinical leaders 
and enabling system improvements and patient safety initiatives. 
NSCCH has supported 40 participants from across the 
organisation, including 20 participants from Mental Health, 
10 from Wyong Hospital and 10 from Primary and 
Community Health.

FUTURE DIRECTION

A significant project with a focus on allied health staff 
recruitment and retention survey will be conducted in 2007/08 
to allow profiling of the allied health workforce in relation to 
recruitment and retention issues. Analysis of the survey data 
will help inform future workforce decision-making.

An analysis of current allied health information management 
systems and use of data will provide baseline information. 
This will be used to improve allied health data collection and 
reporting which will assist in informing service and workforce 
planning and resource allocation.

The project will include the identification and implementation 
of appropriate allied health workforce redesign initiatives, for 
example primary contact physiotherapy within the Emergency 
Department.

In 2007/2008, Workforce will focus on Medical Workforce 
issues with a review of the medical locum usage, medical 
rostering practices and preparation for the Medical Quinquenium 
due in 2009.

The introduction of e-recruitment and vacancy advertising via 
internet will be phased in over the next 12 months. This has 
commenced with the state-wide introduction of on-line 
recruitment processes for JMO appointments in 2008.

A further 11 month CEC leadership program will be offered 
in 2008 to a further 40 potential clinical leaders in Mental 
Health, Royal North Shore/Ryde and Northern Beaches.
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Organisational 
Education and Learning 
The Learning and Development Service (OE&L) plans and 
manages the delivery of education and training for NSCCH 
staff through the delivery of timely and service related 
education programs and events. 

In 2006/07, OE&L delivered or coordinated 166 education 
and training programs on 855 occasions. The number of staff 
who attended sessions was 9,968 and the number of staff 
completing entry level qualifications in a range of nationally 
recognised vocations was 496. 

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

OE&L established formal networks and processes for stakeholder 
engagement to assist in the review of the courses it provides. 
This will ensure the continued delivery of high quality education 
and training that is aligned to NSCCH strategic direction and 
the organisation’s workforce needs. 

OE&L completed a project for the Department of Education 
and Training to develop education and training material for 
the Health Service Support qualification. 

Other significant achievements included the rollout of the 
functionality of the statewide Pathlore Learner Management 
System (LMS). In total, 151 managers and 155 training 
coordinators and administrators attended instruction in 
maintaining training records. 

A new Area orientation and induction process commenced in 
January 2007 and has been streamlined to align with the new 
organisational structure. This work is in progress and continues 
to be reviewed and improved.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

OE&L is undergoing an internal restructure ensuring that 
service delivery continues to be aligned to the organisation’s 
future direction.

OE&L staff have worked with other similar services in NSW 
Health to establish a program for the Vocational Education 
and Training in Schools which will commence in the 2008. 
This is a significant government initiative intended to enhance 
recruitment into health careers. 

The OE&L is now an Authorised Provider of Endorsed 
Conferences and Courses (APEC) with the Royal College of 
Nursing, Australia, enabling established education and training 
provided in NSCCH to attract continuing education points. 

The International Practice Development School was held on 
the Gosford campus in March 2007 with 51 participants from 
Australia and overseas. The School was successful in attracting 
wide representation from allied health, nursing and midwifery. 

FUTURE DIRECTION 

This service will remain integral to the development of staff 
employed by NSCCH and continue to network collaboratively 
across the organisation to build individual and organisational 
capability. The goal is to provide facilitated learning and 
development that is relevant, timely and responsive to the 
identified need. 

In 2008 OE&L will, through consultation, develop an education 
and training plan for NSCCH staff that aligns career and education 
pathways; establishes a set of integrated programs and will 
appoint staff to key positions who will work closely with allied 
health, medicine, nursing and non-clinical, linking with existing 
education and training expertise within those professions.
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Executive 
Responsibilities
Chief Executive
Dr Stephen Christley (1.1.2005 to 21.7.2007)

The Chief Executive of Northern Sydney Central Coast Health 
is responsible for corporate governance in the following areas:

• Ethical conduct

• General governance and oversight

• Financial management

• Health services delivery

• Clinical governance

• Strategic planning

• Risk management

• Health service councils and committees

Matthew Daly commenced 24.9.2007

Director of Workforce 
Development 
Adjunct Professor Jenny Becker

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Workforce planning and leadership development

2. Development and implementation of an Area workforce 
strategy including workforce redesign

3. Workforce culture and alignment of organisational values

4. Area clinical workforce service plans

5. Management and use of workforce data

6. Aboriginal health participation

7. Human resource management and industrial relations

8. Management and monitoring of the occupational health 
and safety of the workforce 

9. Implementation of a leadership strategy

10. Lead organisational learning and development practice 
within the Area.

11. Senior medical staffing unit and quinquennium planning

Director of Clinical Governance
Dr Philip Hoyle

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Support and promote implementation of the NSW  
Patient Safety & Clinical Quality Plan

2. Participate in establishment of new management 
structure as part of integration of NSAHS/CCH.

3. Participate in development of a clinical services plan for 
NSCCH facilities.

4. Meet agreed budget targets.

5. Review current activity targets and set achievable targets.

6. Participate in Sustainable Access Program

7. Establish Quality and Improvement Committee

8. Commence Integrated Risk Management program

Director Population Health, 
Planning & Performance
Dr Paul Douglas

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Strategic and business planning

2. Clinical services planning

3. Health protection

4. Health promotion

5. Consumer and community participation

6. Royal North Shore Hospital and Community Health 
Services Redevelopment

7. Northern Beaches Redevelopment Project

8. Support to and liaison with the Area Health Advisory Council

9. Performance monitoring

10. Service agreements

11. Casemix/costing/commissioning

12. Service redesign (clinical redesign and sustainable excellence)

13. Health technology evaluation

Director of Finance
Graeme Harding (1.9.2005 to 31.8.2007)

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Development of sound policy, procedure and practices for 
the financial management of the organisation

2. Area’s budget and budget performance

3. Develop, initiate, implement and improve financial strategies

4. Liaise with external and internal audit

5. Manage the special purpose and trust funds

6. Oversee and manage pathology services

Wendy Hughes commenced 17.12.2007 as 
Director Finance & Corporate Services

our people
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Director of Clinical Operations
Phillipa Blakey

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1 Management of the Area’s clinical services.

2 Development and support of clinical networks.

3 Effective operation of the Area’s hospitals and Community 
Health Services.

4 Implementation of systems to ensure operational and 
financial accountability through clinician and management 
partnership.

5 Redesign and improvement of systems and processes so 
as to enhance access to clinical services.

6 Provision of CALD/Aboriginal Health Services.

7 Implementation of systems and processes to facilitate 
interdisciplinary teamwork and decision-making, as close 
to patient care as possible.

Director of Nursing & Midwifery 
Kylie Ward (Acting)

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Responsible for the delivery of quality nursing and midwifery 
services that meet the professional practice standards.

2. Responsibility, authority and accountability for ensuring 
the provision of the appropriate clinical and educational 
systems of learning, practice and the professional 
development of nurses and midwives.

3. Management of clinical nursing research.

4. Development, implementation and promotion of 
additional Nurse Practitioner positions.

5. Oversight and improvement of patient care processes 
within the Area, particularly with regard to patient flow. 

Chief information Officer
Joe Abraham

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1.  Ensure the efficient and effective delivery of all information 
management and technology (IM&T) services across NSCCH.

2.  Implementation of key clinical and corporate systems that 
enhance the delivery of quality and safe patient care.

3.  Development of appropriate information management 
and technology policies for NSCCH.

4.  Development of an IM&T organisational structure that 
assists in the delivery of clinical services across NSCCH.

5.  Delivery of systems to enable NSCCH to develop an 
electronic medical record.

6.  Transition of all facility-based Medical Records 
Departments, Clinical Information Services and Libraries 
into an Area-based service managed within Information 
Management and Technology.

Director of Corporate and  
Clinical Support
Greg Chase

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Provide effective leadership and strategic direction to 
ensure the efficient and effective delivery of non-clinical 
support services and Area clinical support business units.

2. Manage the migration of non-clinical support services to 
NSW Health Shared Corporate Services program.

3. Implementation and maintenance of a quality business 
management system that meets the requirements of  
ISO 9001:2000 certification for the Corporate & Clinical 
Support Division.

4. Develop and maintain the Asset Strategic Plan and the 
planning and procurement of capital projects less that 
$10m in a timely, comprehensive and efficient manner.

Director of Corporate 
Communications
Elizabeth Ambler

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Provide strategic leadership and direction to the 
Corporate Communications Unit, enabling the provision 
of high quality media, public relations, communications, 
publications, internet/intranet and graphic design services.

2. Ensure a single point of accountability for issues 
management, including ministerial and parliamentary 
briefings, communications, and media.

3. Development and implementation of effective 
communication strategies.

Director Area Mental Health 
Dr Nick O’Connor MBBS, MMed, MHA FRANZCP FRACMA

KEY ACCOUNTABILITIES

1. Develop and implement an Area Mental Health  
Service Plan.

2. Direct, oversee and evaluate the delivery of comprehensive 
mental health services to the communities served by 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Health.

3. Ensure effective systems for safety, clinical governance 
and improvement of services.

4. Manage the Area Mental Health Services budget and 
resources effectively.

5. Promote a skilled and valued workforce and a learning 
organisation culture.

our people continued
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our people continued

Staff Profile
Number of Full Time Equivalent Staff (FTE) Employed as at June 2007
NORTHERN  SYDNEY & CENTRAL COAST JUNE 03 JUNE 04 JUNE 05 JUNE 06 JUNE 07

Medical 913   960   1,010   1,083 1,128

Nursing  4,447   4,691   4,880   4,984 5,164

Allied Health  967   1,012   1,048   1,059 1,080

Other Prof. & Para professionals 750   719   622   615 622

Oral Health Practitioners & Therapists  87   95   100   102   100

Corporate Services  696   689   607   553  506

Scientific & technical clinical support staff 642   660   784   790 804

Hotel Services 786   763   806   752 787

Maintenance & Trades 156   160   145   150 140

Hospital Support Workers  1,269   1,386   1,482   1,468  1,578

Other  69   76   76   68  72

Total  10,782   11,211   11,560   11,624  11,981

Medical, Nursing & Allied Health, other health professionals 66.4 66.7 66.3 67.5 67.6 
& oral health practitioners as a proportion of all staff

SOURCE: Health Information Exchange & Health Service local data

NOTES:

1.  FTE calculated as the average for the month of June, paid productive and paid unproductive hours.

2.  As at March 2006, the employment entity of NSW Health Service staff transferred from the respective Health Service to the State of 
NSW (the Crown). Third Schedule Facilities have not transferred to the Crown and as such are not reported in the Department of 
Health’s Annual Report as employees.

3.  Includes salaried (FTEs) staff employed with ‘Health Services, Ambulance Service of NSW and the NSW Department of Health’.  
All non-salaried staff such as contracted Visiting Medical Officers (VMO) are excluded.

4.  ‘Medical’ is inclusive of Staff Specialists and Junior Medical Officers. ‘Nursing’ is inclusive of Registered Nurses, Enrolled Nurses  
and Midwives. ‘Allied Health’ includes the following; audiologist, pharmacist, social worker, radiographer and podiatrist.  
‘Oral Health Practitioners and Therapists’ includes Dental Assistants/Officers/Therapists/Hygienists. ‘Other Professionals and  
Para-professionals’, which includes health education officers, interpreters etc. ‘Ambulance Clinicians’ include ambulance on road  
staff and ambulance support staff.‘Corporate Services’ includes Hospital Executive, IT, Human Resource and Finance staff etc.  
‘Scientific and technical support workers’ includes hospital scientists and cardiac technicians. ‘Hotel Services’ are inclusive of food 
services, cleaning and security etc. ‘Maintenance and Trades’ is inclusive of Trade Workers, Gardeners and Grounds Management etc.  
‘Hospital Support Workers’ includes ward clerks, public health officers, patient enquiries and other clinical support staff etc.  
‘Other’ is employees not grouped elsewhere.
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Equal Employment Opportunity
Staff Numbers by Employment Basis

 Subgroup as % of  Subgroup as Estimated % of 
 Total Staff in each Catergory Total Staff in each Employment Catergory

       PEOPLE PEOPLE  PEOPLE 
       ABORiGiNAL FROM WHOSE PEOPLE WiTH A 
      PEOPLE & RACiAL, LANGUAGE WiTH DiSABiLiTY 
 EMPLOYMENT TOTAL  RESPONDENTS MEN WOMEN TORRES ETHNO- FiRST SPOKEN A  REQUiRiNG 
 BASiS STAFF    STRAiT  RELiGiOUS AS A CHiLD DiSABiLiTY WORK 
  (number)    iSLANDERS MiNORiTY WAS NOT  RELATED 
       GROUPS ENGLiSH  ADJUSTMENT

Permanent Full-time 7,850 83% 33% 67% 1.1% 12% 18% 3% 0.6%

Permanent Part-time 4,708 81% 12% 88% 0.6% 9% 12% 3% 0.8%

Temporary Full-time 544 82% 26% 74% 1.8% 10% 17% 2% 0.5%

Temporary Part-time 298 95% 12% 88% 2.5% 5% 5% 1% 

Contract – SES         

Contract – Non SES 12  67% 33%     

Training Positions 188 89% 18% 82% 1.2% 5% 11% 1% 

Retained Staff         

Casual 2,308 69% 23% 77% 1.1% 7% 11% 2% 0.6%

TOTAL 15,908 81% 25% 75% 1.0% 10% 15% 3% 0.7%

SUBTOTALS         

Permanent 12,558 82% 25% 75% 0.9% 11% 16% 3% 0.7%

Temporary 842 86% 21% 79% 2.0% 8% 13% 2% 0.3%

Contract 12  67% 33%     

Full-Time 8,394 83% 33% 67% 1.1% 12% 18% 3% 0.6%

Part-Time 5,006 82% 12% 88% 0.7% 9% 11% 3% 0.8%
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Human Resources
The NSCCH Human Resources Directorate has provided support 
to a number of restructuring projects aimed at increasing the 
efficiency of services.

Preparatory work has been done for the transfer of transaction 
services to Healthsupport. The NSCCH payroll service is due to 
transition to Healthsupport in July 2008 and a date is yet to 
be determined for the transfer of recruitment services.

Consultation is underway with staff, Industrial Associations 
and potential private proponents in relation to the public 
Private Partnership at Royal North Shore Hospital.

NSCCH has developed a number of training packages aimed 
at increasing the skill level of our managers in relation to the 
management of grievances, the disciplinary process, performance 
development of staff, management of safety within the 
workplace and familiarising staff with the Human Resource 
Information System (HRIS).

In addition, a number of brochures and information packs 
have been developed to assist managers in understanding 
Award provisions and other employment related matters.

Increasing the skill level of managers will continue to be a 
focus for the Human Resource function going forward.

Senior Medical 
workforce
The senior medical workforce consists of Staff Specialists, 
Clinical Academics, Visiting Medical Officers (VMOs) and 
Honorary Medical Officers appointed by NSCCH following 
review of their credentials and the granting of clinical privileges 
in accordance with the role of health services and facilities.

In order to align the quinquennium appointment cycles of 
VMOs across the now combined Area, VMOs previously 
appointed to the end of June 2007 by the former Northern 
Sydney Area were reappointed to the end of March 2009, 
which is the end of the current appointment period for VMOs 
appointed by the former Central Coast Area.

The implementation of strategies to improve the coordination 
of senior medical workforce and appointment processes across 
the Area continue, with revised by-laws supporting the role of 
the Medical and Dental Appointments Advisory Committee, 
and further development of policies and procedures related to 
recruitment, credentialing and defining scope of practice, and 
the operations of the Area Senior Medical Workforce Unit.

Junior Medical 
workforce
Over the past two years, networked training programs for 
Basic Physician Training, Basic Surgical Training and Psychiatry 
trainees have been implemented across the state and in this 
Area in accordance with NSW Institute of Medical Education 
and Training (IMET) and NSW Health directions.

Planning is currently underway for the commencement in 
January 2008 of networks to support the appointment and 
education of trainees in Paediatrics and Cardiology.  
Other specialist training programs are being considered for 
similar networked structures. In addition, agreement has been 
reached for this year’s recruitment process for trainees in 
several Advanced Physician specialties to be coordinated 
through a joint approach agreed between the Royal Australasian 
College of Physicians and NSW Health.

NSW IMET continues to lead efforts which are supported by 
NSW Health and NSCCH to improve the training opportunities 
and workforce distribution of Prevocational Trainees (Interns in 
their first postgraduate year and Resident Medical Officers in 
their second year).

Planning for training programs and recruitment into the three 
realigned networks that will operate across NSCCH from 
January 2008 is under way. These networks will link Royal North 
Shore Hospital and Ryde with secondments to Port Macquarie; 
Hornsby with Manly and Mona Vale; and Gosford with 
Wyong and Woy Woy.

This year has also seen the introduction of a new medical 
staff category, the Hospitalist. Appointed under the Career 
Medical Officer Award, Hospitalists are medical practitioners 
whose primary focus is to enhance care for patients in a cross 
specialty mode throughout the patient’s healthcare experience. 
The role includes provision of patient care, as well as facilitation 
of the patient’s care pathway or journey across a number of 
departments such as Emergency, wards and the community. 
NSCCH’s initial participation in the Hospitalist Pilot Program 
this year was at Ryde and Hornsby Hospitals, with other sites 
currently being considered.
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Occupational Health 
and Safety
In 2006/2007 NSCCH has focused on consolidating current 
OHS systems across the hospitals and services with a 
particular focus on occupational screening and vaccination 
and manual handling.

The Occupational Staff Health Service has had a major focus 
in providing screening (for specified infectious diseases such 
as measles, whooping cough and hepatitis B) and offering 
vaccination to all employees to implement the NSW Health 
Policy Directive 2007_006. This screening program commenced 
in areas such as maternity, paediatrics and emergency 
departments and is expected to be completed in late 2008.

The OHS Unit conducts major projects each year in order to 
improve the OHS systems in the Health Service. Major projects 
achieved in 2006/2007 are:

• Review and implementation of the OHS Training for 
Managers with a link to competency assessment under 
VETAB requirements.

• Review of training material and content of the OHS 
Consultation course delivered under RTO and VETAB 
requirements.

• Commenced implementation of the electronic database 
for management of hazardous substances.

• Development of bariatric guidelines, which provide the 
clinical staff with advice, tools and equipment options for 
the care of large patients. 

• A focused project by the Manual Handling Taskforce on 
manual handling in medical imaging units.

OHS & Rehabilitation Numerical Profile audits were conducted 
in a few area services with an average score of 68%. 

There were no prosecutions under the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act in 2006/2007.

workers Compensation 
Performance Statement
The Rehabilitation Claims and Insurances Unit focuses on 
workers compensation, rehabilitation and general claims 
management. Early return to work remains a major feature of 
NSCCH’s approach to supporting injured workers and minimising 
costs. During the year the unit revised and improved OHS and 
Workers Compensation reports provided to managers in the 
organisation and developed new improved processes for 
general insurance claims management. The results of the 
psychological injury project conducted in 2005/2006 provided 
valuable feedback on the possible internal and external 
barriers in the return to work process and as a result NSCCH 
has developed return to work tools to help identify and 
overcome these barriers.

The 2007/2008 NSCCH Deposit Premium calculation for 
workers compensation was $20.24M excluding GST. Under 
the Treasury Managed Fund this result provided a surplus of 
$351,617. This is a workers compensation premium rate of 
2% of salary and wages.

Claims performance for 2006/2007 as at 31 March 2007 is 
shown in the tables below.

2006/2007 FUND YEAR PERFORMANCE iNDiCATOR

No. claims/100 FTE  5.08

Cost claims/FTE  $354.80

Data source: NSW Treasury Managed Fund, as at 31 March 2007. 

The tables below express claims for 2006/2007 as a 
percentage of the total by Accident Type and Occupational 
Group.

ACCiDENT TYPE PER CENT

Body Stress 40%

Fall/Slip 18%

Hit by objects 10%

Motor Vehicle  10%

Exposure/Bites 9%

Other 11%

Mental Stress 4%

Data source: Claims Manager database as at June 30 2007.

OCCUPATiON GROUP PER CENT

Nursing 44%

Hotel Services 26%

Medical/Support 15%

General Admin 11%

Maintenance 4%

Lined Services 0%

Data source: Claims Manager database as at June 30 2007.

our people continued
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Other Insurances Risk 
Management
20 claims were made against property insurance for stolen, 
lost or damaged NSCCH property, including storm damage. 
There were 109 claims against public liability insurance.

Aboriginal Employment
In NSCCH 119 employees have identified as having Aboriginal 
or Torres Strait Island origins.

Aboriginal employees hold a variety of mainstream positions 
throughout NSCCH including senior management, allied 
health professionals, medical & nursing, administrative officers 
and trainee positions.

The two Aboriginal nursing cadets who commenced a 
Bachelor of Nursing Degree in 2006 have commenced the 
second year of the nursing program.

Of the three Trainee Enrolled Nurses (TEN) who commenced 
training in September 2006 two are due to graduate in 
October 2007.

NSCCH in partnership with the Aboriginal Community 
Development Employment Program (CDEP) have employed 
two Aboriginal workers in Administrative Officer roles. 

A further trainee Administrative officer commenced March 2007.

A permanent full-time Aboriginal Mental Health worker was 
successfully recruited in February 2007.

Employment of People 
with Disabilities
NSCCH continues to support the employment of people with 
a disability.

There are 352 staff employed with a permanent disability in 
NSCCH. Of the employees with a disability, 75 have required 
some workplace adjustment or role modification to 
accommodate their disability.

The four apprentices with a disability who commenced in 
2006 have commenced their second year of apprenticeship. 
An apprentice with a disability commenced a Painting and 
Decorating apprenticeship at Gosford hospital at the beginning 
2007. A trainee in Certificate 2 Engineering will complete  
the traineeship in August 2007. Two apprentices, a Plumber 
and a Painter completed their four year apprenticeship in 
February 2007.

our people continued
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Official Overseas Travel by Staff
NAME DEPARTMENT PURPOSE COUNTRiES FUNDiNG

Mark Rayner Pathology, PaLMS American Assoc for Clinical Chemistry Conference USA SP&TF

Michael Perdices RNSH, Neurology International Neuropsychological Society Switzerland SP&TF

Frances Henshaw Sessional Podiatris, 
Endocrinology, RNSH

For health professional training in podiatry Kiribati Sponsored

Clifford Stephenson Biomedical Engineering, 
RNSH

Australian Standards Committee – Technical 
Management Program

New Zealand General

Anne Sullivan MACARF, RNSH Heart Failure Society of America Conference USA SP&TF

Dennis Wang Cardiology, RNSH World Congress/European Cardiac Soceity Spain Cardiology 
Clinical Trials

Tracy Robbins Neurophysiology, 
Gosford

ANTA & NZSNT Conference New Zealand SP&TF

Donald Lee Respiratory Medicine, 
RNSH

American Thoracic Society International Conference 
and Post Graduate Courses

USA SP&TF

Carolyne Scott Kolling Institute Gordon Research Conference IGFs in physiology  
and diseases

USA University of 
Sydney External 
Grant

Patricia McDougal IMET The Society of Trauma and Critical Care Acute Care USA Sponsored

Cheryl Hyde SDC Infection Control In Haemodialysis Unit Conference Hong Kong Central Renal 
Committee 
Hong Kong

Kath Angstmann CNC Dept Surgery, 
RNSH

SMOF long term investigator meeting – to undertake 
the role of an investigator for an international trial for the 
use of a new lipid in parenteral nutrition and its tolerance

Germany Omnicare 
Clinical Research

Kristine  
Barlow-Stewart

Centre for Genetics 
Education

39th European Human Genetics Conference France SP&T

Rein Simmul Respiratory ANZSRS Scientific Meeting  New Zealand SP&T

Lucy Keatley Respiratory ANZSRS Scientific Meeting  New Zealand Education & Travel

Robin Schoeffel Respiratory ANZSRS Scientific Meeting  New Zealand SP&T

David Bolton Respiratory ANZSRS Scientific Meeting  New Zealand SP&T

Margaret Duguid Pharmacy Federation Internationale Pharmaceutique Beijing Self funding

Judith Dineley Senior Hospital Scientist, 
Medicine, RNSH

Conference on discussions of clinical trials in radiation 
oncology.

New Zealand SP&T

Sarina Klages Cath Lab, RNSH European Coronary Intervention Meeting “EURO PCR” Spain Sponsored

Gwen Hickey Dietition Intensive Care, 
RNSH

Fresenius Kabi Advanced Nutrition Course Conference Indonesia Sponsored

Rhian Parker Clinical Dietition, 
Gosford

Fresenius Kabi Advanced Nutrition Course Conference Indonesia Sponsored

Sophie Timmins Respiratory Medicine, 
RNSH

American Thoracic Society USA Sponsored

Peter Ryde ICU, Gosford Fresenius Kabi Advanced Nutrition Course Conference Indonesia TESL sponsored

Shervin Vahedi Clinical Trial Coordinator, 
Haematology Dept, 
RNSH

Investigator Meeting of the Einstein phase III VTE 
Program with the novel oral direct factor xa inhibitor 
rivaroxaban.

Thailand Sponsored

Andrew Fong Radiation Oncology, 
RNSH

RANZCR Annual Scientific Meeting Singapore SP&T

Paul Pilowsky Neurosurgery, RNSH FAONS Meeting Hong Kong SP&T

Raj Soni Respiratory Medicine, 
Gosford

European Respiratory Society Conference Germany Sponsored

Bets Conway Cardiology Clinical 
Trials, Gosford

Ontarget/Transcend Regional Investigators Meeting Thailand Sponsored

Richard Lee HMO, RNSH Presenting – The American Thoracic Society USA SP&T

Andrew Chan Honorary Fellow, Sleep 
Disorders Research, 
RNSH

The American Thoracic Society USA SP&T

Gordon Doig ICU, RNSH ICU Conference New Zealand SP&T

Sue Firth Kolling Institute Gordon Research Conference USA Sponsored

Sue Firth Kolling Institute ENDO 07 The Endocrine Society 89th Annual Meeting Canada Sponsored



Research Report
A key focus in 2007 was to secure the partnership between 
the NSW Government and the University of Sydney to jointly 
fund the ‘state-of-the-art’ Research and Education Building, 
which is a key part of the Royal North Shore Hospital (RNSH) 
redevelopment. 

The State Government has committed $61.36M and the 
University of Sydney $30M to provide accommodation for 
350 ‘basic science’ researchers in addition to four floors of 
educational facilities. 

We have long held the philosophy that Research and Education 
support excellence in the delivery of medical care not only 
through the development of novel treatments and technologies 
but also by attracting high quality clinicians across all 
professional disciplines. 

The advantage of having basic research co-located in the 
environment of clinical care is that diagnostic and treatment 
gaps inform the research and research provides solutions to 
improve clinical outcomes. 

There are clear examples of research within Northern Sydney 
Central Coast Health (NSCCH) revolutionising clinical care. 
Recent examples include:

• pain management

• acute stenting of blocked arteries after heart attack

• management of blocked arteries after heart attack

• improved treatment of ‘threatened’ limbs where blood 
flow has fallen below a critical level and amputation is 
regarded as an inevitability. Research has led to the ‘saving’ 
of limbs and consequent good health of patients.  
This sort of treatment based on research has significant 
implications for the health budget in NSW

In all these cases application of research emanating from 
RNSH has significantly improved outcome. Techniques for the 
diagnosis of cancer and antenatal diagnosis of fetal abnormalities 
have been developed and refined by researchers within RNSH, 
and diagnostic kits have been adopted into clinical practice. 

Many other examples of the relevance of research impacting 
on clinical diagnosis or treatment are evident in the areas of 
diabetes, kidney disease, maternal and perinatal health, bone 
and joint pathology and neurosciences. 

Each of these areas comprises key areas of research interest 
within NSCCH and the Kolling Institute. The Kolling will be 
the major occupant of the RNSH Research and Education 
Building. Current funding does not provide the ‘fit out’ of space 
required for 100 of the 350 researchers but we have every 
confidence that the combined efforts of the Foundations 
supporting research at RNSH, individual donors and the 
University of Sydney will leverage the additional funds required 
to ensure the research opportunities are fully realised.

Capital investment in medical research in 2006/7 has focused 
on leveraging the initial investment by the Dept of Health at 
RNSH. However, clinical research which brings novel therapies 
to the communities within NSCCH is advocated by clinician 
scientists broadly across the area health service. 

Researchers across the Area met to develop an Area-wide 
research strategy on 1 February 2007. The meeting was 
facilitated by Dr Norman Swan and had broad representation 
from the Area Health Service and our major University partners, 
The University of Sydney, The University of Newcastle and  
The University of Technology. This formed the basis for the 
Strategic plan for research which will guide future direction 
and activity for the next five years. 

Basic research will be focused within the Research Building at 
RNSH. Clinical research will be conducted at all NSCCH sites 
because it is clear that involvement in clinical research 
improves the outcomes for patients. Within the Central Coast 
region of NSCCH there is a clear mandate to develop clinical 
research with a strategic focus on prevention of vascular 
disease. This builds on existing research strengths in the areas 
of cerebrovascular, cardiac and renal disease. 

Within other NSCCH facilities, population and Health Services 
based research has been increasing. The Research Executive 
within NSCCH are keen to explore the opportunities inherent 
in Health Services Data acquisition and research as a tool to 
improve outcomes for patients in the future.

This year saw the restructuring of Ethics Committees within 
NSCCH with one committee approved as a “Lead Committee” 
able to approve any ethical proposal from a research site in 
NSW relevant to NSW Area Health Service. 

The details of more than $5M provided by peer reviewed 
funding bodies to the NSCCH in 2006/7 will be provided in 
the Area Research Report, in addition to detailed information 
regarding the many students that have graduated with either 
a PhD or Masters by virtue of their research experience within 
the NSCCH. 

The NSCCH has a vibrant and well supported research sector. 
We recognise that our contributions matter to the health of 
many through diverse activity across the area. Our researchers 
are passionate about their work and believe research matters 
and should be developed. 

We believe the provision of health care within the framework 
of a strong research partnership will ensure excellence in the 
delivery of clinical care.

Professor Carol Pollock 
NSCCH Chairman of Research

teaching and research
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FUTURE DIRECTION:

The School looks forward to completion of the construction 
of the Research and Education Building in mid-2008, and is 
actively involved in design, fitout and transfer planning. At the 
same time, School members have taken part in the advance 
planning for the new hospital facility being developed for the 
Northern Beaches, and has also been involved in the 
redevelopment of academic and clinical facilities at Hornsby 
Hospital. Through these means, an even greater contribution 
to the education and training mandate of the Area Health 
Service is envisaged for the years to come.

Michael Field MD BS BSc FRACP 
Professor of Medicine, University of Sydney 
Associate Dean and Head 
Northern Clinical School

teaching and research continued

Northern Clinical 
School
The twelve months to June 2007 was another busy period for 
the Northern Clinical School. Working in close partnership 
with the clinical community of the Area, the School arranges 
educational programs for medical students and contributes to 
training programs for junior medical staff as well as allied 
health professionals and nurses in some interprofessional 
learning programs.  

SUMMARY OF BUSINESS ACTIVITY

High quality programs of clinical teaching have been 
sustained by the School in all facilities of the Area other than 
the Central Coast. Medical students in all four years of the 
University of Sydney Medical Program are taught by clinicians 
in the relevant hospitals, where bedside tutorials are delivered 
and ward attachments are arranged. In addition, structured 
teaching in the form of lectures and demonstrations is conducted 
at RNSH. Clinical skills training is provided in specially 
equipped laboratories in RNSH, Hornsby and Manly hospitals. 
Educational activities are funded jointly by the University of 
Sydney and the Area.

MAJOR GOALS AND OUTCOMES

The goals of the Clinical School are focused on excellence in 
delivery of clinical education to medical students, and 
cooperation in the delivery of training to junior medical staff 
and allied health professionals wherever opportunities for 
interprofessional learning can be found. Outcomes include 
excellent success rates in academic assessments for medical 
students in all years, and recognition for our contribution to the 
successful training of JMOs and Registrars undertaking College 
training programs. The School is also involved in the development 
of research programs across the Area (see separate report), 
particularly through postgraduate research training.

KEY ISSUES AND EVENTS

The facilities in which the School works, particularly at RNSH, 
are outdated and in need of renewal and replacement. 
Fortunately the School has had the opportunity to contribute 
actively to planning for the new Research and Education 
Building, being the first stage in the major redevelopment of 
the whole RNSH site. Professor Field has been active in chairing 
the Education Reference Group, and in contributing to the 
work of the Executive Reference Group and the Project Control 
Group, and has also assisted in the negotiations which have 
led to the University of Sydney contributing $30 million to 
expand the research capacity of the building.  
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Central Coast Health 
Teaching and Research 
Unit Report 
The Teaching and Research Unit (TRU) at Gosford Hospital on 
the Central Coast co-ordinates both Teaching and Research 
streams of activity and is a collaboration between  
The University of Newcastle and NSCCH.  

Gosford Hospital has historically had a medical education link 
with the University of Newcastle since the Faculty of Medicine 
commenced in 1978. Medical students have been undertaking 
clinical attachments in general practice and various hospital 
specialties since 1981 on the Central Coast.

In 2001 this link was formalised with respect to medical 
education, through a Memorandum of Understanding between 
the then Central Coast Health (CCH) and the Faculty of Medicine 
and Health Sciences, leading to the establishment of the TRU. 
This was renegotiated in 2002 between the new Faculty of 
Health and CCH in order to incorporate Nursing and Allied 
Health within the TRU. 

The TRU provides an organisational framework within the 
hospitals and community health facilities of NSCCH in order for 
medical, nursing and allied health students to undertake their 
clinical placements and also for clinical research to be conducted.

Teaching
Teaching activities from the three schools that are represented 
in the TRU from the Faculty of Health at the University of 
Newcastle include: 

• School of Medicine and Public Health (SMPH)

 The friendly atmosphere and enhanced learning opportunities 
on the Central Coast have made it such a popular 
experience that it is now permanently oversubscribed.

 Following the retirement of the Professor of Medicine in 
2005, the SMPH in the TRU is currently staffed by  
Dr Martin Veysey (medicine) and Dr Amanda Dawson 
(surgery) and receives part time assistance from Dr Adam 
Buckmaster (paediatrics).

 Central Coast has a total of 56 Bachelor of Medicine 
students ranging from Year 2, who attend tutorials two 
days per week for a term, to Year 3, who undertake a 
two month regional rotation, and Years 4 & 5 who can 
choose to complete all or part of their training here.  

 Medical students on the Central Coast are mainly based 
at Gosford Hospital but numbers at Wyong Hospital are 
increasing. By 2010 student numbers here are expected to 
rise substantially. Years 4 and 5 are expecting 40 students 
each, Year 3 is expecting 12 and Year 2 is expecting ten.

 This year, it is expected that nearly 25% of the students 
who were in Year 5 on the Central Coast will choose to 
return to Gosford as interns.

• School of Nursing and Midwifery

 Numbers of students undertaking undergraduate and 
post-graduate nursing programs continue to increase 
each year. Teaching of the undergraduate nursing course 
on the Central Coast is shared between Gosford Hospital 
and Ourimbah Campuses, with student numbers in 2007 
rising to 110 in Year 1, 120 in Year 2 and 90 in Year 3.  
A large proportion of these students choose to return to 
Gosford for postgraduate positions. 

 There are six full and part-time educators who deliver the 
bulk of the undergraduate nursing training. Recruitment 
of a replacement for the previous Professor of Nursing 
has commenced and it is anticipated that a new Professor 
of Nursing will be appointed in 2008. 

• School of Health Sciences

 Professor Val Robertson is the Professor of Allied Health, a 
joint position with NSCCH and the University of Newcastle. 
The Allied Health Education (AHEd) program introduced 
by Professor Robertson has continued to flourish. 
Attendees now include allied health clinicians and also nursing 
and medical staff from the surrounding health facilities.  

 A major change in 2007 is the commencement of a 
Bachelor of Podiatry degree at the University of Newcastle. 
This has involved considerable input from NSCCH staff 
and Professor Robertson, the acting program convenor for 
most of 2006-2007. The three year program has made an 
excellent start, with over 100 students (some part-time) 
located at the Ourimbah Campus. 

Research 
The TRU has continued to develop the longstanding relationship 
between the University of Newcastle and CCH. Members of 
the TRU have been successful in attracting a number of 
grants (from $10,000 to $100,000) from the Central Coast 
Health Research Committee.  

One of the major medical research projects of the TRU has 
remained the activity of the Central Coast Centre for Vascular 
Health (3CVH), which aims at describing the health and 
welfare of residents in retirement villages and collecting 
information about vascular health risk factors. Another of the 
main areas of medical research has been the evaluation of  
the Rotary Club of East Gosford’s annual faecal occult blood 
screening program for colorectal cancer on the Central Coast, 
North Sydney and the Blue Mountains.

Nursing research continues to be carried out on the Central 
Coast and new studies are expected to originate from within 
the TRU after an appointment has been made to position of 
Professor of Nursing.

The involvement of allied health staff research is increasing. 
Some are working on funded research projects and some are 
undertaking higher degrees as well. This is a visible part of a 
push to actively integrate research into clinical practice, an 
important part of modern allied health clinical practice.

teaching & research continued
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our community

working with Clinicians 
and the Community
Area Community Participation Unit
The Community Participation Unit is an area-wide service that 
was established in 2006. The Community Participation Unit 
provides direction and advice to NSCCH on consumer and 
community engagement. 

The key functions of the Unit are to;

1. Integrate community participation into planning, 
implementation and evaluation of health services 
delivered across NSCCH.

2. Promote delivery of health services in a way that is 
responsive to consumer and community needs.

3. Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of community 
participation activities across NSCCH.

Area Health Advisory Council 
(AHAC)
Since its establishment by law and inception in 2005, the 
Area Health Advisory Council (AHAC) continues to act as a 
peak clinical and community advisory body providing strong 
and wise council. A key function of the AHAC is to ensure 
that views of clinicians, patients, carers and the community 
regarding accessibility, quality and safety of the health services 
provided by the Area Health Service are being obtained and 
considered in the planning and decision-making by the Area 
Health Service

With its mix of senior clinicians and the diversity of community 
representation, the AHAC endeavours to be proactive in its 
advisory capacity to the Chief Executive in matters of strategic 
planning, priority setting, policy development and monitoring of

• Health status

• Health service delivery

• Performance

• The development of clinical networks

• The appropriateness and effectiveness of engagement 
processes with clinicians and the community. 

The Area Health Advisory Council membership listing for this 
year includes

Prof Carol Pollock – Chair Mr Darren Bowd

Ms Georgia Sidiropoulos Dr Magdalen Campbell

Mr Tom Limburg Ms Dianne Spragg

Mr Paul Tonkin Dr Greg Fulcher

Mr Paolo Totaro Dr Scott Whyte

Prof Margaret Mc Millan Dr Tony Carrozzi

Local Community Participation 
Committees
The community participation committees have a primary role 
to provide advice to the General Managers on local Health 
Service needs, Health Service planning and community 
engagement processes.

Membership structure of these committees is as follows:

CENTRAL COAST HEALTH SERVICE

Ken Cahill  (General Manager) Chair
Dr Sian Keane  (staff representative)
Lesley Nord (staff representative)
Kate Hewett (community representative)
Loretta Hardcastle (community representative)
Keiran Booth (community representative)
Garry Prince (community representative)
Dot Stanton (community representative)
Georgia Sidiropoulos (AHAC representative)

NORTHERN BEACHES HEALTH SERVICE

Frank Bazik (General Manager) Chair
Sally Van den Bok (staff representative)
Liz Wright (staff representative)
Adam Johnston (community representative)
Pavica Kupcak (community representative)
Prue Sky  (community representative)
Frances Smyth (community representative)
Ann Owens (community representative)
Carmen Bekker (community representative)
Marjorie James (community representative)
Paolo Totaro (AHAC representative)

NORTH SHORE AND RYDE HEALTH SERVICE

Mary Bonner (General Manager) Chair
Jo Prendergast (staff representative)
Martina Fox  (staff representative)
Michelle Erofeyeff (community representative)
Vanessa Vaughan (community representative)
Dee Dempsey (community representative)
Grace Lee (community representative)
Betty Johnson AO (community representative)
Tom Hoffman (community representative)
Tom Limburg (AHAC representative resigned)

HORNSBY KU-RING-GAI HEALTH SERVICE

Alex Maitland
Margaret Atkin
Mary Beijerinck-Gooley
Aruni Ratnayake
Rose Partalis
Robert Glover
Jennie Allan
Jo Griffin
David Johnston
Magda Campbell
Carolyn Treharne
Kathy King
Greg Flint
Sharon Szabo
Judith McCarthy



Ethnic Affairs Priority 
Statement (EAPS)
EAPS is a planning document incorporating the key ethnic 
affairs initiatives and priorities of government agencies.

In 2006/2007 achievements included:

• Translation of NSCCH Rights and Responsibilities brochure 
into three community languages.

• Bilingual leaders trained as part of the Chinese 
Breastfeeding Project.

• Health information sessions provided to Culturally and 
Linguistically Diverse (CALD) community groups with the 
assistance of health care interpreters.

• Multicultural Mental Health Strategic Plan developed.

• Distribution of multilingual health information as part of 
patient education programs. 

• Cultural Diversity training provided to staff.

• Hospital tour implemented and evaluated for English 
language students living on the Central Coast.

• Implementation of Multicultural Access Committee grants.

In 2007/2008 initiatives will include:

• Revised NSCCH Policy and Procedures for the Use of 
Health Care Interpreters to be launched and distributed.

• Health screening to be provided for newly arriving 
humanitarian entrants.

• 2006 census data to be analysed to identify settlement trends.

• Multilingual information on mental health services and 
oral health services to be produced and distributed.

• Community consultations to be held with CALD 
community groups on the Central Coast to identify health 
and health service needs.

• Multilingual NSCCH Welcome Poster to be produced and 
displayed in NSCCH facilities and services.

• NSCCH CALD Advisory Group to be established.

Links with  
Non-Government 
Organisations
Non Government Organisation (NGOs) provide a valuable role 
in the delivery of health services to the community in partnership 
with government agencies. NGOS a key role in maximising 
access, particularly for those individuals who would not otherwise 
access mainstream services, building community capacity and 
identifying health needs. 

In 2006/07 grant funding of $8.5 million was administered by 
NSCCH under the NGO Grant Program to 38 non government 
organisations to deliver 44 health related projects.  
The organisations funded are: 

Funding Non Government 
Organisations (NGOs)

Health Promotion
Asthma Foundation of NSW 
Coeliac Society
Youthsafe Ltd

Drug & Alcohol
Association of Drug Referral Centres – Manly Drug Education 
and Counselling Centre
Centacare Broken Bay – Manly Warringah Youth Support Service
Centacare Sydney – Holyoake Family Alcohol and other Drug 
(AOD) programs
Kamira Farm
Ngaimpie Aboriginal Corporation
Salvation Army – Selah 

AiDS
Positive Support Network

Dental
The Spastic Centre of NSW 

Family and Community
Burdekin Association
Pregnancy Help – Manly Warringah Inc
Centacare – Broken Bay Pregnancy Counselling Service
Lifeline (Central Coast) NSW
Royal Far West Child Health Scheme
Wyong Shire Council – Speech Pathology Program

Women’s Health
Central Coast Community Women’s Health Centre

Health Transport
Coastwide Community Transport
Community Transport Inc
Ryde Hunter Community Transport Association
Hornsby Ku-ring-gai Community Aged and Disabled Transport 
Service

Mental Health
Aftercare – Nangare Support Service
ARAFMI Central Coast
ARAFMI NSW Inc
Nareen Gardens Inc
New Horizons Enterprises Ltd
Schizophrenia Fellowship of NSW
The Mental Health Association of NSW 

Aged and Disabled/Carers
Alzheimer’s Association NSW
Central Coast Community Care
Cystic Fibrosis NSW
Lupus Association of NSW
Motor Neurone Disease Association of NSW
ME and Chronic Fatigue Society of NSW 
Northern Beaches Interchange Inc
Northern Beaches Community Services Ltd
Sydney Adventist Hospital – Cancer Support Centre Palliative 
Care Program

our community continued
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Volunteers and 
Chaplaincy
Volunteers
There are a wide variety of volunteer roles throughout NSCCH. 
Some volunteers focus on fundraising; others perform valuable 
practical services throughout NSCCH's hospitals and community 
health services. These roles have developed over time and 
reveal something of the nature and character of the individual 
hospitals that volunteers serve. Some examples of the vital 
work and the roles they play in NSCCH include:

• Fundraising

• Patient escorts, Emergency Department companions  
and welcomers

• Information and mail services, oncology drivers,  
ward grandparents

• CANSUPPORT

• Kiosks and sub newsagencies

• Linen services

• Trolley services to the bedside (toiletries, sweets and  
other small items)

• Patient library service

• Hospital museum custodians 

Volunteers make an immense contribution to health care 
services. They display professionalism and a spirit of generous 
community service to our staff and patients alike and show the 
human face of health care to those who are ill or in distress. 

* Note: individual office bearers and details of 
fundraising can be found listed by hospital

Chaplaincy
Chaplains provide spiritual and practical help to patients when 
requested and attend hospital Emergency Departments and 
Intensive Care Units as part of their duties. They counsel staff 
and visitors on request. Chaplains serve as members of Ethics 
Committees overseeing clinical and other research trials. 

Each hospital has a formal non-denominational chapel or quiet 
room for staff, patients and visitors. The Chaplains Department 
oversees and maintains these areas and organises observances 
of religious holidays and celebrations including regular weekly 
services, Christmas and Easter observances, non-denominational 
services and spiritual responses to local, national and 
international events. 

Privacy Management 
Plan
During 2006-2007 the Privacy Contact Officer (PCO) has 
attended the Department of Health meetings and training days.

A new Privacy Information for Patients Brochure has been 
produced in English based on the Department of Health 
Privacy Leaflet. This document is now available through the 
NSCCH’s stationery supplier. Brochures and posters have been 
distributed in bulk to all General Managers, Community 
Health and Mental Health seeking their assistance in ensuring 
the documents are readily available to all patients and clients.

Privacy training of staff is occurring in the various facilities 
throughout NSCCH and a Train the Trainer program has been 
undertaken in an attempt to increase the number of trainers 
available throughout NSCCH. 

internal Review
During 2006/07, NSCCH received two applications for 
internal review. Both were under The Health Records and 
Information Privacy Act 2002 (HRIP Act). 

Following is a brief overview of the Internal Review requests 
received.

Date  
received

06/11/06 16/05/07

Date finalised 28/12/2006 14/07/2007

Review under 
which Act – 
HRiP/PPiP

HRIP HRIP

Brief 
description  
of outcome

No breach  
occurred however 
amendment of 
records was 
suggested.

No breach 
occurred.  
Document 
removed to 
secure area.

Privacy 
principles 
breached Y/N

No No

Review 
requested of 
administrative 
decisions 
tribunal Y/N

Yes – subsequently 
withdrawn.

No

our community continued



Freedom of Information 
(FOI)
Northern Sydney Central Coast 
Health

NUMBER OF NEw FOI REqUESTS

FOi REQUESTS PERSONAL OTHER TOTAL
 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

New 106 37 1 16 117 53 
(inc transferred in)

Brought Forward 0 5 0 2 0 7

Total to be  101 42 1 18 102 60 
processed

Completed note 97 39 11 15 108 53

Transferred out 3 0 0 0 0 0

Withdrawn 1 0 2 1 3 1

Total Processed 97 39 11 16 108 55

Unfinished  9 3 0 2 9 5 
(carried forward)

RESULTS OF REqUESTS

FOi REQUESTS PERSONAL OTHER TOTAL
 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

Granted in full 88 33 7 5 95 38

Granted in part 3 4 0 0 3 4

Refused 3 2 2 5 5 7

Deferred 0 0 0 0 0 0

Completed note 94 39 9 10 103 49

MINISTERIAL CERTIFICATES ISSUED

Ministerial Certificates Issued – Nil

FORMAL CONSULTATIONS

 CASES CONSULTATiONS
 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

Number of requests  15 6 15 12 
requiring formal 
consultation(s)

AMENDMENTS OF PERSONAL RECORDS 

Result of amendment agreed – Nil 
Result of amendment refused – Nil

NOTIFICATION OF PERSONAL RECORDS

Nil

freedom of information
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FOI REqUESTS GRANTED IN PART OR REFUSED

 FOi REQUESTS PERSONAL OTHER TOTAL
      Basis of  2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 
 disallowing or  
restricting access

S19 0 0 0 0 0 0 
(incomplete,  
wrongly addressed)

S22  3 1 1 0 4 1 
(deposit not paid)

S25 (1) (a1)  0 0 0 0 0 0 
(diversion of resources)

S25 (1) (a) 3 3 1 3 4 6 
(exempt)

S25 (1) (b), (d)  0 0 0 0 0 0 
(otherwise available)

S28 (1) (b) 2 1 3 2 5 3 
(docs not held)

S24  (2)  0 0 0 0 0 0 
(deemed refused,  
over 21 days)

S31(4)  0 1 0 0 0 1 
(released to  
Medical Practitioners)

Total 8 6 5 5 13 11

Note: the total need not reconcile with the refused requests  
total as there may be more than one reason cited refusing an 
individual request.

COSTS AND FEES OF REqUESTS PROCESSED

ASSESSED COSTS 2005/06 2006/06

All completed requests $3418.00 $2,979.00

DISCOUNTS ALLOwED

 PERSONAL OTHER TOTAL
 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

I1 Public interest 0 0 0 0 0 0

I2  Financial hardship  34 7 0 1 34 8 
– pensioner/child

I3  Financial hardship  0 0 0 0 0 0 
–  non profit  

organisation

i4 Total 34 7 0 1 34 9

I5  Significant  0 0 0 0 0 0 
correction of 
personal records

Note:  except for item I5, items I1, I2, I3 and I4 refer to requests 
processed as recorded in A7.

For I5, however, it shows the actual number of requests for 
correction of records processed during the period.



freedom of information continued

DAYS TO PROCESS REqUEST

RESULTS OF PERSONAL OTHER TOTAL
FOi REQUESTS 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

0 – 21 days 89 36 4 14 93 50

22 – 35 days 4 1 1 1 5 2

Over 35 days 4 2 6 0 10 2

Total 97 39 11 15 108 54

PROCESSING TIME

PROCESSiNG PERSONAL OTHER TOTAL
HOURS 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

0-10 hours 90 36 1 9 91 45

11-20 hours 7 1 10 3 17 4 

21-40 hours 0 1 0 3 0 4

Over 40 hours 0 1 0 0 0 1

Total 97 39 11 15 108 54

REVIEwS AND APPEALS
 2005/06 
06/07

Number of internal reviews finalised 1 3

Number of Ombudsman reviews  0 0

Number of District Court/ADT appeals finalised  0 0

DETAILS OF INTERNAL REVIEw RESULTS – BASIS OF 
INTERNAL REVIEw GROUNDS ON wHICH INTERNAL 
REVIEw REqUESTED

 PERSONAL OTHER
 UPHELD VARiED UPHELD VARiED
 2005/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07 05/06 06/07

Access  1 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 
refused

Deferred 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exempt  0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 
matter

Unreasonable  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
charges

Charge  0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
unreasonably  
incurred

Amendment 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
refused

Total 1 2 0 1 0 0 1 0

Note: The decrease in numbers is due to the fact that we are 
releasing records under the HRIP Act rather than requesting 
people apply under FOI.
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Financial Overview
In accordance with Accounting Standards these Divisions are 

regarded as special purpose entities that must be consolidated with 

the financial report of the related Health Service. This is because 

the Divisions were established to provide personnel services to 

enable a Health Service to exercise its functions.

Executive Summary
The audited financial statements presented for Northern Sydney 

Central Coast Health for the period 1 July 2006 to 30 June 2007. 

The Net Cost of Services budget was $1,252 million, against which 

the audited actuals of $1,253 million represents a variation of $1 

million or 0.1%.

The reported variation is a consequence of activity pressures over 

the last few months of the year generally attributed to higher 

winter demand and consequential higher labour, goods and 

services expenditure.

In achieving the above result Northern Sydney Central Coast Health 

is satisfied that it has operated within the level of government cash 

payments and restricted operating costs to the budget available.  

It has also ensured that no general creditors exist at the end of the 

month in excess of levels agreed with the NSW Department of 

Health and, further, has effected all loan repayments within the 

time frames agreed.

Financial information is detailed below:

 2006/07 2006/07 2005/06 
 Actuals Budget Actuals 
 $000 $000 $000

Employee Related Expenses 969,498 963,261 917,445

Visiting Medical Officers 49,363 48,412 46,685

Goods & Services 404,166 404,580 363,165

Maintenance 24,855 24,989 20,579

Depreciation & Amortisation 49,056 48,514 48,663

Grants & Subsidies 18,657 20,454 14,323

Borrowing Costs 443 663 599

Payments to Affiliated 42,276 42,287 38,442 
Health Organisations 

Total Expenses 1,558,314 1,553,160 1,449,901

Sale of Goods & Services 266,455 267,893 248,819

Investment Income 6,707 5,057 5,469

Grants & Contributions 27,724 19,300 22,012

Other Revenue 7,173 10,803 5,119

Total Retained Revenue 308,059 303,053 281,419

Gain/(Loss) on Disposal 45 495 -1,795 
of Non Current Assets

Other Gains/(Losses) -2,658 -1,994 -1,371

Net Cost of Services 1,252,868 1,251,606 1,171,648

The variations in the two years reported stem from budget 
adjustments and other movements as follows:

Budget increases 2006/07
increases 2006/07 $’000 

Employee Related Expenses (Award Increases) 50,131

Visiting Medical Officers 2,498

Growth Initiatives 2,397

Sustainable Access Program 6,900

Transitional Aged Care 4,735

  66,661

Program Reporting
The Health Service reporting of programs is consistent with the  
10 programs of health care delivery utilised across NSW Health and 
satisfies the methodology for apportionment advised by the NSW 

Department of Health

2006/07 Program 
 Exp Rev NCOS 
 $000 $000 $000

Primary & Community 101,022 6,838 94,184

Aboriginal Health 853 44 809

Outpatient Services 115,450 17,655 97,795

Emergency Care Services 97,999 12,716 85,283

Overnight Acute 807,905 194,833 613,072

Same Day Acute 75,232 24,726 50,506

Mental Health Services 144,155 3,841 140,314

Rehab & Extended Care 131,550 19,573 111,977

Population Health 21,082 7,432 13,650

Teaching & Research 63,066 17,788 45,278

Total 1,558,314 305,446 1,252,868

2005/06 Program 
 Exp Rev NCOS 
 $000 $000 $000

Primary & Community 99,056 6,007 93,049

Aboriginal Health 839 34 805

Outpatient Services 108,052 15,910 92,142

Emergency Care Services 89,920 12,625 77,295

Overnight Acute 762,647 190,788 571,859

Same Day Acute 65,850 16,188 49,662

Mental Health Services 130,954 2,099 128,855

Rehab & Extended Care 111,897 11,143 100,754

Population Health 20,251 6,904 13,347

Teaching & Research 60,435 16,555 43,880

Total 1,449,901 278,253 1,171,648
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Directions in Funding
Northern Sydney Central Coast Health has needed to respond to 
several significant challenges in 2006/07. 

• the amalgamation of accounting and financial systems.

• the restructuring of corporate and business support services 
(initially addressing linen, food and IT systems) designed to 
generate funds to source further front line services.

• the improvement of procurement practices consistent with the 
NSW Government’s Shared Corporate Services Reform Strategy.

• the implementation of revenue best practice initiatives as 
advised by the Department in relation to the retention of 
own source revenues.

• a new standard chart of accounts to be rolled out across  
all sites.

The 2007/08 budget – 
the forthcoming year
Northern Sydney Central Coast Health received its 2007/08 
allocation on June 29 2007. The allocation is earmarked by the 
provision of additional funding to address:

• the provision of increased bed capacity to improve access 
block performance and provide sustainable management of 
elective surgery.

• the provision of more elective surgery to tackle existing 
waiting lists.

• the need to increase the number of high dependency and 
intensive care beds with eight high dependency beds expected 
to open and operate at Wyong Hospital and another intensive 
care bed at Gosford Hospital to operate in 2007/08.

• mental health service improvements, including $1.2M  
that includes funding for HASI, Child & Adolescent and 
Eating Disorders.

• new nurse recruitment training and professional development, 
including Scholarships, nurse practitioners and nurse educator 
positions.

• the continued enhancement of the delivery of cancer research 
and direct patient services.

• Aboriginal health needs, particularly in the areas of  
Child Sexual Assault and Child and Maternal Services.

• Live Life Well initiatives involving school children  
“Live Outside the Box” and pre-schoolers “Munch & Move”.

• Early Intervention and prevention strategies including Hospital 
at Home, Health One and After Hours GPs.

Northern Sydney and Central Coast Health will continue to work 
with the NSW Department of Health in a major reform program 
that will focus on ensuring that each patient has the best possible 
journey through the health system. This will ensure that patient 
care is better coordinated, leading to improved patient outcomes 
and more efficient use of resources.

The Minister for Health has announced the following new  
capital works:

• $7.3M ($19.2M over four years) for breast cancer screening 
to introduce digital imaging technology to improve breast 
cancer detection.

• $4.5M to upgrade Ryde Hospital including the refurbishment 
of wards and reconfiguration of the Emergency Department.

• Replacement of linear accelerator at Royal North Shore Hospital.

In addition, the 2007/08 capital program also provides for the 
continuation of 2006/07 projects including:

• Improvements to the Mandala Mental Health Unit at Gosford.

• Royal North Shore Hospital redevelopment – $37.3M towards 
the total redevelopment of the main hospital campus to 
consolidate facilities and services including community health 
and the new research building.

• Central Coast Health Access Plan – $12.3M to continue the 
redevelopment of Gosford and Wyong hospitals.
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Certification of Parent/Consolidated Financial Statements 
For Period Ended 30 June 2007 

The attached tl.nancial statements of the Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service for the 
year ended 30 June 2007: 

i) Have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of applicable Australian Accounting 
Standards which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting 
Standards (AEIFRS), the requirements of the Public Finance and Audit Act 1983 and its 
regulations, the Health Services Act 1997 and its regulations, the Accounts and Audit 
Determination and the Accounting Manual for Area Health Services and Public Hospitals; 

ii) Present fairly the financial position and transactions of the Northern Sydney Central Coast 
Area Health Service; 

iii) Have no circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial statements to be 
misleading or inaccurate. 

iv) The provision of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991, regulations under the Act and the 
conditions attached to the fundraising authority have been complied with by the Northern 
Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service; and 

v) The internal controls exercised by the Northern Sydney Central Coast Area Health Service 
are appropriate and effective in accounting tor all income received and applied by the 
Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service from any of its fundraising appeals. 

p../Ch~rr;;;;,;· 
f Northern Sydney Central Coast 

Area Health Service 
1 4- 1 "r December 2007 
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I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion. 

My opinion does not provide assurance: 

about the future viability of the Service or consolidated entity, 
that they have carried out their activities effectively, efficiently and economically, 
about the effectiveness of their internal controls, or 
on the assumptions used in formulating the budget figures disclosed in the financial report. 

Report on Other Aspects of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 

I have audited the Service's operations in order to express an opinion on the matters specified at 
sections 24(2)(b), 24(2)(c) and 24(2)(d) of the CF Act for the year ended 30 June 2007. 

Auditor's Opinion 

In my opinion: 

the ledgers and associated records of the Service have been properly kept during the year in 
accordance with the CF Act and the Charitable Fundraising Regulation 2003 (the CF Regulation) 
(section 24(2)(b)) 

money received as a result of fund raising appeals conducted during the year has been properly 
accounted for and applied in accordance with the CF Act and the CF Regulation (section 
24(2)(c)), and 

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Service will be able to pay its debts as and 
when they fall due (section 24(2)(d)). 

The Chief Executive's Responsibility for Compliance 

The Chief Executive is responsible for ensuring compliance with the CF Act and the CF Regulation. 
This responsibility includes: 

establishing and maintaining internal control relevant to compliance with the CF Act and CF 
Regulation 

ensuring that all assets obtained during, or as a result of, a fundraising appeal are 
safeguarded and properly accounted for, and 

maintaining proper books of account and records. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express an opinion on the matters specified at sections 24 (2)(b), 24 (2)(c), 
and 24 (2)(d) of the CF Act. I conducted my audit in accordance Australian Auditing Standards 
applicable to assurance engagements. These Auditing Standards require that I comply with relevant 
ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether there were any material breaches of compliance by the Service. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the Service's compliance 
with the CF Act and CF Regulation and about its solvency. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material breaches of compliance. In 
making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Service's 
compliance in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Service's internal control. 

My procedures included examination, on a test basis, of evidence supporting the Service's solvency 
and its compliance with the CF Act and CF Regulation. These tests have not been performed 
continuously throughout the period, were not designed to detect all instances of non-compliance, 
and have not covered any other provisions of the CF Act and CF Regulation apart from those 
specified. 
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I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
my audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting these audits, the Audit Office has complied with the independence requirements of 
the Australian Auditing Standards and other relevant ethical requirements. The PF&A Act further 
promotes independence by: 

providing that only Parliament, and not the executive government, can remove an 
Auditor-General, and 

mandating the Auditor-General as auditor of public sector agencies but precluding the provision 
of non-audit services, thus ensuring the Auditor-General and the Audit Office are not 
compromised in their role by the possibility of losing clients or income. 

James Sugumar 
Acting Director, Financial Audit Services 

19 December 2007 
SYDNEY 
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Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

OPERATING STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements

PARENT CONSOLiDATED

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000 Notes

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000

Expenses excluding losses

Operating Expenses

— — 649,555 Employee Related 3 969,498 963,261 917,445

969,498 963,261 267,890 Personnel Services 4 — — —

49,363 48,412 46,685 Visiting Medical Officers 49,363 48,412 46,685

429,021 429,569 383,744 Other Operating Expenses 5 429,021 429,569 383,744

49,056 48,514 48,663 Depreciation and Amortisation 2(i), 6 49,056 48,514 48,663

18,657 20,454 14,323 Grants and Subsidies 7 18,657 20,454 14,323

443 663 599 Finance Costs 8 443 663 599

 42,276  42,287  38,442 
Payments to Affiliated Health 
Organisations 9 42,276 42,287 38,442

 1,558,314  1,553,160 1,449,901 Total Expenses excluding losses 1,558,314 1,553,160 1,449,901

Retained Revenue

266,455 267,893 248,819 Sale of Goods and Services 10 266,455 267,893 248,819

6,707 5,057 5,469 Investment Income 11 6,707 5,057 5,469

46,341 19,300 27,144 Grants and Contributions 12 27,724 19,300 22,012

 7,173 10,803 5,119 Other Revenue 13 7,173 10,803 5,119

 326,676  303,053  286,551 Total Retained Revenue 308,059 303,053 281,419

45 495 (1,795) Gain/(Loss) on Disposal 14 45 495 (1,795)

(2,658) (1,994) (1,371) Other Gains/(Losses) 15 (2,658) (1,994) (1,371)

 1,234,251  1,251,606  1,166,516 Net Cost of Services 1,252,868 1,251,606 1,171,648

Government Contributions

1,170,810 1,189,093 1,114,052
NSW Health Department 
Recurrent Allocations 2(d) 1,170,810 1,170,810 1,100,487

80,281 94,607 62,368
NSW Health Department  
Capital Allocations 2(d) 80,281 94,607 62,368

(4,753) (2,563) —
(Asset Sale Proceeds transferred to  
the NSW Health Department) (4,753) (2,563) —

 —  — —
Acceptance by the Crown Entity of 
employee superannuation benefits 2(a) (ii) 18,617 18,283 18,697

1,246,338 1,281,137 1,176,420 Total Government Contributions 1,264,955 1,281,137 1,181,552

12,087 29,531  9,904 RESULT FOR THE YEAR 12,087 29,531 9,904

Start of Audited Financial Statements
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Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND ExPENSE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements

PARENT CONSOLiDATED

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000 Notes

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000

586 — 469
Net increase/(decrease) in Property, Plant 
and Equipment Revaluation Reserve 586 — 469

287 — —
Transferred to Result for the Year on 
Disposal 287 — —

(2,563) — —
Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets from 
Administrative Restructure (2,563) — —

(1,690) — 469
TOTAL iNCOME AND EXPENSE 
RECOGNiSED DiRECTLY iN EQUiTY (1,690) — 469

12,087 29,531 9,904 Result for the Year 12,087 29,531 9,904

10,397 29,531 10,373
TOTAL iNCOME AND EXPENSE 
RECOGNiSED FOR THE YEAR 10,397 29,531 10,373
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Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

PARENT CONSOLiDATED

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000 Notes

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000

ASSETS

Current Assets

87,962 88,048 112,278 Cash and Cash Equivalents 18  87,962 88,048 112,278

34,323 30,109 30,236 Receivables 19 34,323 30,109 30,236

12,859 10,891 11,478 Inventories 20 12,859 10,891 11,478

135,144 129,048 153,992 Total Current Assets 135,144 129,048 153,992

Non-Current Assets

1,478 1,514 1,514 Receivables 19 1,478 1,514 1,514

Property, Plant and Equipment

1,102,270 1,027,983 1,058,884 – Land and Buildings 21 1,102,270 1,027,983 1,058,884

71,548 166,642 73,374 – Plant and Equipment 21 71,548 166,642 73,374

37,377 38,381 38,380 – Infrastructure Systems 21 37,377 38,381 38,380

1,211,195 1,233,006 1,170,638 Total Property, Plant and Equipment 1,211,195 1,233,006 1,170,638

1,212,673 1,234,520 1,172,152 Total Non-Current Assets 1,212,673 1,234,520 1,172,152

1,347,817 1,363,568 1,326,144 Total Assets 1,347,817 1,363,568 1,326,144

LiABiLiTiES

Current Liabilities

84,897 79,393 92,908 Payables 23 84,897 79,393 92,908

2,709 731 2,827 Borrowings 24 2,709 731 2,827

254,282 250,970 233,928 Provisions 25 254,282 250,970 233,928

2,874 2,705 2,705 Other 26 2,874 2,705 2,705

344,762 333,799 332,368 Total Current Liabilities 344,762 333,799 332,368

Non-Current Liabilities

2,517 4,462 4,408 Borrowings 24 2,517 4,462 4,408

7,140 12,544 6,136 Provisions 25 7,140 12,544 6,136

8,326 8,557 8,557 Other 26 8,326 8,557 8,557

17,983 25,563 19,101 Total Non-Current Liabilities 17,983 25,563 19,101

362,745 359,362 351,469 Total Liabilities 362,745 359,362 351,469

985,072 1,004,206 974,675 Net Assets 985,072 1,004,206 974,675

EQUiTY

204,647 204,061 204,061 Reserves 27 204,647 204,061 204,061

780,425 800,145 770,614 Accumulated Funds 27 780,425 800,145 770,614

985,072 1,004,206 974,675 Total Equity 985,072 1,004,206 974,675

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements

Northern Sydney Central Coast Health • 2006/2007 Annual Report 76



financial statements

Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements

PARENT CONSOLiDATED

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000 Notes

Actual 
2007 
$000

Budget 
2007 
$000

Actual 
2006 
$000

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATiNG ACTiViTiES

Payments

— (921,528) (1,148,880) Employee Related (929,523) (921,528) (880,990)

(19,819) (20,454) (15,755) Grants and Subsidies (19,819) (20,454) (15,755)

(443) (663) (599) Finance Costs (443) (663) (599)

(1,506,190)  (533,196) (227,714) Other (576,667) (533,196) (495,604)

(1,526,452) (1,475,841) (1,392,948) Total Payments (1,526,452) (1,475,841) (1,392,948)

Receipts

262,404 268,020 257,177 Sale of Goods and Services 262,404 268,020 257,177

6,707 5,057 5,469 Interest Received 6,707 5,057 5,469

82,612 30,103 68,987 Other 82,612 30,103 68,987

351,723 303,180 331,633 Total Receipts 351,723 303,180 331,633

Cash Flows From Government

1,170,810 1,170,810 1,100,487
NSW Health Department 
Recurrent Allocations 1,170,810 1,170,810 1,100,487

80,281 94,607 62,368
NSW Health Department 
Capital Allocations 80,281 94,607 62,368

(4,753) — —
Asset Sale Proceeds transferred to the   
NSW Health Department (4,753) — —

1,246,338 1,265,417 1,162,855 Net Cash Flows from Government 1,246,338 1,265,417 1,162,855

71,609 92,756 101,540
NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATiNG ACTiViTiES 32 71,609 92,756 101,540

CASH FLOWS FROM 
iNVESTiNG ACTiViTiES

4,901 — 624
Proceeds from Sale of Land and Buildings, 
Plant and Equipment and Infrastructure Systems 4,901 — 624

— — 14,546 Proceeds from Sale of Investments — — 14,546

(97,127) (112,381) (77,769)
Purchases of Land and Buildings, Plant and 
Equipment and Infrastructure Systems (97,127) (112,381) (77,769)

873 — 1,558 Other 873 — 1,558

(91,353) (112,381) (61,041)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
iNVESTiNG ACTiViTiES (91,353) (112,381) (61,041)

CASH FLOWS FROM 
FiNANCiNG ACTiViTiES

(2,009) (2,042) (3,674) Repayment of Borrowings and Advances (2,009) (2,042) (3,674)

(2,009) (2,042) (3,674)
NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
FiNANCiNG ACTiViTiES  (2,009) (2,042) (3,674)

(21,753) (21,667) 36,825 NET iNCREASE/(DECREASE) iN CASH  (21,753) (21,667) 36,825

112,278 112,278 75,453 Opening Cash and Cash Equivalents 112,278 112,278 75,453

(2,563) (2,563) —
Cash Transferred in/(out) as a result of   
administrative restructuring (2,563) (2,563) — 

 87,962  88,048  112,278 
CLOSiNG CASH AND 
CASH EQUiVALENTS 18 87,962 88,048 112,278
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financial statements

Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

1. The Health Service Reporting Entity

 Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service was established under the provisions of the Health Services Act with effect from 

1 January 2005. 

 The Health Service, as a reporting entity, comprises all the operating activities of the Hospital facilities and the Community Health Centres 

under its control. It also encompasses the Special Purposes and Trust Funds which, while containing assets which are restricted for 

specified uses by the grantor or the donor, are nevertheless controlled by the Health Service. The Health Service is a not for profit entity.

 With effect from 17 March 2006 fundamental changes to the employment arrangements of Health Services were made through 

amendment to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 2002 and other Acts including the Health Services Act 1997.  

The status of the previous employees of Health Services changed from that date. They are now employees of the Government of  

New South Wales in the service of the Crown rather than employees of the Health Service. Employees of the Government are employed 

in Divisions of the Government Service.

 In accordance with Accounting Standards these Divisions are regarded as special purpose entities that must be consolidated with the 

financial report of the related Health Service. This is because the Divisions were established to provide personnel services to enable a 

Health Service to exercise its functions.

 As a consequence the values in the annual financial statements presented herein consist of the Health Service (as the parent entity),  

the financial report of the special purpose entity Division and the consolidated financial report of the economic entity. Notes have been 

extended to capture both the parent and consolidated values with notes 3, 4, 12, 23 and 30 being especially relevant.

 In the process of preparing the consolidated financial statements for the economic entity consisting of the controlling and controlled 

entities, all inter-entity transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

 The reporting entity is consolidated as part of the NSW Total State Sector Accounts.

 These financial statements have been authorised for issue by the Chief Executive on 14th December 2007.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

 The Health Service’s financial statements are a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with applicable 

Australian Accounting Standards (which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AEIFRS),  

the requirements of the Health Services Act 1997 and its regulations including observation of the Accounts and Audit Determination  

for Area Health Services and Public Hospitals.

 Property, plant and equipment, investment property, assets held for trading and available for sale are measured at fair value.  

Other financial statement items are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention. All amounts are rounded to the  

nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

 Judgements, key assumptions and estimations made by management are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements.

 The financial statements and notes comply with Australian Accounting Standards which include AEIFRS. 

 Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to give a meaningful comparison with the current year.

 AASB-2007.04, Amendments to Australians Accounting Standards arising from ED151 and other amendments, has application for 

accounting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2007. The standard is not being early adopted in 2006/07 and the new options 

available in the standard will not be applied.

 AASB123, Borrowing Costs, has application in reporting years beginning on or after 1 January 2009. The Standard, which requires 

capitalisation of Borrowing Costs has not been adopted in 2006/07 nor is adoption expected prior to 2009/10.

 AASB101, Presentation of Financial Statements, has reduced the disclosure requirements for various reporting entities.  

However, in not for profit entities such as Health Services there is no change required.

 AASB7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures, locates all disclosure requirements for financial instruments within the one standard.  

The Standard has application for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2007. The Standard will not be early  

adopted and has no differential impact.
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financial statements

Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

 Other significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these financial statements are as follows:

a) Employee Benefits and Other Provisions

i)  Salaries & Wages, Current Annual Leave, Sick Leave and On Costs (including non-monetary benefits)

 At the consolidated level of reporting liabilities for salaries and wages (including non monetary benefits), annual leave and paid 

sick leave that fall wholly within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised and measured in respect of employees’ services 

up to the reporting date at undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

 All Annual Leave employee benefits are reported as "Current" as there is an unconditional right to payment. Current liabilities 

are then further classified as "Short Term" or "Long Term" based on past trends and known resignations and retirements. 

Anticipated payments to be made in the next twelve months are reported as "Short Term". On costs of 21.7% are applied to 

the value of leave payable at 30 June 2007 inclusive of the 4% award increase payable from 1 July 2007, such on costs being 

consistent with actuarial assessment.

 Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future 

will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 The outstanding amounts of workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits which are consequential to 

employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate have been recognised.

ii) Long Service Leave and Superannuation Benefits

 At the consolidated level of reporting Long Service Leave employee leave entitlements are dissected as "Current" if there is an 

unconditional right to payment and "Non Current" if the entitlements are conditional. Current entitlements are further dissected 

between "Short Term" and "Long Term" on the basis of anticipated payments for the next twelve months. This in turn is based 

on past trends and known resignations and retirements.

 Long Service Leave provisions are measured on a short hand basis at an escalated rate of 8.1% inclusive of the 4% payable from 

1 July 2007 for all employees with five or more years of service. Actuarial assessment has found that this measurement technique 

produces results not materially different from the estimate determined by using the present value basis of measurement.

 The Health Service’s liability for the closed superannuation pool schemes (State Authorities Superannuation Scheme and State 

Superannuation Scheme) is assumed by the Crown Entity. The Health Service accounts for the liability as having been extinguished 

resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as "Acceptance by the Crown 

Entity of Employee Benefits". Any liability attached to Superannuation Guarantee Charge cover is reported in Note 23, "Payables".

 The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified by the NSW Health Department. 

The expense for certain superannuation schemes (ie Basic Benefit and First State Super) is calculated as a percentage of the 

employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (ie State Superannuation Scheme and State Authorities Superannuation 

Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

 Consequential to the legislative changes of 17 March 2006 no salary costs or provisions have been recognised by the Parent 

Health Service beyond that date.

iii) Other Provisions

 Other provisions exist when the agency has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; it is probable that 

an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

 These provisions are recognised when it is probable that a future sacrifice of economic benefits will be required and the amount 

can be measured reliably. 

b) insurance

 The Health Service’s insurance activities are conducted through the NSW Treasury Managed Fund Scheme of self insurance for 

Government Agencies. The expense (premium) is determined by the Fund Manager based on past experience.

c) Finance Costs

 Finance costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they are incurred.
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Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

d) income Recognition

 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration or contribution received or receivable. Additional comments regarding the 

accounting policies for the recognition of revenue are discussed below.

Sale of Goods and Services

 Revenue from the sale of goods and services comprises revenue from the provision of products or services, ie user charges.  

User charges are recognised as revenue when the service is provided or by reference to the stage of completion.

Patient Fees

 Patient Fees are derived from chargeable inpatients and non-inpatients on the basis of rates specified by the NSW Health 

Department from time to time.

Investment Income

 Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest method as set out in AASB139, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement". Rental revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB117 "Leases" on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

Dividend revenue is recognised in accordance with AASB118 when the Health Service’s right to receive payment is established.

Debt Forgiveness

 Debts are accounted for as extinguished when and only when settlement occurs through repayment or replacement by another liability.

Use of Hospital Facilities

 Specialist doctors with rights of private practice are subject to an infrastructure charge for the use of hospital facilities at rates 

determined by the NSW Health Department. Charges consist of two components: 

 * a monthly charge raised by the Health Service based on a percentage of receipts generated

 *  the residue of the Private Practice Trust Fund at the end of each financial year, such sum being credited for Health Service use in 

the advancement of the Health Service or individuals within it.

Use of Outside Facilities

 The Health Service uses a number of facilities owned and maintained by the local authorities in the area to deliver community 

health services for which no charges are raised by the authorities. The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of 

all such services with cost being determined as the fair value of the services given which is then duly recognised as both revenue 

and matching expense. 

Grants and Contributions

 Grants and Contributions are generally recognised as revenues when the Health Service obtains control over the assets comprising 

the contributions. Control over contributions is normally obtained upon the receipt of cash.

NSW Health Department Allocations

 Payments are made by the NSW Health Department on the basis of the allocation for the Health Service as adjusted for approved 

supplementations mostly for salary agreements, patient flows between Health Services and approved enhancement projects.  

This allocation is included in the Operating Statement before arriving at the "Result for the Year" on the basis that the allocation  

is earned in return for the health services provided on behalf of the Department. Allocations are normally recognised upon the 

receipt of Cash.

 General operating expenses/revenues of the Royal Rehabilitation Centre and Hope Health Care have only been included in the 

Operating Statement prepared to the extent of the cash payments made to the Health Organisations concerned. The Health Service 

is not deemed to own or control the various assets/liabilities of the aforementioned Health Organisations and such amounts have 

been excluded from the Balance Sheet. Any exceptions are specifically listed in the notes that follow.

e) Goods & Services Tax (GST)

 Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except:

 *  the amount of GST incurred by the Health Service as a purchaser that is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office is 

recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense;

 * receivables and payables are stated with the amount of GST included.
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Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

f) inter Area and interstate Patient Flows

Inter Area Patient Flows

 Health Services recognise patient flows from acute inpatients (other than Mental Health Services), emergency and rehabilitation 

and extended care.

 Patient flows have been calculated using benchmarks for the cost of services for each of the categories identified and deducting 

estimated revenue, based on the payment category of the patient.

 The adjustments have no effect on equity values as the movement in Net Cost of Services is matched by a corresponding 

adjustment to the value of the NSW Health Recurrent Allocation.

Inter State Patient Flows

 Health Services recognise the outflow of acute inpatients from the area in which they are resident to other States and Territories 

within Australia. The Health Services also recognise the value of inflows for acute inpatient treatment provided to residents from 

other States and Territories. The expense and revenue values reported within the financial statements have been based on 2005/06 

activity data using standard cost weighted separation values to reflect estimated costs in 2006/07 for acute weighted inpatient 

separations. Where treatment is obtained outside the home health service, the State/Territory providing the service is reimbursed  

by the benefiting home Health Service.

 The reporting adopted for both inter area and interstate patient flows aims to provide a greater accuracy of the cost of service 

provision to the Area’s resident population and disclose the extent to which service is provided to non residents.

 The composition of patient flow expense/revenue is disclosed in Notes 5 and 10.

g) Acquisition of Assets

 The cost method of accounting is used for the initial recording of all acquisitions of assets controlled by the Health Service.  

Cost is the amount of cash or cash equivalents paid or the fair value of the other consideration given to acquire the asset at the 

time of its acquisition or construction or, where applicable, the amount attributed to that asset when initially recognised in 

accordance with the specific requirements of other Australian Accounting Standards.

 Assets acquired at no cost, or for nominal consideration, are initially recognised as assets and revenues at their fair value at the 

date of acquisition except for assets transferred as a result of an administrative restructure.

 Fair value means the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s  

length transaction.

 Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred beyond normal credit terms, its cost is the cash price equivalent,  

i.e. the deferred payment amount is effectively discounted at an asset-specific rate.

 Land and Buildings which are owned by the Health Administration Corporation or the State and administered by the Health Service 

are deemed to be controlled by the Health Service and are reflected as such in the financial statements.

h) Plant & Equipment and infrastructure Systems

 Individual items of property, plant & equipment are capitalised where their cost is $10,000 or above. Prior to 1 July 2006 assets 

were recognised based on a value of $5,000 or above.

 "Infrastructure Systems" means assets that comprise public facilities and which provide essential services and enhance the 

productive capacity of the economy including roads, bridges, water infrastructure and distribution works, sewerage treatment 

plants, seawalls and water reticulation systems.
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

i) Depreciation

 Depreciation is provided for on a straight line basis for all depreciable assets so as to write off the depreciable amount of each asset 

as it is consumed over its useful life to the Health Service. Land is not a depreciable asset.

 Details of depreciation rates initially applied for major asset categories are as follows:

 Buildings   .........................................................................................2.5%

 Electro Medical Equipment  – Costing less than $200,000  .........................................10.0%

   – Costing more than or equal to $200,000  .....................12.5%

 Computer Equipment   .......................................................................................20.0%

 Infrastructure Systems   .........................................................................................2.5%

 Office Equipment   .......................................................................................10.0%

 Plant and Machinery   .......................................................................................10.0%

 Linen   .......................................................................................20.0%

 Furniture, Fittings and Furnishings  ....................................................................................5.0%

 Depreciation rates are subsequently varied where changes occur in the assessment of the remaining useful life of the assets reported.

j) Revaluation of Non-Current Assets

 Physical non-current assets are valued in accordance with the NSW Health Department’s "Valuation of Physical Non-Current Assets 

at Fair Value". This policy adopts fair value in accordance with AASB116, "Property, Plant & Equipment" and AASB140, 

"Investment Property". 

 Property, plant and equipment is measured on an existing use basis, where there are no feasible alternative uses in the existing 

natural, legal, financial and socio-political environment. However, in the limited circumstances where there are feasible alternative 

uses, assets are valued at their highest and best use.

 Fair value of property, plant and equipment is determined based on the best available market evidence, including current market 

selling prices for the same or similar assets. Where there is no available market evidence the asset’s fair value is measured at its 

market buying price, the best indicator of which is depreciated replacement cost.

 The Health Service revalues Land and Buildings and Infrastructure at minimum every three years by independent valuation and with 

sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount of each asset does not differ materially from its fair value at reporting date. 

The last revaluation for assets assumed by the Area as at 30 June 2005 was completed on 30 June 2005 and was based on an 

independent assessment.

 Non-specialised assets with short useful lives are measured at depreciated historical cost, as a surrogate for fair value.

 When revaluing non-current assets by reference to current prices for assets newer than those being revalued (adjusted to reflect 

the present condition of the assets), the gross amount and the related accumulated depreciation are separately restated.

 For other assets, any balances of accumulated depreciation existing at the revaluation date in respect of those assets are credited  

to the asset accounts to which they relate. The net asset accounts are then increased or decreased by the revaluation increments  

or decrements.

 Revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve, except that, to the extent that an increment reverses a 

revaluation decrement in respect of that class of asset previously recognised as an expense in the Result for the Year, the increment 

is recognised immediately as revenue in the Result for the Year.

 Revaluation decrements are recognised immediately as expenses in the Result for the Year, except that, to the extent that a  

credit balance exists in the asset revaluation reserve in respect of the same class of assets, they are debited directly to the asset 

revaluation reserve. 

 As a not-for-profit entity, revaluation increments and decrements are offset against one another within a class of non-current 

assets, but not otherwise.

 Where an asset that has previously been revalued is disposed of, any balance remaining in the asset revaluation reserve in respect 

of that asset is transferred to accumulated funds.
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k) impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment

 As a not-for-profit entity with no cash generating units, the Health Service is effectively exempt from AASB 136 Impairment of 

Assets and impairment testing. This is because AASB136 modifies the recoverable amount test to the higher of fair value less costs 

to sell and depreciated replacement cost. This means that, for an asset already measured at fair value, impairment can only arise if 

selling costs are regarded as material. Selling costs are regarded as immaterial.

l) Restoration Costs

 The estimated cost of dismantling and removing an asset and restoring the site is included in the cost of an asset, to the extent it is 

recognised as a liability.

m) Non-Current Assets (or disposal groups) Held for Sale

 The Health Service has certain non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as held for sale, where their carrying amount will be 

recovered principally through a sale transaction, not through continuing use. Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale 

are recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell. These assets are not depreciated while they are 

classified as held for sale.

n) investment Properties

 Investment property is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. However, for not-for-profit entities, property held to 

meet service delivery objectives rather than to earn rental or for capital appreciation does not meet the definition of investment 

property and is accounted for under AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment. The Health Service does not have any property that 

meets the definition of Investment Property.

o) intangible Assets

 The Health Service recognises intangible assets only if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the Health Service and 

the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. Where an asset is acquired at no or 

nominal cost, the cost is its fair value as at the date of acquisition. All research costs are expensed. Development costs are only 

capitalised when certain criteria are met. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be finite. Intangible assets are subsequently 

measured at fair value only if there is an active market. As there is no active market for the Health Service’s intangible assets, the assets 

are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation. The Health Service’s intangible assets are amortised using the straight line 

method based on the useful life of the asset. In general, intangible assets are tested for impairment where an indicator of impairment 

exists. However, as a not-for-profit entity the Health Service is effectively exempted from impairment testing (see Note 2[k]).

p) Maintenance 

 The costs of maintenance are charged as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a component of an 

asset in which case the costs are capitalised and depreciated.

q) Leased Assets

 A distinction is made between finance leases which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the risks and 

benefits incidental to ownership of the leased assets, and operating leases under which the lessor effectively retains all such risks 

and benefits.

 Where a non-current asset is acquired by means of a finance lease, the asset is recognised at its fair value at the commencement of 

the lease term. The corresponding liability is established at the same amount. Lease payments are allocated between the principal 

component and the interest expense.

 Operating lease payments are charged to the Operating Statement in the periods in which they are incurred.

r) inventories

 Inventories are stated at cost. Costs are assigned to individual items of stock mainly on the basis of weighted average costs.

 Obsolete items are disposed of in accordance with instructions issued by the NSW Health Department.
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s) Other Financial Assets

 Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 

transaction costs.

 The Health Service subsequently measures financial assets classified as held for trading at fair value through profit or loss.  

Gains or losses on these assets are recognised in the Operating Statement. Assets intended to be held to maturity are subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses on impairment or disposal of these assets are 

recognised in the Operating Statement. Any residual investments that do not fall into any other category are accounted for as 

available for sale financial assets and measured at fair value directly in equity until disposed or impaired. All financial assets  

(except those measured at fair value through profit or loss) are subject to annual review for impairment.

 Purchases or sales of financial assets under contract that require delivery of the asset within the timeframe established by 

convention or regulation are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date the Health Service commits itself to purchase or sell the assets. 

t) Equity Transfers

 The transfer of net assets between agencies as a result of an administrative restructure, transfers of programs/functions and parts 

thereof between NSW public sector agencies is designated as a contribution by owners and is recognised as an adjustment to 

"Accumulated Funds". 

 Transfers arising from an administrative restructure between Health Services/government departments are recognised at the 

amount at which the asset was recognised by the transferor Health Service/Government Department immediately prior to the 

restructure. In most instances this will approximate fair value. All other equity transfers are recognised at fair value.

 The Statement of Changes in Equity does not reflect the Net Assets or change in equity in accordance with AASB 101 Clause 97.

u) Financial instruments

 Financial instruments give rise to positions that are a financial asset of either Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health 

Service or its counter party and a financial liability (or equity instrument) of the other party. For Northern Sydney and Central Coast 

Area Health Service these include cash at bank, receivables, other financial assets, payables and interest bearing liabilities.

 In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB139, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement" disclosure 

of the carrying amounts for each of the AASB139 categories of financial instruments is disclosed in Note 36. The specific 

accounting policy in respect of each class of such financial instrument is stated hereunder.

 Classes of instruments recorded and their terms and conditions measured in accordance with AASB139 are as follows:

Cash

 Accounting Policies – Cash is carried at nominal values reconcilable to monies on hand and independent bank statements.

 Terms and Conditions – Monies on deposit attract an effective interest rate of approximately 6.07% as compared to 5.35% in  

the previous year.

Loans and Receivables

 Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value.  

Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. 

Short-term receivables with no stated interest rate are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is 

immaterial. An allowance for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be 

able to collect all amounts due. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. Bad debts are written off as incurred. 

Terms and Conditions – Accounts are generally issued on 30 day terms.

 Low or zero interest loans are recorded at fair value on inception and amortised cost thereafter. In 2005/06 this involved the 

restatement of loan values as at 1 July 2005 for all loans negotiated prior to that date. 
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Designation of Financial Assets – TCorp Hour-Glass Investment Facilities

 The Hour Glass Investment facilities are unit trust investment funds managed by NSW Treasury Corporation. The agency has been 

issued with a number of units in Hour Glass Investment Facilities - Cash Facility, based on the amount of the deposit and the unit 

value for the day.

  Investments in the TCorp Hour Glass Investment facilities were designated at ‘fair value through profit or loss’, in accordance  

with AASB 139. 

 The Hour Glass Investment facilities were designated at ‘fair value through profit or loss’ using the second leg of the fair value 

option i.e. these financial assets are managed and their performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a 

documented risk management strategy, and information about those assets is provided internally on that basis to the Health 

Service’s key management personnel.

 Terms and Conditions – Treasury Corporation Hour Glass Investment Deposits attracted a Facility Return of 6.41% in the year 

ended 30 June 2007. This compares with an average Facility Return of 5.69% in the previous year.

Other Investments

 Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service currently hold no other investments as all Investments are currently with TCorp.

Trade and Other Payables

 Accounting Policies – These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Health Service and other  

amounts, including interest. Payables are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value.  

Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short-term payables with no stated interest rate 

are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. Payables are recognised for amounts to 

be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Health Service.

 Terms and Conditions – Trade liabilities are settled within any terms specified. If no terms are specified, payment is made by the  

end of the month following the month in which the invoice is received.

Borrowings

 Accounting Policies – Bank Overdrafts are carried at the principal amount. Other loans are classified as non trading liabilities and 

measured at amortised cost. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues.

v) Borrowings

 Non interest bearing loans within NSW Health are initially measured at fair value and amortised thereafter. All other loans are 

valued at amortised cost.

w) Trust Funds

 The Health Service receives monies in a trustee capacity for various trusts as set out in Note 30. As the Health Service performs only 

a custodial role in respect of these monies, and because the monies cannot be used for the achievement of the Health Service’s 

own objectives, they are not brought to account in the financial statements.

x) Budgeted Amounts

 The budgeted amounts are drawn from the budgets agreed with the NSW Health Department at the beginning of the financial 

reporting period and with any adjustments for the effects of additional supplementation provided. 
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   3. Employee Related

    Employee related expenses comprise the following:

 —  498,258  Salaries and Wages  757,125   703,753 

 —  13,565  Superannuation [see note 2(a)] – defined benefit plans  18,617   18,697 

 —  40,939  Superannuation [see note 2(a)] -– defined contributions  59,896   57,824 

 —  17,784  Long Service Leave [see note 2(a)]  23,543   25,118 

 —  52,348  Annual Leave [see note 2(a)]  76,362   73,934 

 —  12,236  Sick Leave and Other Leave  18,425   17,282 

 —  403  Redundancies  955   1,033 

 —  13,968  Workers Compensation Insurance  14,575   19,729 

 —  54  Fringe Benefits Tax — 75

 —  649,555    969,498   917,445 

   The following additional information is provided:

   Employee Related Expenses capitalised – Land and Buildings  1,240   914 

   Note 1 addresses the changes in employment status effective  
   from 17 March 2006 

   4. Personnel Services

   Personnel Services comprise the purchase of the following:

  757,125   205,495  Salaries and Wages — —

  18,617   5,132  Superannuation [see note 2(a)] - defined benefit plans — —

  59,896   16,885  Superannuation [see note 2(a)] - defined contributions — —

  23,543   7,334  Long Service Leave [see note 2(a)] — —

  76,362   21,586  Annual Leave [see note 2(a)] — —

  18,425   5,046  Sick Leave and Other Leave — —

  955   630  Redundancies — —

  14,575   5,761  Workers Compensation Insurance — —

 —  21  Fringe Benefits Tax — —

  969,498   267,890   — —
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   5. Other Operating Expenses

 9,107 7,867 Blood and Blood Products 9,107 7,867

 16,560 17,486 Domestic Supplies and Services 16,560 17,486

 52,766 47,795 Drug Supplies 52,766 47,795

 12,445 12,088 Food Supplies 12,445 12,088

 7,607 7,575 Fuel, Light and Power 7,607 7,575

 29,899 27,435 General Expenses – refer (b) below 29,899 27,435

 4,118 3,766 Hospital Ambulance Transport Costs 4,118 3,766

 5,138 5,113 Information Management Expenses 5,138 5,113

 1,359 1,183 Insurance 1,359 1,183

 117,925 103,175 Inter Area Patient Outflows, NSW refer (d) below 117,925 103,175

 2,835 4,335 Interstate Patient Outflows refer (e) below 2,835 4,335

   Maintenance – refer (c) below

 13,154 10,433 Maintenance Contracts 13,154 10,433

 14,997 12,979 New/Replacement Equipment under $10,000 14,997 12,979

 8,637 9,849 Repairs 8,637 9,849

 3,064 297 Maintenance/Non Contract 3,064 297

 79,107 68,658 Medical and Surgical Supplies 79,107 68,658

 5,765 4,822 Postal and Telephone Costs 5,765 4,822

 5,630 5,112 Printing and Stationery 5,630 5,112

 2,659 1,838 Rates and Charges 2,659 1,838

 1,484 1,797 Rental 1,484 1,797

 26,337 22,776 Special Service Departments 26,337 22,776

 2,450 2,104 Staff Related Costs 2,450 2,104

 826 521 Sundry Operating Expenses – refer (a) below 826 521

 5,152 4,740 Travel Related Costs 5,152 4,740

 429,021  383,744   429,021  383,744 

   a) Sundry Operating Expenses comprise:

 826 521 Contracts for Patient Services 826 521

 826 521  826 521
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   b) General Expenses include:

 1,376 1,211 Advertising  1,376  1,211

 1,008 843 Books, Magazines and Journals  1,008  843

   Consultancies

 — 204 – Operating Activities — 204

 1,535  1,870  Courier and Freight 1,535 1,870

 301 430 Auditor’s Remuneration – Audit of financial reports  301  430

 552 14 Data Recording and Storage 552 14

  798   648  Legal Services  798  648

  205   526  Membership/Professional Fees  205  526

  5,404   4,810  Motor Vehicle Operating Lease Expense – minimum lease payments  5,404  4,810

  5,260   6,593  Other Operating Lease Expense – minimum lease payments  5,260  6,593

  19  — Payroll Services  19  —

  195  73 Quality Assurance/Accreditation  195  73

  436  400 Translator Services  436  400

 2,535 2,195 Commissions on Agency Payments 2,535 2,195

  10,275  7,618 Other  10,275  7,618

  29,899   27,435    29,899   27,435 

   c) Reconciliation Total Maintenance

   Employee related/Personnel Services maintenance expense included 
  13,694  8,193 in Notes 3 and 4 13,694 11,502

  13,694    8,193   Total maintenance expenses included in Notes 3 and 4.  13,694    11,502 

   d) Expenses for Inter Area Patient Flows, NSW on an Area 

    basis are as follows:

  39,660  35,448 Sydney South West  39,660  35,448

 33,478  29,168 South East Illawarra  33,478  29,168

  15,728  13,822 Sydney West  15,728  13,822

  8,767  8,533 Hunter New England  8,767  8,533

  1,188  1,224 North Coast  1,188  1,224

  428  389 Greater Southern  428  389

 486 487 Greater Western  486  487

 18,190 14,104 Children’s Hospital Westmead  18,190  14,104

	 117,925 103,175   117,925  103,175
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   e) Expenses for Interstate Patient Flows are as follows:

  691  776 Australian Capital Territory  691  776

  224  55 Northern Territory  224  55

  1,526  1,405 Queensland  1,526  1,405

  (317) 610 South Australia  (317) 610

  (42) 305 Tasmania  (42) 305

  645  701 Victoria  645  701

  108  483 Western Australia  108  483

  2,835  4,335   2,835  4,335

   6. Depreciation and Amortisation

  34,607  33,975 Depreciation – Buildings  34,607  33,975

  13,294  12,855 Depreciation – Plant and Equipment  13,294  12,855

  1,003  1,665 Depreciation – Infrastructure Systems  1,003  1,665

 — 31 Amortisation – Intangible Assets — 31

  152  137 Amortisation – Other  152  137

  49,056  48,663   49,056  48,663

   7. Grants and Subsidies

  8,579  10,610 Non Government Voluntary Organisations  8,579  10,610

  3,043  2,310 Grants to Community Aged Care  3,043  2,310

  7,035  1,403 Other  7,035  1,403

  18,657  14,323   18,657  14,323

   8. Finance Costs

  443  599 Interest on Bank Overdrafts and Loans  443  599

  443  599 Total Borrowing Costs  443  599

   9. Payments to Affiliated Health Organisations

   a) Recurrent Sourced

  18,619  16,753 Hope Healthcare  18,619  16,753

  23,657  21,689 Royal Rehabilitation Centre, Sydney  23,657  21,689

  42,276  38,442   42,276  38,442

Northern Sydney Central Coast Health • 2006/2007 Annual Report 90



financial statements

Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   10. Sale of Goods and Service

   a) Sale of Goods comprise the following:

  5,633  4,476 Sale of Prosthesis  5,633  4,476

  303   224  Pharmacy Sale  303   224 

   b) Rendering of Services comprise the following:

  97,502  88,496 Patient Fees [see note 2(d)]  97,502  88,496

  1,853  2,845 Staff Meals and Accommodation  1,853  2,845

  22,811  24,973 Infrastructure Fees – Monthly Facility Charge [see note 2(d)]  22,811  24,973

  4,248  7  – Annual Charge  4,248  7

  1,175   1,129  Cafeteria/Kiosk 1,175   1,129 

  4,767  4,042  Car Parking   4,767   4,042 

  1,662  1,581  Child Care Fees  1,662   1,581 

  86   34  Commercial Activities 86   34 

 223  185  Fees for Medical Records 223   185

 100,167   92,935  Inter Area Patient Inflows, NSW  100,167   92,935

 811   2,890  Linen Service Revenues – Other Health Services  811   2,890

 1,088   2,498  Linen Service Revenues – Non Health Services  1,088   2,498

 355  332  Meals on Wheels  355   332

  553   599 Salary Packaging Fee  553   599

 315   486  Services Provided to Non NSW Health Organisations  315   486

  136   157  PADP Patient Co-payments 136   157 

  3,803   2,855  Patient Inflows from Interstate 3,803   2,855 

  18,964  18,075  Other  18,964   18,075 

  266,455  248,819   266,455  248,819

   c) Revenues from Inter Area Patient Flows, NSW on an Area basis 

    are as follows:

  13,520  13,351 Sydney South West  13,520  13,351

  8,401  7,898 South East Illawarra  8,401  7,898

  37,184  33,724 Sydney West  37,184  33,724

  22,638  19,779 Hunter New England  22,638  19,779

  10,159  8,630 North Coast  10,159  8,630

  1,555  2,292 Greater Southern  1,555  2,292

  6,710  7,261 Greater Western  6,710  7,261

  100,167  92,935   100,167  92,935
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   d) Revenues from Patient Inflows from Interstate are as follows:

  632  708 Australian Capital Territory  632  708

  138  29 Northern Territory  138  29

  2,021  1,213 Queensland  2,021  1,213

  192  186 South Australia  192  186

  131  7 Tasmania  131  7

  485  734 Victoria  485  734

  204  (22) Western Australia  204  (22)

  3,803  2,855   3,803  2,855

   11. Investment Income

  6,129  5,275 Interest  6,129  5,275

  578  194 Lease and Rental Income  578  194

  6,707  5,469   6,707  5,469

   12. Grants and Contributions

  2,535  1,601 Clinical Drug Trials  2,535  1,601

  2,719  3,719 Commonwealth Government Grants  2,719  3,719

  9,922  7,485 Industry Contributions/Donations  9,922  7,485

  4,255  4,134 Mammography Grants  4,255  4,134

  1,944  1,989 NSW Government Grants  1,944  1,989

  18,617  5,132 Personnel Services – Superannuation Defined Benefits —  —

  4,252  68 Research Grants  4,252  68

  68  39 University Commission Grants  68  39

  2,029  2,977 Other Grants  2,029  2,977

  46,341  27,144   27,724  22,012

   13. Other Revenue

   Other Revenue comprises the following:

  449  309 Commissions 449 309

  60  74 Conference and Training Fees 60 74

  13  45 Discounts 13 45

  17  64 Sale of Merchandise, Old Wares and Books  17  64

  25  33 Sponsorship Income  25  33

  4,648  4,594 Treasury Managed Fund Hindsight Adjustment  4,648  4,594

  1,961   — Other  1,961  —

 7,173 5,119  7,173 5,119
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  20076 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   14. Gain/(Loss) on Disposal

  10,068  16,365 Property Plant and Equipment  10,068  16,365

  5,212  14,312 Less Accumulated Depreciation  5,212  14,312

  4,856  2,053 Written Down Value  4,856  2,053

  4,901  381 Less Proceeds from Disposal  4,901  381

   Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of
  45  (1,672) Property Plant and Equipment  45  (1,672)

 – (119) Intangible Assets – (119)

 – – Less Proceeds from Disposal – –

 – (119) Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of intangible Assets – (119)

 – (247) Assets Held for Sale – (247)

 – (243) Less Proceeds from Disposal – (243)

 – (4) Gain/(Loss) on Disposal of Assets Held for Sale – (4)

	 	45 	 (1,795) Total Gain/(Loss) on Disposal  45  (1,795)

   15. Other Gains/(Losses)

  (2,658) (1,371) Impairment of Receivables  (2,658) (1,371)

  (2,658) (1,371)   (2,658) (1,371)

PARENT AND CONSOLIDATION

16. Conditions on Contributions

 Purchase of Health Promotion, Other Total 
 Assets Education and 
  Research

 $000 $000 $000 $000

Contributions recognised as revenues during 
the current reporting period for which 
expenditure in the manner specified had not 
occurred as at balance date  523   21,522   738   22,783 

Contributions recognised in amalgamated 
balance as at 30 June 2006 which were not 
expended in the current reporting period  487   53,955   692   55,134 

Total amount of unexpended contributions 
as at balance date  1,010   75,477   1,430   77,917 

Comment on restricted assets appears in Note 22
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17.  Programs/Activities of the Health Service 

Program 1.1 – Primary and Community Based Services

Objective: To improve, maintain or restore health through health promotion, early intervention, assessment, therapy and treatment 

  services for clients in a home or community setting.

Program 1.2 – Aboriginal Health Services

Objective: To raise the health status of Aborigines and to promote a healthy life style.

Program 1.3 – Outpatient Services

Objective: To improve, maintain or restore health through diagnosis, therapy, education and treatment services for ambulant 

  patients in a hospital setting.

Program 2.1 – Emergency Services

Objective: To reduce the risk of premature death and disability for people suffering injury or acute illness by providing timely 

  emergency diagnostic, treatment and transport services.

Program 2.2 – Overnight Acute inpatient Services

Objective: To restore or improve health and manage risks of illness, injury and childbirth through diagnosis and treatment for 

  people intended to be admitted to hospital on an overnight basis.

Program 2.3 – Same Day Acute inpatient Services

Objective: To restore or improve health and manage risks of illness, injury and childbirth through diagnosis and treatment for 

  people intended to be admitted to hospital and discharged on the same day.

Program 3.1 – Mental Health Services 

Objective: To improve the health, well being and social functioning of people with disabling mental disorders and to reduce 

  the incidence of suicide, mental health problems and mental disorders in the community.

Program 4.1 – Rehabilitation and Extended Care Services

Objective: To improve or maintain the well being and independent functioning of people with disabilities or chronic conditions, 

  the frail aged and the terminally ill.

Program 5.1 – Population Health Services 

Objective: To promote health and reduce the incidence of preventable disease and disability by improving access to opportunities 

  and prerequisites for good health.

Program 6.1 – Teaching and Research

Objective:  To develop the skills and knowledge of the health workforce to support patient care and population health.  

To extend knowledge through scientific enquiry and applied research aimed at improving the health and well being of 

the people of New South Wales.
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   18. Current Assets – Cash and Cash Equivalents

  87,962   91,330  Cash at bank and on hand  87,962   91,330 

 —  20,948  Short Term Deposits —  20,948 

  87,962   112,278    87,962   112,278 

   Cash assets recognised in the Balance Sheet are reconciled to 
   cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the 
   Cash Flow Statement as follows:

  87,962   112,278  Cash and cash equivalents (per Balance Sheet)  87,962   112,278 

  87,962   112,278  Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents (per Cash Flow Statement)  87,962   112,278 

   19. Current/Non Current Receivables

   Current

  24,957  22,625 a) Sale of Goods and Services  24,957  22,625

  2,733  –  Leave Mobility  2,733  –

  321  20  NSW Health Department  321  20

  5,890  5,733  – GST  5,890  5,733

  33,901  28,378 Sub Total  33,901  28,378

  (2,753) (1,197) Less Allowance for impairment  (2,753) (1,197)

  31,148  27,181 Sub Total  31,148   27,181

  3,175  3,055 Prepayments  3,175  3,055

  34,323  30,236 Total Current Receivables  34,323  30,236

   b) Impairment of Receivables during the year – 

   Current Receivables

  1,101  1,728 – Sale of Goods and Services  1,101  1,728

 – 79 – Other – 79

  1,101  1,807   1,101  1,807

   Non Current

  1,478  1,514 Prepayments  1,478  1,514

  1,478  1,514 Total Non Current Receivables  1,478  1,514

   c) Sale of Goods and Services Receivables include:

  1,110  1,507 – Patient Fees – Compensable  1,110  1,507

  1,875  1,882 – Patient Fees – Ineligible  1,875  1,882

  7,346  7,143 – Patient Fees – Other  7,346  7,143

  10,331    10,532     10,331   10,532 
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   20. Inventories

   Current – at cost

  4,195  3,641 Drugs  4,195  3,641

  8,339  7,624 Medical and Surgical Supplies  8,339  7,624

  244  213 Food and Hotel Supplies  244  213

  81  – Engineering Supplies  81  –

  12,859   11,478    12,859   11,478 

   21. Property, Plant and Equipment

   Land and Buildings

  1,800,018  1,718,053 At Fair Value  1,800,018  1,718,053

  697,748  659,169 Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment  697,748  659,169

  1,102,270  1,058,884 Net Carrying Amount  1,102,270  1,058,884

    Plant and Equipment

  199,510  189,216 At Fair Value  199,510  189,216

  127,962  115,842 Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment  127,962  115,842

 71,548  73,374 Net Carrying Amount  71,548  73,374

    infrastructure Systems

  40,118  40,118 At Fair Value 40,118 40,118

  2,741  1,738 Less Accumulated depreciation and impairment  2,741  1,738

  37,377  38,380 Net Carrying Amount  37,377  38,380

   Total Property, Plant and Equipment
  1,211,195  1,170,638 at Net Carrying Value  1,211,195  1,170,638
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21. Property, Plant and Equipment – Reconciliations

 Land Buildings Work in Leased Plant and infrastructure Other Leased  Total 
   Progress Buildings Equipment Systems Assets  
2007 $000  $000  $000  $000 $000  $000 $000  $000

Carrying amount at 
start of year  321,271   682,407   54,325   881   73,374   38,380  –  1,170,638 

Additions –  9,851   70,863   1,278   14,125  – –  96,117 

Disposals  (3,650)  (1,070) – –  (137) – –  (4,857)

Administrative restructures 
– transfers in and out – – – – (2,520) –  – (2,520)

Net revaluation increment 
less revaluation decrements  
recognised in reserves – 873 – – – – – 873

Depreciation expense –  (34,607) –  (152)  (13,294)  (1,003)  – (49,056)

Reclassifications  21,568  – (21,568) – – – – –

Carrying amount at 
end of year  339,189   657,454   103,620   2,007   71,548   37,377  –  1,211,195  

 Land Buildings Work in Leased Plant and infrastructure Other Leased  Total 
   Progress Buildings Equipment Systems Assets  
2006 $000  $000  $000  $000 $000  $000 $000  $000

Carrying amount at 
start of year 320,646 716,637 2,067 1,016 64,039 40,045 – 1,144,450

Additions 25 1,110 52,258 2 22,878 – – 76,873

Disposals – (1,365) – – (688) – – (2,053)

Depreciation expense – (33,975) – (137) (12,855) (1,665) – (48,632)

Carrying amount at 
end of year 321,271 682,407 54,325 881 73,374 38,380 – 1,170,638

i) Land and Buildings include land owned by the NSW Health Department and administered by the Health Service [see note 2(g)].

ii) Land and Buildings were valued 30th June 2005 by Graham Scrymgeaur AAIP (certified practising valuer), NSW registration No 1578 
for and on behalf of Global Valuation Services Ltd, and he is not an employee of the Health Service [see note 2(j)].
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   22.  Restricted Assets

   The Health Service’s financial statements include the following 
   assets which are restricted by externally imposed conditions, 
   eg. donor requirements. The assets are only available for application 
   in accordance with the terms of the donor restrictions.

  37,421  33,244 Specific Purposes   37,421  33,244

  18,079  16,967 Research Grants   18,079  16,967

  22,417  22,348 Private Practice Funds   22,417  22,348

  77,917  72,559  77,917 72,559

   23.  Payables

   Current

 – – Accrued Salaries and Wages  23,612   25,421

 – – Payroll Deductions  186  19

  23,798  25,440 Accrued Liability – Purchase of Personnel Services – –

  14,031  13,713 Creditors 14,031  13,713 

   Other Creditors

  7,944  4,273  – Capital Works  7,944  4,273

  1,854  324  – Intra Health Liability  1,854  324

  37,270  49,158  – Other 37,270  49,158

  84,897  92,908   84,897  92,908

   24. Current/Non Current Borrowings

   Current

  106  327 Other Loans and Deposits  106  327

  2,603  2,500 Other  2,603  2,500

  2,709  2,827   2,709  2,827

   Non Current

  163  269 Other Loans and Deposits  163  269

  2,354  4,139 Other  2,354  4,139

  2,517  4,408   2,517  4,408

   Other loans still to be extinguished represent monies to be repaid 
   to the NSW Health Department/Sustainable Energy Development Authority 
   Final Repayment is scheduled for 30th June 2014.

   Repayment of Borrowings 
   (excluding Finance Leases)

  2,709  2,827 Not later than one year  2,709  2,827

  2,517  4,408 Between one and five years  2,517  4,408

 – – Later than five years – –

  5,226  7,235 Total Borrowings at face value (excluding Finance Leases)  5,226  7,235
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   25. Provisions

   Current Employee benefits and related on-costs

 – – Employee Annual Leave – Short Term Benefit  113,303   83,498 

 – – Employee Annual Leave – Long Term Benefit  2,158   21,210 

 – – Employee Long Service Leave – Short Term Benefit  17,172   18,359 

 – – Employee Long Service Leave – Long Term Benefit  121,649   110,861 

  254,282   233,928  Provision for Personnel Services Liability – –

  254,282   233,928  Total Current Provisions  254,282   233,928 

   Non Current Employee benefits and related on-costs

 – – Employee Long Service Leave – Conditional  7,140  6,136

 7,140 6,136 Provision for Personnel Services Liability – –

  7,140  6,136 Total Non Current Provisions  7,140  6,136

   Aggregate Employee Benefits and Related on-costs

 254,282  233,928 Provisions – current  254,282   233,928 

 7,140 6,136 Provisions – non-current  7,140   6,136 

 – – Accrued Salaries and Wages and on costs (Note 23)  23,798   25,440 

 23,798  25,440 Accrued Liability – Purchase of Personnel Services (Note 23) – –

 285,220   265,504   285,220   265,504 

   26. Other Liabilities

   Current

  263   476  Income in Advance 263  476

  2,611   2,229  Other  2,611 2,229

  2,874   2,705    2,874 2,705

   Non Current

  8,326   8,557  Income in Advance 8,326 8,557

  8,326   8,557   8,326 8,557

Northern Sydney Central Coast Health • 2006/2007 Annual Report99



financial statements

Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service

NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

PARENT AND CONSOLIDATION

27 Equity

 Accumulated Funds Asset Revaluation Reserve Total Equity

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Balance at the beginning of the 
financial reporting period  770,614  773,259  204,061  203,592  974,675  976,851

Correction of errors –  (13,957) – –  –  (13,957)

Recognise Interest Free Loan at Fair Value – 1,408 – – – 1,408

Restated Opening Balance  770,614   760,710   204,061  203,592  974,675   964,302 

Changes in equity – transactions with 
owners as owners

Increase/(Decrease) in Net Assets from 
Administrative Restructure  (2,563) – – –  (2,563) –

Total  768,051   760,710   204,061   203,592   972,112   964,302 

Changes in equity – other than 
transactions with owners as owners

Result for the year  12,087  11,176 – –  12,087  11,176

Correction of errors   (1,272)     (1,272)

Increment/(Decrement) on Revaluation of: 
Land and Buildings – –  873   469   873   469 

Total  12,087    9,904   873   469   12,960   10,373 

Transfers within equity

Asset revaluation reserve balances 
transferred to accumulated funds on 
disposal of asset 287 – (287) – – –

Total   287    –  (287)  –   –  – 

Balance at the end of the financial 
reporting period  780,425   770,614   204,647   204,061   985,072   974,675 

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non current assets. This accords with the 
Health Service’s policy on the “Revaluation of Physical Non Current Assets” and “Investments”, as discussed in Note 2(j).
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   28. Commitments for Expenditure

   a) Capital Commitments 
    Aggregate capital expenditure contracted for at balance date 
    but not provided for in the accounts:

  7,589  16,956 Not later than one year  7,589  16,956

  7,589  16,956 Total Capital Expenditure Commitments (including GST)  7,589  16,956

   Of the commitments reported at 30 June 2007 it is expected that  
   $380,600 will be met from locally generated moneys.

   b) Other Expenditure Commitments 
    Aggregate other expenditure contracted for at balance date but 
    not provided for in the accounts:

  44,091  13,427 Not later than one year  44,091  13,427

  44,091  13,427 Total Other Expenditure Commitments (including GST)  44,091  13,427

   c) Operating Lease Commitments 
    Commitments in relation to non-cancellable operating leases 
    are payable as follows:

  6,751  7,195 Not later than one year  6,751  7,195

  5,251  6,996 Later than one year and not later than five years  5,251  6,996

  896  295 Later than five years  896  295

 12,898   14,486  Total Operating Lease Commitments (including GST)   12,898    14,486 

    The Area Health Service has operating lease commitments  
for a number of items including motor vehicles, medical and  
computer equipment, photocopiers and building premises.  
The above amounts reflect the future commitment including GST  
for payments required under these existing operating leases.

   d) Contingent Asset related to Commitments for Expenditure

 5,871 4,079 The total of “Commitments for Expenditure” above, ie. $64.58 million  5,871 4,079 
   as at 30 June 2007 includes input tax credits of $5.87 million that are  
   expected to be recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office

  5,871  4,079 Total Contingent Asset related to Commitments for Expenditure  5,871  4,079

PARENT AND CONSOLIDATION

29. Trust Funds

 The Health Service holds trust fund moneys of $5.4 million which are used for the safe keeping of patients’ monies, deposits on hired 
items of equipment and Private Practice Trusts. These monies are excluded from the financial statements as the Health Service cannot 
use them for the achievement of its objectives. The following is a summary of the transactions in the trust account:

 Patient Trust Refundable Private Practice 
  Deposits Trust Funds

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 
 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Cash Balance at the beginning of the 
financial reporting period  452   426   544   771   4,485   3,306 

Receipts  1,303   834   303   211   41,602   8,516 

Expenditure  1,198   808   254   438   41,858   7,337 

Cash Balance at the end of the 
financial reporting period  557  452  593  544  4,229  4,485
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30 Contingent Liabilities 

 a) Claims on Managed Fund

 Since 1 July 1989, the Health Service has been a member of the NSW Treasury Managed Fund. The Fund will pay to or on behalf  

of the Health Service all sums which it shall become legally liable to pay by way of compensation or legal liability if sued except  

for employment related, discrimination and harassment claims that do not have statewide implications. The costs relating to such 

exceptions are to be absorbed by the Health Service. As such, since 1 July 1989, apart from the exceptions noted above no 

contingent liabilities exist in respect of liability claims against the Health Service. A Solvency Fund (now called Pre-Managed Fund 

Reserve) was established to deal with the insurance matters incurred before 1 July 1989 that were above the limit of insurance  

held or for matters that were incurred prior to 1 July 1989 that would have become verdicts against the State. That Solvency Fund 

will likewise respond to all claims against the Health Service.

 b) Workers Compensation Hindsight Adjustment

 Treasury Managed Fund normally calculates hindsight premiums each year. However, in regard to workers compensation the final 

hindsight adjustment for the 2000/01 fund year and an interim adjustment for the 2002/03 fund year were not calculated until 2006/07. 

As a result, the 2001/02 final and 2003/04 interim hindsight calculations will be paid in 2007/08.

 c) Affiliated Health Organisations

 Based on the definition of control in Australian Accounting Standard AASB127, Affiliated Health Organisations listed in Schedule 3 

of the Health Services Act, 1997 are only recognised in the Department’s consolidated Financial Statements to the extent of cash 

payments made.

 However, it is accepted that a contingent liability exists which may be realised in the event of cessation of health service activities by 

any Affiliated Health Organisation. In this event the determination of assets and liabilities would be dependent on any contractual 

relationship which may exist or be formulated between the administering bodies of the organisation and the Department.

PARENT AND CONSOLIDATION

31. Charitable Fundraising Activities

 Fundraising Activities

 The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service conducts direct fundraising in all hospitals under its control.

 All revenue and expenses have been recognised in the financial statements of the Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service. 
Fundraising activities are dissected as follows:

 iNCOME DiRECT   iNDiRECT   NET 
 RAiSED EXPENDiTURE * EXPENDiTURE + PROCEEDS 
 $000 $000  $000  $000

Appeals (In House)  479   59  –  420 

Fetes – 4 –  (4)

Raffles  68   63  –  5 

Functions  197   36  –  161 

  744   162  –  582 

Percentage of Income 100% 22% 0.00% 78%

* Direct Expenditure includes printing, postage, raffle prizes, consulting fees, etc 
+ Indirect Expenditure includes overheads such as office staff administrative costs, cost apportionment of light, power and other overheads.

The net proceeds were used for the following purposes: $000

Purchase of Equipment 3

Held in Special Purpose & Trust Fund Pending Purchase 579

 582

The provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under that Act have been complied with and internal controls 
exercised by the Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service are considered appropriate and effective in accounting for all the 
income received in all material respects.
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 PARENT CONSOLiDATED

 2007 2006  2007 2006 
 $000 $000  $000 $000

   32. Reconciliation of Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  

    to Net Cost of Services

  71,609  101,540 Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  71,609   101,540 

  (49,056) (48,663) Depreciation  (49,056)  (48,663)

  (2,658) (1,371) Provision for Doubtful Debts  (2,658)  (1,371)

 — (13,565) Acceptance by the Crown Entity of Employee Superannuation Benefits (18,617)  (18,697)

  (21,358)  (19,953) (Increase)/Decrease in Provisions  (21,358)  (19,953)

  5,432  (9,348) Increase/(Decrease) in Prepayments and Other Assets  5,432   (9,348)

  8,073  (10,506) (Increase)/Decrease in Creditors  8,073   (10,506)

  45  (1,795) Net Gain/(Loss) on Sale of Property, Plant and Equipment  45   (1,795)

  (1,170,810) (1,100,487) (NSW Health Department Recurrent Allocations)  (1,170,810)  (1,100,487)

  (80,281)  (62,368) (NSW Health Department Capital Allocations)  (80,281)   (62,368)

 4,753 — (Asset Sale Proceeds transferred to the NSW Health Department) 4,753 —

  (1,234,251)  (1,166,516) Net Cost of Services  (1,252,868)  (1,171,648)

33. 2006/07 Voluntary Services

 It is considered impracticable to quantify the monetary value of 
voluntary services provided to the health service. Services provided include:

 • Chaplaincies and Pastoral Care • Patient & Family Support

 • Pink Ladies/Hospital Auxiliaries • Patient Services, Fund Raising

 • Patient Support Groups • Practical Support to Patients and Relative

 • Community Organisations • Counselling, Health Education, Transport, Home Help & Patient Activities

PARENT AND CONSOLIDATION

34. Unclaimed Moneys

 Unclaimed salaries and wages are paid to the credit of the Department of Industrial Relations and Employment in accordance with  

the provisions of the Industrial Arbitration Act, 1940, as amended.

 All money and personal effects of patients which are left in the custody of Health Services by any patient who is discharged or dies in 

the hospital and which are not claimed by the person lawfully entitled thereto within a period of twelve months are recognised as the 

property of health services.

 All such money and the proceeds of the realisation of any personal effects are lodged to the credit of the Samaritan Fund which is  

used specifically for the benefit of necessitous patients or necessitous outgoing patients.
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PARENT AND CONSOLIDATION

35. Budget Review

 Net Cost of Services

 On an all programs basis NSCCAHS completed the year $1.3M unfavourable to the budget of $1,252M. This 0.10% variation was as a 

consequence of activity pressures over the last few months of the year generally attributed to higher winter demand and consequential 

higher labour, goods and services expenditure. Revenue performance continues to improve and in 2006/07 a $5M favourable outcome 

contributed to the relatively minor variation at the NCOS level.

 Result for the Year 

 The result for the year was $17.4M lower than budget and this was primarily due to favourability within Capital Allocations funding 

resulting from slower progress than planned for the major projects at Royal North Shore and Central Coast Health.

 Assets and Liabilities

 Total assets are lower than budget due to the delay in DoH funded capital projects at Royal North Shore and Central Coast Health,  

as identified above. Liabilities are slightly higher than budget due to the budget being set to low.

 Cash Flows

 Movements in the level of the NSW Health Department Recurrent Allocation that have occurred since the time of the initial 
allocation on 22 July 2006 are as follows:

  $’000

 Initial Allocation, 22 July 2006  1,162,800 

 DVA Revenue Adjustment  (40,228)

 Award Increases 6,016

 Special Projects  15,758 

 Capital (DoH)  94,607

 Area Flows  18,008 

 Procurement Savings Reversal  4,074

 Crown Acceptance Superannuation  18,283 

 Administrative Restructure  (2,562)

 Other  4,381 

 Balance as per Operating Statement  1,281,137 
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36. Financial Instruments

 a)      Interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk, is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.

 Northern Sydney and Central Coast Health Service’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial  
assets and liabilities, both recognised and unrecognised, at the (consolidated) Balance Sheet date are as follows:

Financial Instruments Floating interest  
rate

Fixed interest rate 
maturing in  
i year or less

Non-interest  
bearing

Total carrying  
amount as per the 

Balance Sheet

Weighted average 
effective interest 

rate*

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 % %

Financial Assets

Cash  87,962  44,531  –  20,948  –  94  87,962  65,573  6.05%  5.69%

Receivables  –  –  –  –  35,801  31,750  35,801  31,750

Other Loans and 
Deposits – Other  –  –  –  46,705  –  –  –  46,705  5.69%

Total Financial Assets  87,962  44,531 –  67,653  35,801  31,844  123,763  144,028  6.05%  5.69%

Financial Liabilities

Borrowings – Other  5,226  7,235  –  –  –  –  5,226  7,235  0.00%  6.00%

Payables  –  –  –  –  84,897  92,908  84,897  92,908

Total Financial Liabilities  5,226  7,235  –  –  84,897  92,908  90,123  100,143  0.00%  6.00%

*  Weighted average effective interest rate was computed on a semi-annual basis.  
It is not applicable for non-interest bearing financial instruments.

 b) Credit Risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from another party to a contract/or financial position failing to discharge a financial 
obligation thereunder. 

 The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Health Service’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts  
of the financial assets included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

 Credit Risk by classification of counterparty.

Governments Banks Patients Other Total

2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Cash  –  5,920  87,855  59,559  –  –  107  94  87,962  65,573

Receivables  3,054  18  –  –  10,332  10,532  22,415  21,200  35,801  31,750

Other Loans and 
Deposits   –  –   –   46,705  –  –  –  –  –  46,705

Total Financial Assets  3,054  5,938  87,855  106,264  10,332  10,532  22,522  21,294  123,763  144,028

The only significant concentration of credit risk arises in respect of patients ineligible for free treatment under the Medicare provisions.

Receivables from these entities totalled $1,875,415 at balance date.

 c) Derivative Financial Instruments

  The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service holds no Derivative Financial Instruments.
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37. Interest in Joint Venture

 During 2006-07 the Health Service had a 50% interest in the assets, liabilities and output of a joint venture arrangement,  

called Pacific Linen Services, for the washing and cleaning of linen. 

 From the 1st November 2006 the Area Health Service’s interest in this joint venture was transferred to the new NSW Health  

Shared Service organisation, HealthSupport. The Area Health Service no longer holds an interest in this joint venture.

 The interest in the joint venture is included in the accounts as follows:

  2007 2006

  $000  $000

 Expenses  4,559   6,734 

  Revenue  2,739   6,938 

  Result for the Year  (1,820)  204 

 Current Assets

 Cash — 1,439

 Receivables — 1,025

 Total Current Assets — 2,464

 Non-Current Assets

 Land and Buildings — 94

 Plant and Equipment — 2,439

 Total Non-Current Assets — 2,533

 Total Assets — 4,997

 Current Liabilities

 Payables — 213

 Provisions — 201

 Total Current Liabilities — 414

 Non-Current Liabilities

 Provisions — 389

 Total Non-Current Liabilities — 389

 Total Liabilities — 803

 Net Assets — 4,194

 Equity  (3,317) 4,494

 Joint Venture Drawings  3,317 (300)

 Equity Total — 4,194
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38 Increase/Decrease in Net Assets from Administrative Restructure

 With effect from 1st November 2006 responsibility for the provision of linen services transferred from the Area to HealthSupport  

from which the Area now purchases its linen needs. Details of the equity transfer are as follows:

  2007

  $000

 Assets

  Cash —

  Inventories — 

  Prepayments —

 Property, Plant & Equipment

 – Land & Buildings  (93)

 – Plant & Equipment (2,470)

 – Infrastructure — 

  Other Financial Assets — 

 Liabilities 

  Borrowings  (577)

  Provisions  577 

 Net Assets/Equity (Refer Note 27) (2,563)

39 Prior Period Errors

 In 2006/07 the Department of Health determined the need to make allowance for on costs which need to be paid on the settlement  

of annual leave liability. This resulted in the application of an on cost of 21.7% as reported in Note 2(a).

 The provisions of AASB119, Employee Benefits and Treasury’s Financial Reporting Code for Budget Dependent General Government 

Sector Agencies, as pre existing in prior years, recognised the need to include such on costs and therefore the on costs now recognised 

have been brought to account as “Prior Period Errors”.

 The amount corrected against the Opening Balance at 1 July 2005 was $13.957M, with the 2005/06 Result being increased by 

$1.272M. In the Parent financial statements the $1.272M has been apportioned between Employee Related Expense ($0.903M) for the 

period up to 17 March 2006 and Personnel Services ($0.369M) for the period 17 March 2006 to 30 June 2006.

40 Post Balance Sheet 

 The establishment of the Joint Select Committee on the Royal North Shore Hospital was announced on 1 November 2007 in response  

to community concerns about patient care at the hospital. The Committee’s terms of reference require it to examine staffing and 

management systems, resource allocation and complaints handling procedures at the Royal North Shore Hospital. The Committee’s 

findings were not known at the time that the financial report of the Northern Sydney Central Coast AHS was authorised for issue. 

End of Audited Financial Statements
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 2007 2006
income $000 $000

Personnel Services  950,881   262,758 

Acceptance by the Crown Entity of Employee Benefits  18,617   5,132 

Total Income  969,498   267,890 

Expenses

Salaries and Wages  757,125   205,495 

Defined Benefit Superannuation  18,617   5,132 

Defined Contributions Superannuation  59,896   16,885 

Long Service Leave  23,543   7,334 

Annual Leave  76,362   21,586 

Sick Leave and Other Leave   18,425   5,046 

Redundancies  955   630 

Workers Compensation Insurance  14,575   5,761 

Fringe Benefits Tax —  21 

Total Expenses  969,498   267,890 

Result For The Year — —

The comparatives for 2007 cover the period 17 March 2006 to 30 June 2006 only. Note 1(c) refers.

BALANCE SHEET OF THE NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE 
SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY AS AT 30 JUNE 2007

 Notes 2007 2006
 $000 $000
Assets

Current Assets

Receivables 2  285,220   265,504 

Total Current Assets   285,220   265,504 

Total Assets  285,220   265,504 

Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Payables 3  23,798   25,440 

Provisions 4  254,282   233,928 

Total Current Liabilities   278,080   259,368 

Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions 4  7,140   6,136 

Total Non-Current Liabilities   7,140   6,136 

Total Liabilities   285,220   265,504 

Net Assets — — 

Equity

Accumulated funds  — — 

Total Equity — — 

Start of Audited Financial Statements

INCOME STATEMENT OF THE NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE 
SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements
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 2007 2006

 $000 $000

Opening Equity —  — 

Result for the Year  —  — 

Closing Equity — —

NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY 
CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

 2007 2006

 $000 $000

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities  —   — 

Net Cash Flows from Investing Activities —   — 

Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities  — —

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash — —

Closing Cash and Cash Equivalents — — 

The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service Special Purpose Service Entity does not hold any cash or cash 
equivalent assets and therefore there are nil cash flows.

NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY 
STATEMENT OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND ExPENSE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007

The accompanying notes form part of these Financial Statements
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1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

a) The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service Special Purpose Entity

 The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service Special Purpose Entity ”the Entity”, is a Division of the Government 
Service, established pursuant to Part 2 of Schedule 1 to the Public Sector Employment and Management Act 2002 and amendment 
of the Health Services Act 1997. It is a not-for-profit entity as profit is not its principal objective. It is consolidated as part of the 
NSW Total State Sector Accounts. It is domiciled in Australia and its principal office is at Gosford, New South Wales.

 The Entity’s objective is to provide personnel services to the Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service.

 The Entity commenced operations on 17 March 2006 when it assumed responsibility for the employees and employee-related 
liabilities of the Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service. The assumed liabilities were recognised on 17 March 2006 
with an offsetting receivable representing the related funding due from the former employer.

 The financial report was authorised for issue by the Chief Executive Officer on 14th December 2007.  
The report will not be amended and reissued as it has been audited.

b) Basis of preparation

 This is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with the requirements of Australian Accounting Standards, the 
requirements of the Health Services Act 1997 and its regulations including observation of the Accounts and Audit Determination 
for Area Health Services and Public Hospitals.

 Generally, the historical cost basis of accounting has been adopted and the financial report does not take into account changing 
money values or current valuations.

 The accrual basis of accounting has been adopted in the preparation of the financial report, except for cash flow information.

 Management’s judgements, key assumptions and estimates are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial report.

 All amounts are rounded to the nearest one thousand dollars and are expressed in Australian currency.

c) Comparative information

 Comparative information reflects the creation of the Special Purpose Services Entity with effect from 17 March 2006 and covers  
the period 17 March 2006 to 30 June 2006.

d) income

 Income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue from the rendering of personnel services 
is recognised when the service is provided and only to the extent that the associated recoverable expenses are recognised.

e) Receivables

 A receivable is recognised when it is probable that the future cash inflows associated with it will be realised and it has a value that 
can be measured reliably. It is derecognised when the contractual or other rights to future cash flows from it expire or are transferred.

 A receivable is measured initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less any 
allowance for impairment. A short-term receivable with no stated interest rate is measured at the original invoice amount where 
the effect of discounting is immaterial. An invoiced receivable is due for settlement within thirty days of invoicing.

 If there is objective evidence at year end that a receivable may not be collectable, its carrying amount is reduced by means of an 
allowance for impairment and the resulting loss is recognised in the income statement. Receivables are monitored during the year 
and bad debts are written off against the allowance when they are determined to be irrecoverable. Any other loss or gain arising 
when a receivable is derecognised is also recognised in the income statement.

f) Payables

 Payables include accrued wages, salaries, and related on costs (such as payroll deduction liability, payroll tax, fringe benefits tax  
and workers’ compensation insurance) where there is certainty as to the amount and timing of settlement.

 A payable is recognised when a present obligation arises under a contract or otherwise. It is derecognised when the obligation 
expires or is discharged, cancelled or substituted.

 A short-term payable with no stated interest rate is measured at historical cost if the effect of discounting is immaterial.

NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
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g) Employee benefit provisions and expenses

i) Salaries and Wages, current Annual Leave, Sick Leave and On-Costs (including non-monetary benefits)

 Liabilities for salaries and wages (including non-monetary benefits), annual leave and paid sick leave that fall wholly within  
12 months of the reporting date are recognised and measured in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date at 
undiscounted amounts based on the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

 All Annual Leave employee benefits are reported as "Current" as there is an unconditional right to payment. Current liabilities 
are then further classified as "Short Term" and "Long Term" based on past trends and known resignations and retirements. 
Anticipated payments to be made in the next 12 months are reported as "Short Term".

 Unused non-vesting sick leave does not give rise to a liability, as it is not considered probable that sick leave taken in the future 
will be greater than the benefits accrued in the future.

 The outstanding amounts of payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance premiums and fringe benefits tax, which are consequential 
to employment, are recognised as liabilities and expenses where the employee benefits to which they relate have been recognised.

ii) Long Service Leave and Superannuation Benefits

 Long Service Leave employee leave entitlements are dissected as "Current" if there is an unconditional right to payment and "Non- 
Current" if the entitlements are conditional. Current entitlements are further dissected between "Short Term" and "Long Term" on 
the basis of anticipated payments for the next 12 months. This in turn is based on past trends and known resignations and retirements.

 Long Service Leave provisions are measured on a short hand basis at an escalated rate of 8.1% for short term entitlements and 
8.1% for long term entitlements above the salary rates immediately payable at 30 June 2007 for all employees with five or 
more years of service. Actuarial assessment has found that this measurement technique produces results not materially different 
from the estimate determined by using the present value basis of measurement.

 The Entity’s liability for the closed superannuation pool schemes (State Authorities Superannuation Scheme and State 
Superannuation Scheme) is assumed by the Crown Entity. The Entity accounts for the liability as having been extinguished 
resulting in the amount assumed being shown as part of the non-monetary revenue item described as "Acceptance by the Crown 
Entity of Employee benefits". Any liability attached to Superannuation Guarantee Charge cover is reported in Note 3, "Payables".

 The superannuation expense for the financial year is determined by using the formulae specified in the NSW Health Department 
Directions. The expense for certain superannuation schemes (i.e. Basic Benefit and Superannuation Guarantee Charge) is 
calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salary. For other superannuation schemes (i.e. State Superannuation Scheme and 
State Authorities Superannuation Scheme), the expense is calculated as a multiple of the employees’ superannuation contributions.

 Consequential to the legislative changes of 17 March 2006 no salary costs or provisions are recognised by the Health Service 
beyond that date.

h) Financial instruments

 Financial instruments given rise to positions that are a financial asset of either the Entity or its counter party and a financial liability 
(or equity instrument) of the other party. For the Entity, these include cash at bank, receivables, other financial assets, payables  
and borrowings.

 In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB 139, "Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurements" disclosure 
of the carrying amounts for each of AASB 139 categories of financial instruments is disclosed in Note 5. The specific accounting 
policy in respect of each class of such financial instrument is stated hereunder.

 Classes of instruments recorded and their terms and conditions measured in accordance with AASB 139 are as follows:

Receivables

 Accounting Policies – Receivables are recognised at initially fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value. 
Subsequent measures are at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less an allowance for any impairment of receivables. 
Short term receivables with no stated interest are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
An allowance for impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the entity will not be able to collect 
all amounts due. The amount of the allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of 
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. Bad debts are written off as incurred.

 Terms and conditions – Accounts are generally issued on 30 day terms.

Payables

 Accounting Policies – These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Health Service and other amounts, 
including interest. Payables are recognised initially at fair value, usually based on the transaction cost or face value.  
Subsequent meausrement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Short term payables with no stated interest rate 
are measured at the original invoice amount where the effect of discounting is immaterial. Payables are recognised for amounts to 
be paid in the future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Health Service.

 Terms and Conditions – Trade liabilities are settled within terms specified. If no terms are specified, payment is made at the end of 
the month following the month in which the invoice is received.

NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY 
NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2007
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  2007 2006

 $000 $000

2. Receivables

 Current

 Accrued Income – Personnel Services Provided  285,220   265,504 

 Non-Current

 Accrued Income – Personnel Services Provided —  —

 Total Receivables  285,220   265,504 

3. Payables

 Current

 Accrued Salaries and Wages on-costs  23,612   25,421 

 Payroll Deductions   186   19 

 Total Payables  23,798   25,440 

4. Provisions

 Current Employee benefits and related on-costs

 Employee Annual Leave – Short Term Benefit  113,303   83,498 

 Employee Annual Leave – Long Term Benefit  2,158   21,210 

 Employee Long Service Leave – Short Term Benefit  17,172   18,359 

 Employee Long Service Leave – Long Term Benefit  121,649   110,861 

 Total Current Provisions  254,282   233,928 

 Non-Current Employee benefits and related on-costs

 Employee Long Service Leave – Conditional  7,140   6,136 

 Total Non-Current Provisions  7,140   6,136 

 Aggregate Employee Benefits and Related on-costs

 Provision – Current  254,282   233,928 

 Provision -– Non-Current  7,140   6,136 

 Accrued Liability, Purchase of Personnel Services (Note 3)”  23,798   25,440 

 Total   285,220   265,504 



financial statements

Northern Sydney Central Coast Health • 2006/2007 Annual Report 116

5. Financial Instruments

a) interest Rate Risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of the financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  

The Entity’s exposure to interest rate risks and the effective interest rates of financial assets and liabilities, both recognised and 

unrecognised, at the Balance Sheet date are as follows:

Financial instruments Non-interest Bearing Total carrying amount as per  
the Balance Sheet

2007 2006 2007 2006
$000 $000 $000 $000

Financial Assets

Receivables  285,220  265,504  285,220  265,504

Total Financial Assets  285,220  265,504  285,220  265,504

Financial Liabilities

Payables  23,798  25,440  23,798  25,440

Total Financial Liabilities  23,798  25,440  23,798  25,440

  *  The weighted average effective interest rate was computed on a semi-annual basis. It is not applicable for  
non-interest bearing financial instruments.

b) Credit Risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss arising from another party to a contract, or financial position, failing to discharge a financial 

obligation thereunder. The Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amounts of the financial assets 

included in the Balance Sheet.

 Credit Risk by Governments Total

 classification of 2007 2006 2007 2006 
counterparty.

 $000 $000  $000 $000

 Financial Assets 

 Receivables 285,220   265,504   285,220   265,504

 Total Financial Assets  285,220   265,504   285,220   265,504 

c) Net Fair Value

 Financial Instruments are carried at cost. The resultant values are reported in the Balance Sheet and are deemed to constitute  

net fair value.

d) Derivative Financial instruments

 The Northern Sydney and Central Coast Area Health Service Special Purpose Entity holds no Derivative Financial Instruments.

6. Prior Year Errors

 In 2006/07 the Department of Health determined the need to make allowance for on costs which need to be paid on the settlement of 

annual leave liability. This resulted in the application of an on cost of 21.7% as reported in Note 2(h).

 The provisions of AASB119, Employee Benefits and Treasury’s Financial Reporting Code for Budget Dependent General Government Sector 

Agencies, as pre existing in 2005/06, recognised the need to include such on costs and therefore the on costs now recognised have 

been brought to account as "Prior Period Errors". However expense and revenue adjustments are fully offsetting and the adjustment  

had no effect on Equity.

End of Audited Financial Statements

NORTHERN SYDNEY AND CENTRAL COAST AREA HEALTH SERVICE SPECIAL PURPOSE SERVICE ENTITY 
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NAME FACiLiTY FUNDiNG/SPONSOR TiTLE & BRiEF DESCRiPTiON OF RESEARCH

Dr C Arthur RNSH Sponsored by Eli Lily 
Australia

A randomized, double-blind, phase 3 study of oral 
enzastaurin versus placebo as maintenance therapy 
immediately following first-line treatment for patients with 
high-risk diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL).

Dr C Arthur RNSH Sponsored by Novartis An open label, multi-centre, expanded access study of oral 
AMN107 in adult patients with Imatinib (Glivec/Gleevec) – 
resistant ore-intolerant chronic myeloid leukaemia (CML) in 
blast crisis, accelerated phase or chronic phase.

Dr C Arthur RNSH Sponsored Australian 
Lymphoma and 
Leukaemia Group

A phase II study of withdrawal of Imatinib therapy in adult 
patients with chronic phase chronic myeloid leukaemia in 
stable complete molecular remission.

Dr R Babner RNSH Sponsored by 
GlaxoSmithKline

A parallel-group, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, 
active comparator, multicentre study to evaluate the efficacy, 
safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of two doses of 
GSK232802 administered orally as monotherapy for 12 weeks 
in healthy postmenopausal women with moderate to 
extremely severe vasomotor symptoms.

Dr Sally Baron-Hay RNSH Phase III trial of LHRH analog administration during 
chemotherapy to reduce ovarian failure following chemotherapy 
in early stage, hormone-receptor negative breast cancer.

Dr Sally Baron-Hay RNSH A phase II trial of adjuvant chemo-radiation followed by 
chemotherapy for patients with newly diagnosed endometrial 
carcinoma at high-risk of relapse.

Dr Sally Baron-Hay RNSH A single arm phase II trial of intraperitoneal chemotherapy 
with Paclitaxel and Cisplatin after optimal debulking surgery 
for ovarian and related cancers.

Dr Sally Baron-Hay RNSH ICON7 – A randomised, two-arm, multi-centre gyneacologic 
cancer intergroup trial of adding Bevacizumab to standard 
chemotheraphy (Carboplatin and Paclitaxel) in patients with 
epithelial ovarian cancer.

Dr Sally Baron-Hay RNSH Sponsored by Roche ATHENA (Avastin THErapy for advaNced breAst cancer). 
Open-label study of Bevacizumab (Avastin®) plus taxane 
monotherapy or in combination for the first line treatment of 
patients with locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer.

Dr B Cooper RNSH Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

A study to assess achievement of NKF K/DOQI targets  
using Sensipar (cinacalcet) in Australian subjects with end 
stage renal disease (ESRD) who are being treated with 
Aranesp for anaemia management.

Professor M Cousins RNSH A multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 
parallel-group study of oral MOA-728 for the treatment of 
opioid-induced bowel dysfunction in subjects with chronic 
non-malignant pain (3200A3-200-WW).

Professor M Cousins RNSH Sponsored by  
Wyeth Research

A prospective, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled 
trial of AV411 to assess its safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics 
and preliminary efficacy in the subject with neuropathic pain.

Professor M Cousins RNSH Sponsored by Avigen A randomised, double-blind, placebo contolled study to 
assess the safety, tolerability, pharmocodynamics and 
pharmacokinetics of subcutaneous doses of ACV1 in  
patients with pain due to diabetic peripheral neuropathy or 
post herpetic neuralgia.
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NAME FACiLiTY FUNDiNG/SPONSOR TiTLE & BRiEF DESCRiPTiON OF RESEARCH

Dr D Crimmins Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Johnson and Johnson

A prospective, randomized, double-blind, double-dummy, 
parallel-group, multicentre, event-driven, non-inferiority study 
comparing the efficacy and safety of once-daily oral 
Rivaroxaban (BAY 59-7939) with adjusted-dose Warfarin for 
the prevention of stroke and non-central nervous system 
systemic embolism in subjects with non-valvular arterial fibrillation.

A/Professor M Dean Gosford and 
Wyong Hospitals

Sponsored by Bayer Oral direct factor xa Inhibitor Rivaroxaban in patients with 
patients with acute symptomatic deep-vein thrombosis and/
or pulmonary embolism. The Einstein-VTE Treatment Study 
(Protocol 11702).

A/Professor M Dean Gosford and 
Wyong Hospitals

Sponsored by Bayer Once-daily oral direct factor xa Inhibitor Rivaroxaban in the 
long-term prevention of recurrent symptomatic venous 
thromboembolism in patients with symptomatic deep-vein 
thrombosis or pulmonary embolism. The Einstein-Extension 
Study (Protocol 11899).

Dr T Eade RNSH Primary chemotherapy with temozolomide vs. radiotherapy  
in patients with low grade gliomas after stratification for 
genetic 1p loss: a phase III study coordinating group: EORTC 
Radiotherapy Group (Intergroup Study (EORTC 22033-26033) 
(EudraCT number 2004-002714-11) TROG 06.01.

Dr K Fay RNSH Sponsored by TGR 
BioSciences

A multicentre, double blind, placebo controlled, safety and 
efficacy trial of whey growth factor extract for oral mucositis 
in lymphoma patients undergoing BEAM chemotherapy and 
autologous stem cell transplantation.

Dr K Fay RNSH Sponosred by Australian 
Lymphoma and 
Leukaemia Group

Trial of rituximav vs a watch and wait strategy in patients 
with advanced stage, asymptomatic, non-bulky follicular 
lymphoma (grades 1, 2 & 3a).

Dr S Finfer, RNSH Sponsored by Eisai 
Medical Research/PPD

ACCESS. A controlled comparison of eritoran tetrasodium 
and placebo in patients with severe sepsis.

Dr S Finfer RNSH Sponsored by PPD A pivotal, multicentre, multinational, randomised, double-
blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the efficacy and 
safety of TAK-242 in adults with severe sepsis.

Dr C Forsyth Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
GTC Biotherapeutics

A multicentre, multinational study to assess the safety and 
efficacy of antithrombin alfa in hereditary antithrombin (AT).

Dr C Forsyth Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Celgene International

A multicentre, single arm, open label safety study of 
Lenalidomide plus Deaxamethasone in previously treated 
subjects with multiple myeloma.

Dr C Forsyth Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Roche Pharmaceuticals

A multi-centre, single arm, open label study to evaluate the 
efficacy and safety of 1000mg fixed dose of rituximab on day 
one and fifteen among patients with refractory, relapsing or 
chronic idiopathic thrombocytopaenia purpura.

Dr G Fulcher RNSH Sponsored by  
Servier Labs (Australia)

A two year international, multicentre, randomised,  
double-blind, parallel-group study followed by a two year 
double blind extension. Evaluation in noncontrolled patients 
of the addition of Diamicron MR or Rosiglitazone for 
sustaining efficacy. The ENDORSE study.

Dr G Fulcher RNSH Sponsored by Roche Multicentre, double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled, 
dose ranging phase 2 study to investigate efficacy, safety, 
tolerability and pharmacokinetics of the DPP-IV inhibitor 
RO4876904 in patients with type 2 diabetes (BC20779).
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NAME FACiLiTY FUNDiNG/SPONSOR TiTLE & BRiEF DESCRiPTiON OF RESEARCH

Dr M Greenwood RNSH A phase II in patients with previously untreated acute 
promyelocytic leukaemia to evaluate the effects of:  
(i) adding Arsenic Trioxide to All-Trans Retinoic and Indarubicin 
for remission induction, and (ii) adding Arsenic Trioxide to  
All-Trans Retinoic Acid as consolidation.

Dr M Greenwood RNSH Sponsored by  
Cephalon Inc

A randomized, open-label study of oral CEP-701 administered 
in sequence with standard chemotherapy to patients with 
relapsed acute myeloid leukaemia (AML) expressing FLT-3 
activating mutations.

Dr M Greenwood RNSH Sponsored by  
Gloucester 
Pharmaceuticals

A phase II, multicentre, open-label trial evaluating the activity 
and tolerability of Romidepsin (Depsipeptide, FK228) in 
progressive or relapsed peripheral t-cell lymphoma following 
prior systematic therapy (Protocol No. GPI-06-0002).

Dr G Herkes RNSH Sponosred by  
UCB Pharma

Neuropsychiatric, neurocognitive and quality of life outcomes 
in patients with epilepsy treated with Levetiracetam (Keppra) 
versus older AEDs as first substitution monotheraphy. 
(Konquest: keppra versus older AEDs and neuropsychiatric, 
neurocognitive and quality of life outcomes in treatment of 
epilepsy as first substitution mono theraphy). Bone health and 
body composition sub study. Investigator initiated study.

Dr A Hill Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Sanof-Aventis

EFC 5965 current/oasis 7 – Clopidogrel optimal loading dose 
usage to reduce recurrent events/optimal antiplatelet strategy 
for interventions.

Dr M Holecek RNSH Post-operative concurrent chemo-radiotherapy versus  
post-operative radiotherapy in high risk cutaneous squamous 
cell carcinoma of the head and neck (TROG 05.01 Trans-tasman 
Radiation Oncology Group Incorporated).

Dr M Jack RNSH A randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of 
intranasal insulin (40IU and 440IU) in children and young 
adults at risk of type 1 diabetes: intranasal insulin Trial II.

Dr B Jones RNSH Prospective study of liver perfusion/function as measured by 
indocyanine green clearance using Pulsion Limon monitor and 
the correlation with clinical and biochemical markers in 
patients with liver disease.

Dr G Kotsiou RNSH Sponsored by Roche A study to evaluate three different delivery mechanisms for 
enfuvirtide: a 27-gauge needle, 31-gauge needle and a 
needle-free device: the options study.

Dr S Kurrle Hornsby Hospital Sponsored by 
GlaxoSmithKline

A 54-week, double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled, 
parallel-group study to investigate the effects of rosiglitazone 
(extended release tablets) as adjunctive therapy to 
acetylcholinesterase inhibitors on cognition and overall clinical 
response in APOE 4-stratified subjects with mild to moderate 
Alzheimer’s disease.

Dr S Kurrle Hornsby Hospital Sponsored by BRAINz A randomized, double-blind, double-dummy, oral Donepezil 
controlled study on the safety and efficacy of repeated 
monthly subcutaneous injections of a sustained-release implant 
of ZT-1 in patients with moderate Alzheimer’s disease (AD).

Dr S Kurrle Hornsby Hospital Sponsored by Quintiles A randomised, double-blind, pacebo-controlled evaluation of 
the effectiveness of menantine on functional communication 
in patients with Alzheimer’s disease.
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NAME FACiLiTY FUNDiNG/SPONSOR TiTLE & BRiEF DESCRiPTiON OF RESEARCH

Dr G Marx RNSH Sponosored by Roche Open-label study of Bevacizumab (AVASTIN) in combination 
with platinum-containing chemotherapy as first-line treatment 
of patients with advanced or recurrent non-squamous  
non-small cell lung cancer.

Dr G Marx RNSH Sponosored by Amgen A phase 3, multicentre, randomized, placebo-controlled, 
double-blind trial of AMG 706 in combination with Paclitaxel 
and Carboplatin for advanced non-small cell lung cancer.

Dr G Morgan RNSH An international multi-centre study of Tamoxifen vs 
Anastrozole in postmenopausal women with hormone 
sensitive ductal carcinoma in situ (DCIS).

Dr S Mulligan RNSH Sponosred by Biogen A randomized, open-label, multicentre, phase 2 study to 
evaluate the safety and efficacy of Lumiliximab in combination 
with Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide, and Rituximab versus 
Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide, and Rituximab alone in 
subjects with relapsed chronic lymphocytic leukaemia.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by Amgen A randomised, double-blind, multicentre study of denosumab 
compared with zoledronic acid (Zometa) in the treatment of 
bone metastases in subjects with advanced cancer (excluding 
breast and prostate cancer) or multiple myeloma.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by Australian 
Gastro Intestinal Trials 
Group

A phase III international multicentre randomised study of 
capecitabine +/- bevacizumab as adjuvant treatment of  
colon cancer.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by Roche Open-label study of Bevacizumab (Avastin) in combination 
with platinum containing chemotherapy as first-line treatment 
of patients with advanced or recurrent non-squamous cell 
non-small cell lung cancer.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by Pfizer A randomised, double-blind, placebo controlled trial of  
the prevention and treatment of chemotheraphy induced 
peripheral neuropathy symptoms in subjects with advanced 
colorectal cancer.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by Covance A multicentre, randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 
phase 3 study of single-agent Tarceva (erlotinib) following 
complete tumour resection with or without adjuvant 
chemotheraoy in patients with stage IB-IIIA non-small cell 
lung carcinoma who have EGFR-positive tumours.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by 
AstraZeneca

A phase III, international, randomised, double-blind,  
parallel-group, multicentre study to assess the efficacy of 
ZD6474 (ZACTIMA) plus best supportive care versus placebo 
plus best supportive care in patients with locally advanced or 
metastatic (stage IIIB-IV) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) 
after prior therapy with an epidermal growth factor receptor 
Tyrosine Kinase inhibitor (EGFR TKI).

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by Merck A randomised, double-blind, parallel-group study conducted 
under in-house blinding conditions to determine the efficacy 
and tolerability of Aprepitatant for the prevention of 
chemotherapy-induced nausea and vomiting associated with 
moderately emetogenic chemotherapy (Study 2).
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Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by 
AstraZeneca

A phase III, randomised, double-blinded, parallel group,  
multi-centre, study to assess the efficacy and safety of 
ZD6474 (ZACTIMA) in combination with Pemetrexed (Alimta) 
versus Pemetrexed alone in patients with locally advanced or 
metastatic (stage IIIB or IV) non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) 
after failure of 1st line anti cancer therapy.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by 
GlaxoSmithKline

An open-label, extension study to assess the safety and 
efficacy of pazopanib in subjects with renal cell carcinoma 
previously enrolled on protocol VEG105192.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH Sponsored by 
GlaxoSmithKline

A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, multi-centre 
phase III study to evaluate the efficacy and safety of 
Pazopanib (GW786034) compared to placebo in patients with 
locally advanced and/or metastatic renal cell carcinoma.

Dr N Pavlakis RNSH A multi-centre phase III randomised, double-blind placebo-
controlled study of the cancer vaccine Stimuvax (L-BLP25 or 
BLP25 liposome vaciine) in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) 
subjects with unresectable stage III disease.

Dr V Perkovic RNSH Sponsored by JAAD 
Enterprises Pty Ltd

A phase 3 randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 
multi-centre, parallel group study to evaluate the efficacy and 
safety of fixed doses of darusentan in subjects with resistant 
systolic hypertension receiving combination therapy with four 
or more antihypertensive drugs, including a diuretic.

Dr V Perkovic RNSH Sponsored by  
Myogen Inc.

A dose-blinded, long-term safety extension study of fixed 
doses of darusentan in subjects with resistant systolic 
hypertension receiving combination therapy with four or more 
antihypertensive drugs, including a diuretic (DAR-311-E).

Professor C Pollock RNSH Sponsored by Amgen 
Australia Pty Ltd

EVOLVE (evaluation of cinacalcet therapy to lower 
cardiovascular events).

Professor C Pollock RNSH Sponsored by Amgen 
Australia Pty Ltd

A randomised single-blind study to improve health-related 
quality of life as measured by the SF-36 vitality score by 
correcting anaemia of chronic kidney disease with aranesp 
(darbepoetin alfa) in the elderly (Protocol no. 20050122).

Professor C Pollock RNSH Protocol ML20339: A multi-centre, randomised,  
single-blind, cross-over study investigating comfort of 
injection and preference of renal anaemia patients receiving 
subcutaneous Epoetin Beta (Neo-Recormon) compared to 
Darbepoetin Alfa (Aranesp).

Professor C Pollock RNSH Sponsored by  
Otsuka Maryland

A phase 3, multi-centre, double-blind, placebo-controlled, 
parallel-arm trial to determine long-term safety and efficacy 
of oral Tolvaptan tablet regimens in adult subjects with 
autosomal dominant polycystic kidney disease.

Dr P Quarles van 
Ufford-Mannesse

Gosford Hospital Sponsored by Roche ATHENA (avastin therapy for advanced breast cancer).  
Open-label study of Bbevacizumab (Avastin?) plus Taxane 
monotherapy or in combination for the first line treatment of 
patients with locally recurrent or metastatic breast cancer  
(LR or MBC).

Dr P Quarles van 
Ufford-Mannesse

Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

Panitumumab in combination with Oxaliplatin/5-fluorouracil/
Leucovorin to the efficacy of Oxaliplatin/5-fluorouracil/
Leucovorin alone in patients with previously untreated 
metastatic colorectal cancer.

Dr P Quarles van 
Ufford-Mannesse

Gosford Hospital Sponsored by Roche Multi-centre international study of capecitabine + bevacizumab 
as adjuvant treatment of colon cancer (QUASAR 2).

clinical trials continued
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Dr P Quarles van 
Ufford-Mannesse

Gosford Hospital Sponsored by OSI 
Pharmaceuticals

Phase III Study of single-agent Tarceva (erlotinib) following 
complete tumour resection and with or without adjuvant 
chemotherapy in patients withstage IB-IIIA non-small cell lung 
carcinoma who have EGFR-positive tumours.

Dr P Quarles van 
Ufford-Mannesse

Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
ANZ BCTG

Phase III trial evaluating the role of adjuvant pegylated 
liposomal doxorubicin (PLD, Caelyx?, Doxil?) for women 
(aged 66 years or older) with endocrine nonresponsive  
breast cancer.

Dr P Quarles van 
Ufford-Mannesse

Gosford Hospital A phase III trial of the antiangiogenic agent Thalidomide with 
malignant mesothelioma after first line chemotherapy (NVALT 5).

Dr B Robinson RNSH Sponsored by 
AstraZeneca

An international, phase II, randomized, double-blinded, 
placebo-controlled, multi-centre study to assess the  
efficacy of ZD6474 (ZACTIMA) versus placebo in subjects 
with unresectable locally advance or metastatic medullary 
thyroid cancer.

Dr S Roger Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

Protocol No 20051082: A randomised, double-blind,  
placebo-controlled study with Sensipar?/Mimpara? to assess 
its effects on mortality and cardiovascular morbidity in 
patients with chronic kidney disease (CKD) undergoing 
maintenance dialysis.

Dr S Roger Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

A randomised study to evaluate the effects of Cinacalcet plus 
low dose Vitamin D on vascular calcification in subjects with 
chronic kidney disease (CKD) receiving haemodialysis.

Dr S Roger Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
F.Hoffman-La Roche

A randomised, controlled, open-label, multi-centre,  
parallel-group study to compare the efficacy and safety of 
RO0503821 with that of darbepoetin alfa administered 
intravenously at extended dosing intervals for the maintenance 
treatment of anaemia in patients with chronic kidney disease 
who are on haemodialysis.

Dr S Roger Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

Multi centre, single arm study evaluating De Novo once 
monthly darbepoetin Alfa dosing for the correction of anaemia.

Dr J Rogers Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Servier Laboratories

Effects of ivabradine on cardiovascular events in patients with 
moderate to severe chronic heart failure and left ventricular 
systolic dysfunction. A three-year randomised double-blind 
placebo-controlled international multi-centre study.

Dr J Rogers Gosford Hospital Sponsored by Bristol 
Myers Squibb

A phase 3, active (Warfarin) controlled, randomised, double-
blind, parallel arm study to evaluate efficacy and safety of 
Apixaban in preventing stroke and systemic embolism in 
subjects with non-valvular atrial fibrillation.

Professor P Sambrook RNSH Sponsored by I.R.I.S. A double-blind, multicentre, international randomised study 
to assess the effects of six months or 12 months administration 
of 2g per day of Strontium Ranelate versus Alendronate 
70mg per week on bone remodelling and bone safety 
assessed by histomorphometry in women with 
postmenopausal osteoporosis (Institut de Recherches 
Internationales Servier (IRIS) Protocol No. CL3-12911-025).

Professor P Sambrook RNSH Sponsored by 
GlaxoSmithKline

Study CR108963: A dose-range finding study of SB-751689 
in post-menopausal women with osteoporosis.

A/Professor P Siddall RNSH Sponsored by Pfizer A methodology study to assess the ability of a randomised, 
crossover trial design in spinal cord injury patients with  
pain of neuropathic origin to detect improvement in pain 
endpoints using Pregabalin as a benchmark compound.
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Northern Sydney Central Coast Health • 2006/2007 Annual Report 122



NAME FACiLiTY FUNDiNG/SPONSOR TiTLE & BRiEF DESCRiPTiON OF RESEARCH

Professor R Smith RNSH A double-blind, randomised study comparing the safety and 
tolerance of SMOFlipid 20% and Intralipid 20% in long term 
treatment with parenteral nutrition.

Professor R Smith RNSH Phase I trial of targeted alpha therapy in stage IV pancreatic 
cancer patients.

Dr C Tiley Gosford Hospital Sponsored by Eli Lily A randomized, double-blind, phase 3 study of oral enzastaurin 
versus placebo as maintenance therapy immediately 
following first-line treatment for patients with high-risk 
diffuse large B-cell lymphoma (DLBCL).

Dr C Tiley Gosford Hospital Sponsored by Biogen A randomized, open-label, multicentre, phase 2 study to 
evaluate the safety and efficacy of Lumiliximab in 
combination with Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide, and 
Rituximab versus Fludarabine, Cyclophosphamide, and 
Rituximab alone in subjects with relapsed chronic l 
ymphocytic leukaemia.

Dr C Tiley Gosford Hospital Sponsored by Novartis An open label, multi-centre, expanded access study of oral 
AMN107 in adult patients with Imatinib (Glivec/Gleevec)- 
resistant ore-intolerant chronic myeloid leukamia (CML)  
in blast crisis, accelerated phase or chronic phase.

Dr C Tiley Gosford Hospital Sponsored by ALLG A phase II study or risk adapted IV Melphalan in patients  
with AL amyloidosis ALLG MM8.

Dr J Vandervord RNSH Use of activated protein C (APC) in burn wounds.

Dr K Vaughan Hornsby Hospital Sponsored by Janssen-
Cilag Pty Ltd

An open label multicentre study to determine the dose 
distribution of Paliperidone ER OROS® in patients with 
schizophrenia.

Dr C Veivers RNSH Sponosred by Centre for 
Immunology & Cancer

A phase 1b multicentre study of CICR Vax 6 HPV 6L1 VLPs  
as therapy for recurrent respiratory papillonatosis.

Dr C Ward RNSH Sponsored by  
Sanofi-Aventis  
Australia Pty

An international, multicentre, randomized, double-blind, 
double-dummy, parallel group, study of three month or six 
month treatment with SS126517E (3.0mg s.c. once weekly) 
versus oral INR-adjusted warfarin in the treatment of patients 
with symptomatic pulmonary embolism, with or without 
symptomatic deep venous thrombosis.

Dr C Ward RNSH Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

A randomised, controlled, open-label study evaluating the 
efficacy and tolerability of AMG 531 versus medical standard 
of care as chronic therapy for non-splenectomised subjects 
with immune (Idiopathic) thrombocytopenic purpura.

Dr C Ward RNSH Sponsored by  
Bayer Healthcare

Once-daily oral direct Factor xa Inhibitor Rivaroxaban in the 
long-term prevention of recurrent symptomatic venous 
thromboembolism in patients with symptomatic deep-vein 
thrombosis or pulmonary embolism. The Einstein-Extension 
Study, Phase III Protocol 11899.

Dr C Ward RNSH Sponsored by Bayer 
Healthcare

Oral direct factor xa Inhibitor Rivaroxaban in patients with 
acute symptomatic deep-vein thrombosis or pulmonary 
embolism. The Einstein-Phase III VTE Treatment Study. 
Protocol 11702.

Dr D Whalley RNSH Sponsored by Sanofi-
Aventis

Randomised double blind trial to evaluate the efficacy and 
safety of dronedarone (400 mg BID) versus amiodarone  
(600 mg daily for 28 days, then 200 mg daily thereafter) for 
at least six months for the maintenance of sinus rhythm in 
patients with atrial fibrillation (AF) protocol EFC4968.
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Dr H Wheeler RNSH Sponsored by Novartis A phase II open label multi-centre, single arm study 
evaluating the efficacy of glivec plus hydroxyurea (HU) in 
patients with progressive glioblastoma multiforme (GBM), 
NOT RECEIVING enzyme inducing anticonvulsant drugs 
(EIACDS). (ST1571H2201).

Dr H Wheeler RNSH Sponsored by Novartis A phase II open label multi-centre single arm study evaluating 
the efficacy of glivec plus hydroxyurea in patients with 
progressive glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) RECEIVING enzyme 
inducing anticonvulsant drugs (EIACDs) (ST1571H2202).

Dr H Wheeler RNSH A phase III, randomised, double-blind study comparing 
human corticotropin-releasing factor (Hcrf) to dexamethasone 
for control of symptoms associated with peritumoral brain 
oedema in patients with primary malignant glioma.

Dr H Wheeler RNSH An open-label, extended-use study of human corticotropin-
releasing factor (hCRF) intended for patients who participate 
in the dexamethasone-sparing studies NTI 0302 or NTI 0303.

Dr H Wheeler RNSH A phase III randomise, double-blind, dexamethasone-sparing 
study comparing human corticotropin-releasing factor (hCRF) 
to placebo for control of symptoms associated with 
peritumoral brain oedema in patients with malignant brain 
tumor who require chronic administration of high-dose 
dexamethasone.

Dr M William Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Amgen Australia

Darbepoetin alfa treatment on mortality and morbidity in 
heart failure (HF) participants with symptomatic left 
ventricular systolic dysfunction and anaemia

Dr M William Gosford Hospital Sponsored by  
Sanofi-Aventis

A phase 3, active (Warfarin) controlled, randomised,  
double-blind, parallel arm study to evaluate efficacy and 
safety of Apixaban in preventing stroke and systemic 
embolism in subjects with non-valvular atrial fibrillation.

Dr K Wiltshire RNSH A randomised phase III study in advanced oesophageal  
cancer to compare quality of life and palliation of  
dysphagia in patients treated with radiotherapy versus 
chemo-radiotherapy.

clinical trials continued
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ACCESS BLOCK 
The period of time a patient stays in the emergency 
department after the emergency department staff have 
completed their assessment and treatment prior to being 
admitted to a ward.

ACCREDiTED 
Officially recognised as meeting approved standards and 
committed to continuing improvement.

ACHS EquiP 
The Australian Council on Healthcare Standards Evaluation 
and Quality Improvement Program.

ACUTE/POST ACUTE CARE (APAC) 
Care by a team including nurses, physiotherapists, 
occupational therapists and aides who visit people in their 
homes to provide care that would otherwise have been 
provided in hospital.  

ALLiED HEALTH 
Health professionals other than doctors and nurses  
(eg. physiotherapists, social workers).

AVERAGE LENGTH OF STAY (ALOS) 
The average number of days each admitted patient stays in a 
health service facility for each episode of care. It is calculated 
by dividing the total number of Occupied Bed Days for the 
period by the number of Actual Separations in the period.

ACUTE CARE 
Care where the intent is one or more of the following: 
manage labour (obstetric), treat illness or injury or provide 
definitive treatment of injury, perform surgery, relieve symptoms 
of illness or injury (excluding palliative care), reduce severity  
of an illness or injury, protect against exacerbation and/or 
complication of an illness and/or injury which could threaten 
life or normal function, and/or perform diagnostic or 
therapeutic procedures.

AMBULATORY CARE 
Any form of care other than as a hospital inpatient.  
For example, chemotherapy can be administered to cancer 
patients during a short daytime stay in an Ambulatory Care 
Ward. An inpatient stay is not required. 

BEST PRACTiCE 
Identifying and matching the best performance of others.

BED DAYS 
The total number of bed days of all admitted patients 
accommodated during the period being reported taken from 
the count of the number of inpatients at midnight (approx.) 
each day.

Details for Same Day patients are also recorded as Occupied 
Bed Days where one Occupied Bed Day is counted for each 
Same Day patient.

CADE 
Confused and Disturbed Elderly.

CARE PLAN 
A management plan devised by a clinician for a patient at the 
start of their treatment and revised as required.

CASEMiX 
Casemix is aimed at improving health service delivery (in terms 
of cost, equity and quality) through classification and data 
development, as well as research, analysis and information 
dissemination (see Diagnosis Related Groups – DRGs).

CHARGEABLE PATiENTS 
Any admitted patient or registered non-inpatient for whom a 
charge can be raised by a hospital or Area Health Service for 
the provision of health care.

CLiNiCAL PATHWAYS 
Systematic approach to achieving particular outcomes for an 
inpatient, which identifies the resources required in amount 
and sequence for that type of case.

CLiNiCAL iNDiCATOR 
A measure of the clinical management and outcome of care. 
It is an objective measure of either the process or outcome of 
patient care in quantitative terms.

CLiNiCAL NURSE CONSULTANT (CNC) 
A registered nurse who has achieved higher level qualifications, 
skills, and competencies in a community nursing speciality field 
such as gerontology, palliative care or diabetes management.

COMMUNiCABLE DiSEASES 
A disease which may be passed or carried from one person to 
another directly or indirectly.  

CRiTiCAL CARE 
The part of an acute care hospital staffed and equipped to 
care for patients who are seriously ill.

DiAGNOSiS RELATED GROUPS (DRGs) 
The best known casemix system. It is designed to classify every 
acute inpatient episode from admission to discharge into one 
of approximately 400 coding classes. Each group contains 
only patients who have similar clinical conditions and 
treatment costs.

DoCS 
The Department of Community Services.

EDiS 
Emergency Department Information System.

EN 
Enrolled nurse.

FOi 
Freedom of information. 

FTE 
Full Time Equivalent.
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GMTT 
Greater Metropolitan Transition Taskforce. 

HACC 
Home and Community Care. 

iM&T 
Information Management and Technology.

iNPATiENT 
A person admitted to hospital.

MEDiCAL OFFiCER  
Doctors who work in the public and/or private sector at a senior 
level but do not hold a specialist or specialist training position.

MEDiCAL SPECiALiST 
Doctors who have extra qualifications in one or more  
clinical areas of practice. Some examples of specialists are 
gynaecologists, ophthalmologists and neurosurgeons.

NSCCH 
Northern Sydney Central Coast Health.

NON-ADMiTTED PATiENTS OCCASiONS OF SERViCE 
(NAPOOS) 
Services provided by a health service facility to clients/patients 
who receive those services without being an admitted client/
patient at the time of receiving the services eg. Outpatient 
Department Services, Emergency Department Services, 
Community Health Services.

NUMERiCAL PROFiLE 
A safety audit tool developed for use in health services.

NURSiNG HOME TYPE PATiENTS 
Admitted patients of general hospitals who have been 
accommodated in one or more hospitals for more than 35 days 
without a break exceeding seven days and no longer require 
acute care.

OFF-STRETCHER TiMES 
The length of time between when a patient arrives at the 
Emergency Department by ambulance and when their care is 
transferred to a NSCCH Clinician.

PAS 
Patient Administration System.

PATiENT FLOW 
The way a patient moves through the hospital from admission, 
into care and then discharge.

PROCUREMENT FEASiBiLiTY PLAN 
A plan that identifies the most realistic way of providing 
quality health services to the community including a detailed 
review of alternatives. A PFP also examines the costs and 
benefits of the preferred solution.

PRiNCiPAL REFERRAL HOSPiTAL 
An acute hospital treating 25,000 or more acute casemix 
weighted separations per annum.

QUALiTY iMPROVEMENT 
An improvement in the way we do things that results in 
better treatment, better outcomes, lower costs and reduced 
time in hospital.

QUALiTY iNDiCATOR 
A measure of performance that reflects how well a process is 
delivering a service to a customer and meeting their needs.

REGiSTRAR 
A doctor working under the supervision of a consultant. 
Registrars are usually doctors undertaking accredited specialist 
training programs.

RN 
Registered nurse.

TRiAGE 
A French word meaning ‘to sort out.’ The Triage System used 
in NSW hospitals' Emergency Departments means patients are 
seen according to the urgency with which treatment is 
required – in other words ‘sickest seen first”. 

VMO 
Visiting Medical Officer.

WAiTiNG TiME 
The waiting time is the amount of time (reported in days, 
weeks, months) that a patient has waited for admission to 
hospital. It is measured from the day the hospital receives  
a Recommendation for Admission form for the patient until  
the patient is admitted. People waiting for planned 
(elective) procedures.
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